
 
 

TRANSPORT & INFRASTRUCTURE SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
MEETING TO BE HELD AT 10.00 AM ON THURSDAY, 9 MARCH 2023 

IN CONFERENCE ROOM 1/2, WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 
WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS, LS1 2DE 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Please note that this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast 
via the Combined Authority’s internet site.  At the start of the meeting the 

Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being filmed.  Generally, the 
public seating areas will not be filmed; however, by entering the meeting room 
and using the public seating area, you are consenting to being filmed and to 

the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting.  If you 
have any queries regarding this, please contact Governance Services on  

0113 251 7220. 
  
1.  1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

To note apologies for absence and confirm the quorum of 11 members is 
met.  

  
2.  DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
  
3.  POSSIBLE EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
  
4.  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 19 JANUARY 

2023 
 (Pages 1 - 6) 
  
5.  CHAIR'S COMMENTS AND UPDATE 
  
6.  TRANSPORT AND PLANNING 
 (Pages 7 - 12) 
  
7.  TRANSPORT CONSULTATIONS & EDI 
 (Pages 13 - 132) 
  
8.  FREIGHT: RAIL AND WATERWAYS 
 (Pages 133 - 138) 



  
9.  AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 (Pages 139 - 144) 
  
10.  TRANSPORT SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 
 (Pages 145 - 154) 
 

 
  

Signed:

Managing Director
West Yorkshire Combined Authority



 
      

 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE TRANSPORT & 

INFRASTRUCTURE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD ON THURSDAY 19 
JANUARY 2023 IN CONFERENCE ROOMS 1/2, WELLINGTON HOUSE, 

40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS, LS1 2DE 
 
 
Present: 
 
Councillor Anna Watson City of Braford Council 
Councillor Caroline Firth City of Bradford Council 
Councillor Amanda Parsons-Hulse (Chair) Calderdale Council 
Councillor Dot Foster Calderdale Council 
Councillor Harry McCarthy Kirklees Council 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock  Kirklees Council 
Councillor Kayleigh Brooks Leeds City Council 
Councillor Jessica Lennox Leeds City Council 
Councillor Stan Bates Wakefield Council  
Councillor Jackie Ferguson Wakefield Council 
Councillor Ian Cuthbertson City of York Council  

 
In attendance: 
 
Mayor Tracy Brabin West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Noel Collings West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Dave Haskins West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Rachel Jones West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Dave Pearson West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Hannah Scales West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

 
1.  Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Joanne Dodds, Tina 
Benton, Mark Thompson, Robert Finnigan and Tony Hames.  
 
The meeting was confirmed as quorate, with 11 members present out of 11 
needed for quorum.  

  
2.   Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

 
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests. 

  
3.   Possible exclusion of the press and public 

 
There were no items requiring the exclusion of the press and public. 

 
4.   Minutes of the meeting held on 17 November 2022 

 
Resolved:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 17 November 2022 be 
approved. 

1

Agenda Item 4



 
 
 
5.  Chair’s comments and update 

 
The Committee received a verbal update from the Chair where the Chair 
welcomed the Mayor and reminded members of the pre-agreed topics and set 
out the structure of the meeting.  
 
Resolved:  That the Chair’s verbal update be noted. 

 
6.   Mayor’s Question Time 

 
The Chair thanked the Mayor Tracy Brabin and officers for attending 
Transport Scrutiny to answer the Committee’s questions. Officers present to 
support the Mayor included the Director of Transport Operations & Customer 
Experience, Director of Transport Delivery & Policy, the Head of Transport 
Policy, and Head of Energy and Environment Policy.  
 
The session was split into topic areas and members would be able to ask any 
questions under those topic areas, and any follow ups. The topic areas were 
Buses, Rail, Mass Transit, Net Zero & Decarbonisation, and Active Travel. 
 
Buses 

• The Mayor felt she had done everything in her power to support and 
work with bus companies and services. Bus companies have been 
supported with Combined Authority money during the pandemic and 
since, the Mayor ran a bus driver recruitment and training programme 
alongside operators for 1000 new bus drivers, and future shift proofing.  

• Despite this, when the government provided extra funding to 
companies, after mayoral lobbying, they still withdrew and cut down on 
routes. The main problem in her view is that bus services are ran for 
profit and will always focus on that, rather than prioritise socially 
necessary routes, some of which the CA subsidise.  

• Bus franchising may be a solution long term, with a goal of having a 
London-style bus service every 15 minutes for the whole region, but 
moving towards franchising requires following a very long and 
expensive statutory process. WYCA intends to make a decision on 
progressing this before the 2024 elections. The Mayor has lobbied the 
government to try to shorten the timescale and difficulty. Greater 
Manchester is still processing the move to bus franchising 5 years later.  

• The importance of accessibility was emphasised while situations where 
wheelchair users being set behind pushchairs on buses are still 
common. The Mayor’s ‘big bus chat’ had provided a useful forum as 
well as ‘Message the Mayor’ on BBC Radio Leeds and led to some 
changes such as adjusting speakers at bus stops for the hearing 
impaired and ensuring better training for both drivers and passengers 
on using these services.  

• There was tension between talking about the failings of the bus 
services and encouraging more people to use the system, as it is a 
challenge to persuade people to use a ‘broken system’. Services are 
back at 80% pre-covid levels, the ‘Mayor’s Fares’ scheme pushed it to 

2



 

84% and 100% for young people. Frustration was expressed at bus 
companies increasing cheaper fares of £1.80 to £2 following the 
‘Mayor’s Fares’ scheme for more profit.  

• There had been some improvements in the Real Time Information 
system, but several elements still needed work such as ensuring the 
correct information is submitted by bus operators as frequently as 
needed, to avoid the phenomenon of ‘ghost buses’, and to work around 
infrastructure schemes which have disrupted some roads and areas. 
Work was underway through the Enhanced Partnership to improve 
this.  

 
Rail, Waterways & Freight 

• The cancellation of HS2 had impacted the entire region and the Mayor 
hoped that despite the disappointment with HS2, the door had not 
closed on NPR and a through-station in Bradford could be realised in 
some way. Labour committed to NPR in full for which the Mayor vowed 
to hold them to account if they are elected. NPR would unlock £30bn 
worth of economic growth in the region and cannot be discounted.  

• The Mayor described TransPennine Express (TPE) as not fit for 
purpose, her local service was 20-30% cancellations compared to the 
average 5%, and felt that these TPE cancellations were holding back 
West Yorkshire, £2m a week worth of losses, and ruining commuters 
lives by losing them jobs, missing funerals etc. Unlike in London, 
people don’t have an alternative when the service is cancelled, except 
for very expensive taxi journeys. Despite this, TPE bosses still receive 
bonuses.  

• The Mayor considers rail freight to be a very good way to better support 
the region’s businesses, and carbon targets, but there is a capacity 
issue as freight trains currently have to share the same tracks as faster 
trains, leading to them slowing each other down. The country, and 
region’s, waterways were highlighted as a possible asset in terms of 
freight, East-to-West trade and taking HGVs off the roads. A recent 
project for an inland port in Leeds was cancelled as it ran out of funding 
and the scope of the scheme had changed from a port to a batching 
facility for commercial reasons. The Committee asked for a report on 
freight and the waterways/port.  

• The Mayor discussed the importance of guards on trains, and how 
helpful speaking to train staff was whilst using the service had been 
and agreed with the concerns that they may be taken out of service. 
The seeming lack of health and safety audits done by the companies 
with regards to overcrowding, children, and suitcases might lead to 
problems down the road.  

 
Mass Transit 

• Leeds is one of few major cities, and West Yorkshire is the biggest 
metro-region, in the world without a mass transit system. Historically, 
previous efforts such as the ‘SuperTram’ did not succeed. There 
appears to be a strong political will to proceed this time, and funding 
had been secured. The CA had recruited an interim Mass Transit 

3



 

Programme Director who worked on the tram in Edinburgh and his 
department would expand accordingly as time progressed.  

• Building mass transit will be an exceptionally lengthy process, and will 
take the better part of a decade, with an estimated start date of 2028. 
It will require long-term government backing, and the Mayor sought 
assurances from both major parties that they would continue to support 
the scheme. The process is partly long because of the number of 
corridors that have to be considered, and the possible effect on local 
areas, and ensuring that the plans have public support for the changes 
to their communities.  

• The CA was working at pace, to go through the process, which was in 
the very early stages, the comprehensive consultation process, to 
ensure nothing is missed and full scrutiny of the process is possible. 
The consultation on the main vision had just been completed. The 
Outline Business Case Model was expected by Winter 2023 and 
Spring 2024.  

• Mass Transit would be an opportunity to connect communities with no 
connections currently. It would not exist on its own, but would be 
directly linked to a future, franchised bus network, and different modes 
of travel including walking and cycling, as part of a region wide green 
transport network. The next step of the consultation process would be 
to consider possible routes and connections, drawing on lessons 
learned from other exercises such as ‘Mayors Big Bus Chat’.  

• One of the main reasons for mass transit was to have a clean and 
green transport system. There was a challenge in that construction 
would emit carbon, even if the final product would create lower 
emissions in the long term. There had been a global engagement 
exercise with suppliers to feed in ideas on how to reduce and take into 
account ‘Scope 3’ emissions during construction. This is also 
considered across the rest of the CA’s schemes as carbon emissions 
are increasingly important.  

 
Decarbonisation and Carbon Emissions 

• Concerns were raised at the previous scrutiny committee meeting in 
November that too many of the CA’s infrastructure schemes do not 
make any or enough of an impact in reducing carbon emissions long 
term, in particular road building schemes. The Mayor stated that bus 
routes require road building, and we need to get people on buses long 
term if carbon ambitions are to be reached. There is a challenge in that 
carbon emissions are produced by trying to shift to lower carbon 
alternatives e.g., road building, construction and scrapping cars.  

• The analysis of carbon emissions from transport schemes is very 
complex because of the knock-on effects across the system and 
connecting areas, which effect officers’ ability to monitor how well the 
CA is achieving. The Transport Committee received carbon impact 
assessed schemes during decision-making, and work is underway to 
support the conclusions of the recent pathways work to improve the 
evidence base and how the CA understands carbon emissions to 
better support decision making and monitoring in future.  

4



 

• The Mayor felt a lot more could be done to ensure West Yorkshire was 
on track to deliver carbon neutrality, which is why she was eager to 
progress key policy areas such as infrastructure and bus services to 
support modal shift. She felt there had been success in other non-
transport areas, such as creating over 1000 green jobs for young 
people, through the green jobs task force, millions continuing to 
support businesses in ‘greening’ their processes and lowering their 
emissions, tens of millions in retrofitting houses. Every area of the 
Mayor and CA’s responsibility now had a climate emergency focus 
across all areas, including skills and housing.  

• Modal shift was key to lowering carbon emissions long term. There 
were some lesser-known modal shifts which could be considered 
further such as cars-to-motorcycles, in addition to the more common 
ones in cycling and walking which the CA has invested in, such as the 
£2 million into the Leeds City Bike scheme, soon to be seen across the 
West Yorkshire.  

 
Active Travel: Cycling and Walking 

• The Mayor conveyed her condolences to the family of a young woman 
and child who were killed recently in a tragic road accident on Scott 
Hall Road in Leeds. Even one road death was too many.  

• The Mayor launched low traffic neighbourhoods and a ‘walk to school’ 
programme encouraging parents and children to walk to nursery and 
school. The Mayor emphasised the importance that roads are safe for 
these families to do so confidently. The safety of cyclists was also 
emphasised, the Mayor felt cycle lanes with a raised divide were more 
helpful. The Deputy Mayor for Policing, Alison Lowe, was leading on 
road safety called ‘Vision Zero’ to ensure that active travel modes are 
safe for all to use. Many people had not yet come to terms with the 
adapted highway code which puts walkers and cyclists above cars.  

• Concerns were raised about the protection of cyclists during ongoing 
road works which disrupt cycle pathways. On one road in Calderdale 
the only safety measure was a simple sign asking people not to 
overtake cyclists. Since the bus service is low quality, more people 
used cars instead of risking cycling. The CA would look further into the 
issue of the effects of temporary works on existing active travel 
infrastructure.  

• There was a preference for raised separation between road and cycle 
paths and a lot of work had already been delivered as part of the active 
travel agenda, with over 33km of segregated cycle ways and 45km of 
upgraded towpaths and 35km of greenway, 37 walk to school schemes 
delivered with 20 more on the way and there was more in the pipeline, 
with additional active travel funding recently secured to develop more. 

• There was a place for transport links in planning and development 
schemes. There were many planning developments which did not take 
into account transport infrastructure, especially active travel. The 
Mayor considered the definition of sustainable (and affordable) 
housing, in her 5,000 homes target, as including transport links such 
as bus stops and routes, reduction in car parking, and other 
infrastructure as key components. Transport links were constantly 

5



 

promoted to developers to ensure that they are considered for future 
communities being built.  
 

Resolved:  
 

i) That the Mayor, Director of Transport Operations, Director of 
Trasnport Policy & Delivery, Head of Energy & Environment Policy, 
and Head of Transport Policy be thanked for attending, and the 
Committee’s feedback and conclusions be considered further. 

 
ii) That a report on freight, waterways and the Leeds Inland Port 

scheme be provided to the committee.  
 
7.  Work Programme  

 
The Committee discussed the Work programme for the remainder of the 
2022/23 municipal year. The Committee confirmed the agenda for the last 
committee meeting of the year, on 9 March, would focus on transport 
consultations, transport in planning, affordable housing, and 
freight/waterways/inland port. The Committee also discussed and agreed a 
workshop, to be held on 16 February, to focus on decarbonisation, behaviour 
change, active travel, and modal shift. 
 
Resolved:  That the appended 2022/23 Work Programme be amended to 
include the agreed changes to the agenda of the 9 March 2023 committee 
meeting and 16 February 2023 workshop.  

 
8.  Next meeting date – 9 March 2023 

 

6



 
 

Report to: Transport and Infrastructure Scrutiny Committee 

Date:   9 March 2023 

Subject:   Transport & Planning 

Director: Liz Hunter, Director of Policing, Environment and Place 

Author: Hannah Andrew, Policy Manager, Spatial Planning and Strategic 
Sites 

 
 
1. Purpose of this Report 
 
1.1. Scrutiny Committee has asked for a paper outlining the role of the Combined 

Authority in planning. This paper has been written in response and provides: 
 

• An overview of what the Combined Authority does in planning 
• Our role as a non-statutory consultee in responding to Planning 

Applications and planning policy 
• The position with regard to Spatial Planning Powers. 

 
2. Information 
 

Combined Authority Role in Planning 
 
2.1 The West Yorkshire Combined Authority is not a Planning Authority and 

currently has no powers relating to spatial planning. However, the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority supports Local Authorities on strategic planning 
matters.  

 
2.2 As a partnership we have mature arrangements in place to address strategic, 

cross boundary issues on plan-making and development management. These 
are set out in the Planning Review Recommendations (2021), our Statement 
of Common Ground (2020) and Developer Advice Note (2022). 

 
2.3 Aligned to the Combined Authorities Vision and Mission and Mayoral Pledges, 

alongside our role as Transport Authority for Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees, 
Leeds and Wakefield, we offer advice to the five planning authorities on the 
best way to improve land use / transport integration through forward plans and 
development proposals and respond to National Government consultations 
where they relate spatially to climate, transport and planning.  

 
 

7

Agenda Item 6

https://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s21862/Item%207%20-%20Appendix%201.pdf
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/5387/lcr-statement-of-common-ground-march-2020-final-1.pdf
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/5387/lcr-statement-of-common-ground-march-2020-final-1.pdf
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/61cd12bce9b9494283ffd29dad02c62d


2.4 Planning activity by the Combined Authority in 2022/2023 has included:  
 

• Developing a response to the current consultation on amendments to the 
Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill - Reforms to National Planning Policy, 
including updates to the National Planning Policy Framework – which have 
implications for the Combined Authority and our Local Authority Partners. 

• Responding to circa 90 planning application between January 2022 and 
January 2023 with the potential to secure £3.6 million in income through 
planning gain for delivery of transport infrastructure. 

• Reviewing the Spatial Priority Areas (SPAs) resulting in two new locations 
in Huddersfield and Halifax, alongside an amendment to the boundary of an 
existing SPA in Wakefield. Our SPAs are the largest and or most strategic 
growth opportunities within West Yorkshire providing a spatial approach to 
coordinated infrastructure investment. 

• Responding to Leeds City Council’s planning policy consultations: Transport 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), Innovation Arc SPD and a Local 
Plan Update focussed upon climate emergency issues. 

• Maintaining the Place Narrative document. It provides a single narrative, 
and a consistent but flexible evidence base to underpin our plans and 
strategies, and those of our partners. It includes evidence on our spatial 
challenges and details of our infrastructure investment plans. 

• Coordinating a West Yorkshire response to the Investment Zones 
Expression of Interest in 2022 and currently working with Local Authority 
Partners and Government departments to influence and shape any future 
amended Investment Zones approach. 

• Undertaking business case development for two programmes of work: 
identifying a pipeline of employment sites and developing delivery models 
for SPAs. These will support in securing employment investment in the 
region and deliver spatially driven investment across themes in the SPAs.  

• Providing planning support to the Mass Transit Team in developing the 
planning strategy for this project and coordinating Local Planning Authority 
involvement.  

 
Role as a Non-Statutory Consultee  

 
2.5 The Combined Authority is a non-statutory consultee which means that Local 

Planning Authorities are not required to consult the Combined Authority by 
law. However, as a non-statutory consultee there are planning policy reasons 
to consult with the Combined Authority across various themes including 
economic development, transport and the climate emergency.  

 
2.6 The Combined Authority provide consultation responses to Local Plan 

 documents and Strategic Planning Applications based on the alignment with 
 the Strategic Economic Framework (SEF) (e.g. alignment with Spatial Priority 
 Areas) and the West Yorkshire Transport Strategy in addition to the West 
 Yorkshire Combined Authority, the LEP and the Mayor’s investments or policy 
 positions.   

 

8

https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/3625921e0da445d49f21249781c52edc


2.7 We generally will not object to development proposals or local plan documents 
 unless they directly affect our operations and seek to work with planning 
 authorities and developers to achieve agreed objectives. 

 
Planning Applications 

 
2.8 Through our responses to planning applications we seek to secure developer 

 funds towards transport infrastructure, ranging from funding for new or 
 extended services to provision of bus stops and real time information, as well 
 as increasing public transport patronage through securing funding for 
 residential MCard schemes. Our responses are proportionate to the scale of 
 development proposed. 

 
2.9 As an example, we have responded to the following strategically significant 
 planning applications: 

 
1. Kirklees – 2021/49/93698/E - Hybrid application for full planning 

permission for engineering works, drainage and utilities connection for 
the provision of site access from Forge Lane and Ravensthorpe Road 
and associated works; and for outline permission for erection of 
residential development and mixed use development (including 
community facilities) with associated works including the provision of 
internal estate roads and parking, landscape works (including provision 
of public open space, tree clearance/replacement/woodland 
management and ecological management) and sustainable urban 
drainage works drainage principles. 
 
Summary of Response: Significant transport interventions requested, 
including bus service enhancement, bus infrastructure and ticketing 
incentives. 

 
2. Wakefield - Construction of a warehouse and distribution centre (Class 

B8) with ancillary office accommodation, parking areas, landscaping, 
internal roads, gatehouse, bridge link, roof mounted photovoltaic array, 
attenuation pond, external lighting, decanting building and other 
ancillary elements.  
 
Summary of Response: Major warehousing development – discussion 
ongoing with the end user (Next) to establish / develop a sustainable 
transport proposal. 

 
3. Leeds - Hybrid planning application for a phased development; full 

permission for demolition of existing buildings and structures, site 
remediation, regrading and preparatory works, erection of four 
residential buildings (use class C3), townhouses (use class C3 ) and 
student accommodation (sui generis) with ground floor and other uses 
comprising any or all of retail, commercial, community, health, cultural 
and leisure (use classes E, F1 and/or F2) and associated means of 
access, parking, landscaping, associated infrastructure works and 
construction of a new river wall and bridge crossing; outline permission, 

9



to be implemented in phases, for mixed use development comprising 
residential use (use class C3); and other uses including all or some of 
the following: retail, leisure, commercial, health, cultural and community 
uses (use classes E, F1 and / or F2); car parking, new public spaces; 
hard and soft landscaping; cycle parking; access; servicing; and other 
associated infrastructure and engineering works. 
 
Summary of response: Significant mixed-use development within the 
extended city centre SPA. As it is in a sustainable location, we 
supported the council in the application of the sustainable travel fund. 

 
4. TransPennine Route Upgrade (TRU) - TRU is the biggest rail 

investment programme the region receives in the coming few years. 
The programme involves improvement works beyond the rail boundary 
which require Transport and Work Act Order (TWAO) to authorise the 
construction and operation of new transport infrastructure projects.  We 
have responded to the TWAOs in relation to Huddersfield- Westtown 
and east of Leeds.  

 
Local Planning Policy 

 
2.10 Through our responses to local planning policy consultations undertaken by 

 West Yorkshire Local Authorities we seek to ensure alignment with the 
Strategic Economic Framework (SEF) and the WY Transport Strategy, with a 
focus upon transport and economic development matters. 

 
2.11 As an example, in December 2022 we responded to Leeds City Council’s 

 Innovation Arc SPD Consultation, which sought views from stakeholders on 
 the ambition, vision and objectives for the Innovation Arc area, to the west  
 side of Leeds City Centre. The Combined Authority response identified to what 
 extent the SPD aligned with the SEF’s Priorities to boost productivity, enable 
 inclusive growth, tackle the climate emergency and deliver 21st Century 
 transport. The response confirmed the SPD’s alignment with the SEF and WY 
 Transport Strategy, but also identified specific elements that could be 
 improved such as the approach to Mass Transit, a greater recognition of 
 modal integration such as at Leeds Central Station, and reference to the Core 
 City SPA status provided to the City Centre which identifies it as area of 
 regional significance. 

 
Employment Land Accelerator and SPA Programmes 
 

2.12 The Spatial Planning Team are currently seeking to secure revenue funding to 
develop the following two work programmes. 
 

2.13 Firstly, we are developing an Employment Accelerator Fund and secure 
revenue funding to create a West Yorkshire wide pipeline of employment sites. 
Similar to the housing revenue funding the development of a revenue fund 
applied to employment sites will allow direct support to Local Authorities to 
add much needed resource and capacity to develop and unlock their pipeline 

10



sites. The funding could be used to ascertain constraints and testing viability 
or barriers to investment. 
 

2.14 Secondly, we are exploring developing delivery models for a focused set of 
Spatial Priority Areas (SPAs) across West Yorkshire. The SPAs have been 
agreed with the District Partners as the largest and / or most strategic growth 
opportunities in West Yorkshire. They are of regional significance, and some 
are cross-boundary locations. Whilst the SPAs have provided a focus for 
various pipeline / programme activities, there has been no targeted, holistic 
approach to delivery across the SPAs to date. By developing bespoke delivery 
models there is an opportunity to support development across the SPA area(s) 
that will create jobs, attract inward investment and build high quality, 
accessible and sustainable developments. It is anticipated we will need to 
utilise a suite of tools including potential Mayoral Development Corporations 
(MDCs). MDC’s bring together devolved powers and funding, including 
compulsory purchase - allowing land to be acquired for development or to be 
held – funding feasibility or site preparation works to unlock development, 
alongside facilitating the provision of infrastructure, support business creation 
and provide subsidies / financial assistance. 
 

2.15 The emerging Investment Zones proposal, currently being developed by 
Government, links into the SPAs. These are likely to be focused on 
geographic areas with an innovation cluster and link to Higher Education 
Institutions; an approach which pulls in potentially three of our existing SPAs 
as potential IZ locations. It is unclear at this stage what the IZ programme will 
offer but previous similar schemes have allocated areas for targeted tax and 
regulatory rules intended to drive investment. 
 
Spatial Planning Powers  

 
2.16 Planning powers were included in the ‘minded to’ West Yorkshire devolution 

deal but due to the national reforms to the planning system these were not 
carried forward in the devolution Order. A letter from the Minister for Regional 
Growth and Local Government proposed that these powers (or equivalent) will 
be conferred ‘when the position is clearer’. The functions not taken forward 
related to a Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) and a Strategic Infrastructure 
Tariff (SIT). 

 
3.  Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications 
 
3.1. Our role in planning seeks to address climate emergency implications through 

securing investment in transport infrastructure via development proposals and 
planning gain and supporting sustainable development. In addition, through 
responding to consultations on emerging national and local planning policy we 
lobby for increased emphasis on sustainable development, sustainable 
transport access and provision of renewable energy.  

 
4. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 

11



4.1. Ensuring inclusive growth is achieved through planning policy and new 
development proposal is integral to our consultee responses. In addition, 
inclusive growth is a key objective of the current development activity relating 
to Employment Land and SPA Delivery Models. 

 
5. Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
5.1. The Place Narrative sets out that people are the heart of our places, the 

region has 3.1 million residents. Inclusive Growth is a key regional priority, this 
means enabling as many people as possible to contribute to, and benefit from, 
economic growth. Economic inequality can be more pronounced among 
minority groups and leaves those experiencing at increased disadvantage, 
exposed to risks such a poor health or the effects of climate change. The 
inclusive growth agenda seeks to address this, including through the planning 
work referenced in this report.   

 
6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1. There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 
 
7. Legal Implications 
 
7.1. There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 
8. Staffing Implications 
 
8.1. There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. 
 
9. External Consultees 
 
9.1. No external consultations have been undertaken. 
 
10. Recommendations 
 
10.1. That the Committee notes the report and provides any comments. 
 
11. Background Documents 
 

None.  
 
12. Appendices 
 

None.  
 

 

12



 
 

Report to: Transport and Infrastructure Scrutiny Committee 

Date:   9 March 2023 

Subject:   Transport Consultations and EDI 

Director: Dave Haskins, Transport Policy and Delivery (Interim) 

Author: Kirsty Atkinson, Senior Consultation and Engagement Officer  

 
 
1. Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 To provide Committee Members with an update regarding “Equality, Diversity 

& Inclusion” (EDI) progress within consultation and engagement. 
 
2. Information 
 

What data do we collect?  
 
2.1 Data is collected via the following methods: 

• YourVoice: YourVoice is the West Yorkshire Combined Authority's online 
engagement hub. The hub hosts several interactive tools, including surveys, 
questions and answers (Q&As), quick polls, chat rooms and interactive maps. 
Anyone can register to follow areas of interest and to be kept informed of future 
developments. The registration process captures personal details, including 
names and contact details, together with optional EDI information. There are 
currently 2657 people registered. In the past year, the Communities, 
Consultation & Engagement (CC&E) team used YourVoice to: 

o Launch 47 consultations on Your Voice  
o Analyse around 20,000 survey responses, emails, letters and Q&As 
o Engage with hundreds of people via online webinars 
o And in that time, 142,000 people logged on as visitors to YourVoice  

 
• Face to Face ‘drop in’ events: Drop in events provide the public the 

opportunity to find out more about the schemes and ask questions directly to 
the project team. Attendees are encouraged to register to YourVoice, or can 
leave their contact information with a member of the consultation team to stay 
informed via email updates or other methods. Most attendees do not have time 
to complete a full survey at the event, so paper copies are available to take 

13

Agenda Item 7



home and return via FREEPOST. The CC&E team engaged with around 5,000 
people at public drop-in events in the last year.  
 

• Online and Paper Surveys: The CC&E team support people to take part by 
offering versions of materials in different formats, including Easy Read, large 
print, language translations, and phone calls to provide information. Online 
surveys offer the option to register to YourVoice and paper surveys offer the 
option to add personal contact information (name, email, address or phone 
number) in order to keep informed about the schemes. 
 

• EDI questions: Optional EDI questions, for use in surveys, have been 
developed via a participative process involving the Combined Authority’s EDI 
staff representative group and approved by directors. These questions are 
asked to ensure our work reflects the diverse communities we serve, and helps 
us meet our responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector 
Equality Duty. Questions asked include: 
 

o What is your post code? 
o What is your sex? 
o Is the gender you identify with the same as your sex registered at birth? 
o How old are you? 
o What is your ethnic group? 
o Do you have any physical or mental health conditions or illnesses lasting 

or expected to last 12 months or more? 
o How would you describe your sexual orientation? 
o What is your religion or belief? 

 

The Combined Authority’s approach to EDI, and further information on why we 
ask the ‘About you’ questions, can be viewed on the organisation’s website and 
via this link: Our team EDI approach is now online on the CA website.  

• Equality Impact Assessments (EqIAs) The CC&E team support project teams 
to complete EqIAs for each scheme, to analyse and understand how our 
proposals, policies and decisions may affect people in our communities who 
use our services. EqIAs also help inform the consultation planning process and 
subsequent programme of engagement activity. An EqIA should: 

o identify any negative equality impact on any protected characteristic 
group and plan to eliminate or mitigate this impact as far as possible  

o consider how to support advancement of equality and promotion of good 
relations between different groups with protected characteristics 

How EDI data is used 
 
2.2  EDI data is being used to support our work with protected characteristic groups: 

• Analyse how consultation opinions and issues vary for different groups 
• Help inform and embed project EqIAs 
• Identify gaps in response rates from protected characteristic groups 

14

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/consultation-and-engagement/equality-diversity-and-inclusion/


• Find the best ways to consult with those most impacted by our proposals 
• Target promotions to achieve wider reach and depth in consultations  
• Inform individuals as schemes progress through assurance and beyond 

 
“Your Voice” Profile 

 
2.21 Some demographic groups are less likely to register than others. The Your 

Voice registration profile is underrepresented for female, BME, and younger 
age groups, although reflects greater diversity in age range and disability 
status. By increasing registrations, we can promote our plans to more people, 
in turn increasing response rates and gathering more meaningful feedback.  
 

• We are actively promoting YourVoice to under-represented groups and recent 
new users show more diversity (more younger, and more female people) 

• Recent promotion of YourVoice has included: 
o Social media posts and polls, a promotional video  
o Internal promotion in colleague weekly emails  
o Contacting 500+ community group stakeholders  
o Credit card sized flyers – for face to face events  
o Advertising in newsletters (e.g. LEP newsletter and Metro newsletter)  
o Real time messages displayed at bus stops  
o Updated the Combined Authority’s website Consultation page to 

include more information about Your Voice and how to register 
o Updated the YourVoice site to explain more clearly what it is, how to 

feedback problems and added a clearer reporting page  
 
Accompanying this report are two appendices regarding Halifax Bus Station as a 
case study of recent EDI work in consultation and engagement.   
 
 
3.  Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications 
 
3.1 There are no climate emergency implications directly arising from this report. 
 
4. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
4.1 There are no inclusive growth implications directly arising from this report. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 
7. Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. 
 

15



8. External Consultees 
 
8.1 No external consultations have been undertaken. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 That the Committee notes the report and provides any feedback and 

comments.  
 
10. Background Documents 
 

None. 
 
11. Appendices 
 

Appendix 1: Halifax Bus Station Case Study Summary 
 
Appendix 2: Statement of Community Involvement report 

16



 

1 
 

Appendix A 
Case Study- Halifax Bus Station 
The Scheme 
 
Calderdale, in partnership with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, aim to 
deliver a modern fit for purpose facility that complements the surrounding heritage, 
public realm and urban fabric of Halifax town centre. Built on the same site as the 
existing bus station, the redevelopment will significantly improve safety, comfort, 
connectivity and accessibility for bus station users and local people.  

The redeveloped bus station will be an important transport hub and gateway into 
Halifax town centre, providing key connections for residents, visitors, students and 
workers to access employment, education, leisure and other essential services.  

 
Engagement and Consultation Overview   
 
Constructive engagement with technical and community stakeholders has been 
crucial to informing the development of the proposals. Engagement commenced in 
early 2018 and has included meetings and workshops, including with bus operators, 
statutory bodies, officers and councillors from local authorities, accessibility groups 
and local businesses.  

A public consultation ran from Monday 13 January to Wednesday 12 February 2020. 
The consultation included online engagement and four public events followed by a 
library exhibition.  
 
Public Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement 
 
Stakeholder engagement commenced in early 2018 and has continued throughout 
the outline and detailed design stages to the submission of the planning application. 
This engagement has taken various forms including:  
 

• workshops;  
• meetings; and  
• email correspondence  

 
Along with the project team and with support from our consultation and engagement 
team, we engaged with local disabled people and groups that represent them from 
the early stages of the scheme and continue to do so as building works and the 
scheme progresses. 
 
This has ensured that people with a range of impairments and conditions have had 
early and ongoing input to the design of the scheme, ensuring that important design 
features and decisions reflect the needs of disabled people.  
As a result we are building in accessibility features including:  

17

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

2 
 

• A changing places toilet   
• Colour contrasted and textured floor wayfinding guidelines   
• Audio and tactile information at bus stands   
• And we are installing hearing loops in the travel centre   
 

We have also prioritised working with these same groups to minimise the disruption 
to passengers when the bus station closed for demolition and the majority of bus 
services moved to the town centre. This included colleagues from the project team 
providing face to face support in the bus station and town centre to help customers 
navigate the changes, as well as a coordinated approach to communications and 
information, including information in accessible formats such as easy read and 
audio, as well as some new real time information in the town centre.   
 
We were able to listen and respond to accessibility challenges – including trialling an 
innovative approach to solve an accessibility issue for wheelchair users at a town 
centre stop. 
 
This project has been a great example of how we’ve used engagement and an 
inclusive approach in the design and delivery of a scheme, and it’s an approach that 
can be taken across all of our transport investment and change in the coming years.  
 
 
We have also completed accessibility workshops/focus groups ahead of the public 
engagement activities in late 2019/early 2020 which informed the scheme design 
and key features; one to one Q&A sessions in person with key EDI groups such as 
with the Deaf Association where we commissioned a BSL interpreter to relay 
information; and virtual meetings for the bus disruption planning during the different 
construction phases of the project.    
 
An example of stakeholder workshop attendees is provided below: 
 
Workshop Meeting Attendees 
Accessibility  • ACDAF and Accessible Calderdale Project  

• Age UK Calderdale and Kirklees  
• Calderdale Forum 50 Plus  
• CMBC: Sensory Impairment Team, Independent Travel 

Trainers, Gateway to Care (Occupational Therapist)  
• Calderdale self-advocacy network - Lead the Way  
• Community Transport Calderdale  
• Disability Partnership Calderdale  
• Guide Dogs  
• Halifax Society for the Blind  
• Kirklees Visual Impairment Network  
• RNIB  

 
Stakeholder • Arriva/Yorkshire Tiger  

• Calderdale and Kirklees NHS Hospital Trust  
• CMBC: Conservation, Markets, Regeneration, Voice and 

Influence 

18



 

3 
 

• Historic England  
• Industrial Museum  
• National Express  
• O and C Property Management Services  
• T J Walsh  
• The Piece Hall  
• West Yorkshire Police  
• Woolshops  

 
 

 
A detailed Statement of Community Involvement report which provides detail on all 
of the consultation and engagement which the team have done on the Halifax Bus 
Station project up to the date of publication (April 2020) can be found in appendix B.  
 
 
 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 1 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

 

Halifax Bus Station 
Redevelopment 

Statement of Community Involvement  
 
 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
 
 
 

 

April 2020 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 DRAFT  

 

 

 

 

 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   

21

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 2 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Quality information 

Prepared by  Checked by  Verified by  Approved by 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tabitha McNulty-Skead 

Graduate Consultant 

 Roseanna Stoppard 

Consultant 

 Joanna van der Veen 

Principal Consultant 

 Tom Parrish 

Technical Director 

       

 

Revision History 

Revision Revision date Details Authorized Name Position 

1 01/04/2020 Complete 

document issued to 

WYCA 

Joanna van der 

Veen 

Joanna van der 

Veen 

Principal 

Consultant 

      

      

      

 

 

 

  

22



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 3 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

Prepared for: 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

 

 

Prepared by: 

Tabitha McNulty-Skead 

Graduate Consultant, Stakeholder Engagement Services 

M: 07818118789 

E: Tabitha.McNultySkead@aecom.com 

 

AECOM Limited 

5th Floor, 2 City Walk 

Leeds LS11 9AR 

United Kingdom 

 

T: +44 (0)113 391 6800 

aecom.com 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

© 2020 AECOM Limited. All Rights Reserved.  

This document has been prepared by AECOM Limited (“AECOM”) for sole use of our client (the “Client”) 

in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles, the budget for fees and the terms of 

reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. Any information provided by third parties and 

referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM, unless otherwise expressly stated in 

the document. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express written 

agreement of AECOM. 

  

23



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 4 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Table of contents 

 

1. Executive summary ..................................................................................................... 6 

2. Introduction .................................................................................................................. 8 

3. Stakeholder engagement .......................................................................................... 11 

4. Community engagement ........................................................................................... 14 

5. Feedback and analysis .............................................................................................. 22 

6. Conclusion and next steps........................................................................................ 45 

Appendix A - Organisations invited to the stakeholder and accessibility workshops ............ 46 

Appendix B - Public consultation leaflet  ........................................................................... 48 

Appendix C - Press release issued by WYCA on 8 January 2020 ....................................... 50 

Appendix D - Venues displaying flyers and posters advertising the consultation ................. 52 

Appendix E - Bus stops displaying posters advertising the consultation .............................. 53 

Appendix F - Poster used to publicise public consultation ................................................... 57 

Appendix G - Organisations emailed about the consultation ............................................... 58 

Appendix H - Examples of social media posts shared on WYCA and CMBC’s Facebook and 

Twitter feeds ....................................................................................................................... 59 

Appendix I - Exhibition boards ............................................................................................. 61 

Appendix J - Stakeholder workshop summary report .......................................................... 68 

Appendix K - Accessibility workshop summary report ......................................................... 70 

Appendix L - Consultation survey questions ........................................................................ 75 

Appendix M - Demographic data and details of respondents’ use of Halifax Bus Station .... 80 

Appendix N - Full break down of respondents; views on the importance of different facilities 

and qualities within a bus station ......................................................................................... 83 

Appendix O - Full break down of respondents; satisfaction with different facilities or qualities 

of the existing bus station .................................................................................................... 84 

Appendix P - Questions received via response forms, email or the Q&A tool on the Your 

Voice webpage ................................................................................................................... 85 

 

 

 

 

  

24



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 5 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Figures 

Figure 1. Project milestones ............................................................................................ 10 

Figure 2. Set up of pop-up information events at Halifax Bus Station .......................... 17 

Figure 3. Public drop-in event at Halifax Town Hall ........................................................ 17 

Figure 4. Public drop-in event at Halifax Borough Market ............................................. 18 

Figure 5. Public drop-in event at Halifax Borough Market ............................................. 18 

Figure 6. Full map of postcodes of attendees from both drop-in events ...................... 19 

Figure 7. Zoomed-in map of postcodes of attendees from both drop-in events 

(omitting Rochdale and Sheffield) ................................................................................... 19 

Figure 8. The unmanned public exhibition in Halifax Central Library ........................... 21 

Figure 9. Distribution of comments about the existing bus station across the seven 

identified themes .............................................................................................................. 34 

Figure 10. Respondents’ satisfaction with proposals .................................................... 36 

Figure 11. Distribution of comments about the proposed bus station across the nine 

identified themes .............................................................................................................. 36 

 

Tables  

Table 1. Stakeholder meetings ......................................................................................... 11 

Table 2. Stakeholder workshop attendees ...................................................................... 13 

Table 3. Details of events held across the consultation period ..................................... 14 

Table 4. Media coverage summary .................................................................................. 15 

Table 5. Overview of newsletters that included Halifax Bus Station consultation 

articles ............................................................................................................................... 16 

Table 6. Stakeholder feedback and responses ............................................................... 22 

Table 7. Workshop feedback and responses .................................................................. 27 

Table 8. Comments on existing bus station .................................................................... 34 

Table 9. Comments on proposals and responses .......................................................... 37 

Table 10. Examples of good bus station features ........................................................... 40 

Table 11. Examples of bad bus station features ............................................................. 41 

Table 12. Popular suggestions ......................................................................................... 41 
 

25



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 6 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 This Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) provides an overview of the stakeholder and 

community engagement and consultation activities undertaken by the West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority (WYCA) in partnership with Calderdale Council (CMBC) to inform its 

proposals for the redevelopment of Halifax Bus Station. The redevelopment aims to deliver a 

new, fit-for-purpose £15.4m bus station on the existing site in Halifax town centre, which will 

complement the surrounding heritage, public realm and urban fabric of the town centre. This 

chapter provides a brief summary of the content covered within the SCI, including the types of 

activity undertaken and the key findings from the public consultation period. 

Engagement and consultation overview 

1.2 Constructive engagement with technical and community stakeholders has been crucial to 

informing the development of the proposals. Engagement commenced in early 2018 and has 

included meetings and workshops, including with bus operators, statutory bodies, officers and 

councillors from local authorities, accessibility groups and local businesses.  

1.3 A public consultation ran from Monday 13 January to Wednesday 12 February 2020. The 

consultation included online engagement and four public events followed by a library exhibition.  

Public consultation feedback 

1.4 237 people responded to the public consultation. 220 of the respondents shared information 

about their usage of the bus station, with 58% of these using the bus station at least once a 

week or more. 

1.5 Of those that responded to the corresponding questions, less than 50% of respondents were 

satisfied with any of the qualities and facilities currently in place within the bus station. Seating, 

comfort and toilets were seen as the worst qualities and facilities of the existing bus station, 

with 68%, 66% and 53% of respondents saying they were ‘unsatisfied’ or ‘very unsatisfied’ with 

them respectively. 

1.6 Of those that responded to the corresponding questions, 61% of respondents rated the 

proposals for the new bus station as ‘good’ or ‘very good’. Only 12% of respondents did not like 

proposals, with the most popular reasons being the lack of a physical bus rail interchange and 

project cost, with several respondents suggesting that funding could be better spent on 

improving the frequency, cost and efficiency of bus services themselves.  

1.7 Safety, travel information and ticket sales, ease of access and interchange and cleanliness 

were the qualities or facilities respondents saw as a priority for the new bus station, with 85% 

or more of the respondents rating them as ‘important’ or ‘very important’. 

1.8 Many suggestions for features or qualities for the new bus station were made through free text 

responses. Many of these are included in the proposals, including: improved toilets; CCTV and 

other security measures; better quality and availability of bus information; and a new enclosed 

passenger waiting area providing protection from the elements.  

1.9 A number of respondents also made suggestions for features that will be considered at the 

detailed design stage, including: the nature and design of bus station signage; the type and 

26



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 7 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

style of seating provided; and the nature of cycle facilities available. This feedback will be 

retained and considered as part of the detailed design process.  

 

Next steps  

1.10 If the planning application is approved, further engagement will help determine the final details 

of the design and confirm plans for the operation of the bus station and associated bus services 

during construction.  

1.11 In advance of construction, temporary arrangements for the operation of the bus station during 

construction will be confirmed and communicated clearly to the public and all other interested 

parties in order to minimise the impact of any disruption. The project’s webpage 

(https://www.yourvoice.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/hbs) will continue to be updated as the project 

progresses.  

  

27

https://www.yourvoice.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/hbs


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 8 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

2. Introduction 

General  

2.1 This Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) provides an overview of the stakeholder and 

community engagement and consultation activities undertaken by the West Yorkshire 

Combined Authority (WYCA) in partnership with Calderdale Council (CMBC) to inform its 

proposals for the redevelopment of Halifax Bus Station.  

2.2 This SCI outlines the consultation and engagement methods used and provides a summary of 

the feedback received as a result of these activities. These activities adhere to the guidance 

provided in CMBC’s SCI (adopted April 20161) and align with the three core principles that the 

document states should underpin all engagement with residents and stakeholders. These three 

core principles are: 

• Clarity: be very clear about what we are asking people and ensure that they understand 

what will happen as a result of engagement; 

• Inclusivity: make sure our methods are inclusive, allowing all of those who wish to 

contribute to do so, thereby giving us the ‘richest picture’ possible; and 

• Integrity: ensure that people can see how the decision is made and that they can see their 

views are being represented fairly within the process. At the same time, we need to ensure 

that the consultation is proportionate to the scale of the decision to be made. 

2.3 This SCI has been submitted to CMBC by WYCA, henceforth referred to as ‘the Applicant’, 

alongside the detailed planning application and Full Business Case (FBC) for the 

redevelopment of Halifax Bus Station. It should be considered alongside all other documents 

submitted as part of the planning application.  

2.4 The detailed planning application has been supported by an AECOM-led team of consultants, 

including Stephen George + Partners as architects. Henceforth reference will be made to the 

‘Application Team’, which includes the Applicant and all aforementioned parties.  

Project context 

2.5 Halifax Bus Station acts as a central hub providing connections to and from employment, 

education, training and other essential services located across Calderdale and the surrounding 

region. Each day, the existing facility supports 800 bus movements and 15,000 pedestrians 

who use the bus station to catch local and inter-urban bus, coach and school bus services. 

Additionally, the existing bus station provides travel and ticket information, ticket sales, public 

toilets, a newsagent, cashpoint, staff and bus operator accommodation and facilities and cycle 

parking. 

2.6 However, opened in April 1989, the existing bus station is outdated and does not meet the level 

of facilities expected from a modern transport facility. In particular: 

• the topography of the site and the orientation of the bus stands means gradients within the 

public circulation areas exceed current design guidance; 

 
1 CMBC Statement of Community Involvement is available to review at:  
https://www.calderdale.gov.uk/v2/sites/default/files/statement-of-community-involvement-2016-as-adopted.pdf 

28

https://www.calderdale.gov.uk/v2/sites/default/files/statement-of-community-involvement-2016-as-adopted.pdf


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 9 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

• it lacks an indoor passenger waiting room; 

• its current design makes it inaccessible for a number of passengers; and 

• it attracts some anti-social behaviour and current users have safety and security concerns.  

Project overview 

2.7 The Halifax Bus Station redevelopment aims to deliver a new, fit-for-purpose £15.4m bus station 

on the existing site in Halifax town centre, which will complement the surrounding heritage, 

public realm and urban fabric of the town centre.  

2.8 Key deliverables of the redevelopment will include: 

• a central level and covered passenger concourse with seating; 

• a retail unit including an area for a possible café; 

• public toilets including an accessible toilet; 

• customer information point; 

• a new passenger entrance from Woolpack; 

• a new passenger entrance from Winding Road; 

• an additional coach stand and level access onto buses;  

• a glazed roof leading onto the passenger concourse, bringing natural light into the building; 

• an efficient bus station facility, which uses environmentally friendly materials, reduces 

energy usage, provides future-proofing for electric buses and solar panels for local energy 

generation; and  

• providing better interchange opportunities with other sustainable modes, including cycle 

parking, real time rail information and pedestrian wayfinding. 

2.9 The new facility will significantly improve safety, comfort, connectivity and accessibility for users 

and local people. In addition to improving the experience of those using the bus station, the 

new facility will contribute to the growth of the local economy by improving transport connectivity 

and linking people to jobs, training and education opportunities. The new bus station will enable 

more people to travel sustainably, supporting targets for increased bus use in the region and 

the Combined Authority target of a zero-carbon Leeds City Region by 2038, through the 

implementation of sustainable design practices and materials.  

2.10 Should the detailed planning application be granted, and the FBC be approved, construction of 

the scheme is planned to commence in Spring 2021 and is due for completion around 18 

months later in 2022. A full list of project milestones is included in Figure 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 10 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1. Project milestones  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2015 -18
Project inception and key stakeholder design workshops (option 

selection)

2018 - 19 Preliminary design

2019 Outline Business Case submission and approval

Winter 

2019-20
Stakeholder and public consultation, and detailed design completion

Spring

2020
Submit detailed planning application and FBC

Summer

2020
Anticipated planning and FBC approval

Spring

2021
Temporary arrangement communications and start of construction

2022 Construction complete

30



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 11 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Stakeholder engagement  

Overview 

3.1 Throughout the design phase, constructive engagement with stakeholders has been crucial to 

understanding their views and informing the development of the proposals. Details of 

engagement undertaken is summarised in this section, and details of the feedback received 

and responses to this feedback are provided in Section 5 of this document.  

Summary of stakeholders 

3.2 The Application Team identified a number of stakeholders to engage in order to shape the 

proposals. Community engagement is summarised in Section 4 of this document, and Section 

3.3 to 3.8 below summarise engagement undertaken with organisations or technical 

stakeholders. These individuals and groups were identified on the basis of their specialist 

expertise or their potential to be impacted or interested in the proposals. They were separated 

into several categories, including statutory stakeholders, accessibility groups and services, 

local businesses, key attractors, interest groups, major employers, transport services, and 

schools and colleges, to help identify the best ways to engage them.  

Engagement activities  

3.3 Stakeholder engagement commenced in early 2018 and has continued throughout the outline 

and detailed design stages to the submission of the planning application. This engagement has 

taken various forms including:  

• workshops; 

• meetings; and  

• email correspondence. 

3.4 Stakeholder engagement has been crucial to developing the scheme and engagement will 

continue throughout detailed design and project delivery. A summary of meetings that have 

taken place with stakeholders to date is provided in Table 1. 

Table 1. Stakeholder meetings 

31



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 12 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Stakeholder 

group 
Meeting attendees Date Reference 

Bus operators 

Arriva/Yorkshire Tiger, First and Halifax Bus 

Company/TJ Walsh 
March 2018 BO1 

Arriva/Yorkshire Tiger, First and Halifax Bus 

Company/TJ Walsh 
August 2019 BO2 

National Express October 2019 BO3 

District Bus Partnership Meeting (this meeting also 

included representatives from CMBC)  
January 2020 BO4 

Historic England Historic England March 2019 HE1 

CMBC 

CMBC Planning Team July 2019 CC1 

CMBC Leader, Portfolio Holder and Major Projects 

Team 
August 2019 CC2 

CMBC Regeneration and Strategy Directorate 

Management Team 

November 

2019 
CC3 

CMBC Transport Policy Team 
November 

2019 
CC4 

CMBC Ward Councillor, Bob Metcalfe January 2020 CC5 

WYCA Cllr Kim Groves, WYCA Transport Committee Chair August 2019 CA1 

CMBC and 

WYCA 

• WYCA: Transport and Policy officers 

• CMBC: Portfolio Holder/Deputy Leader, Chief 

Executive, Regeneration and Strategy Director, 

Major Projects and Transport teams. 

November 

2019 
CACC1 

Halifax Town 

Board meeting 

• CMBC Councillors; Leader, Halifax Town ward, 

Northowram and Shelf ward 

• CMBC Officers; Neighbourhood and Cohesion 

team, Major Projects team, Business and Skills 

team, and Regeneration and Strategy Director 

• Visit Calderdale 

• Halifax Opportunities Trust 

• Calderdale Cultural Destinations 

• Harveys department store 

• Holdsworth Group property management 

January 2020 HTB1 

Calderdale Cycle 

Forum 

Cycle Forum members, including:  

• Sustrans 

• Calderdale CTC 

• CMBC officers and members 

January 2020 CCF1 

32



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 13 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Stakeholder 

group 
Meeting attendees Date Reference 

    

3.5 In addition to the meetings outlined above, two workshops were undertaken in late 2019 and 

early 2020, one with accessibility groups and one with local stakeholders. The aim of these 

workshops was to present the evolving proposals for the new bus station and to seek early 

feedback to inform the detailed design. The workshops also gave stakeholders the opportunity 

to raise questions and concerns that could be addressed by a member of the Application Team.  

3.6 The Application Team identified stakeholders and accessibility groups to attend the workshops 

and then invited them via email. Invitations were sent to Calderdale and regional accessibility 

groups and services, local businesses, key attractors, interest groups, major employers, 

transport services, and schools and colleges. A full list of invited organisations is included in 

Appendix A. 

3.7 For each of the workshops, the Application Team ensured that the venues were accessible. For 

the accessibility workshop, additional support was offered to attendees, including expenses for 

travel, circulating workshop materials prior to the meeting in an accessible format, and 

circulating meeting notes in an easy read format following the workshop.  

3.8 A summary of stakeholder workshop attendees is provided in Table 2. 

 

Table 2. Stakeholder workshop attendees 

Workshop Meeting attendees Date 

Accessibility • ACDAF and Accessible Calderdale Project 

• Age UK Calderdale and Kirklees 

• Calderdale Forum 50 Plus 

• CMBC: Sensory Impairment Team, Independent Travel 

Trainers, Gateway to Care (Occupational Therapist) 

• Calderdale self-advocacy network - Lead the Way  

• Community Transport Calderdale 

• Disability Partnership Calderdale 

• Guide Dogs 

• Halifax Society for the Blind 

• Kirklees Visual Impairment Network  

• RNIB 

December 2019 

33



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 14 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Workshop Meeting attendees Date 

Stakeholder • Arriva/Yorkshire Tiger 

• Calderdale and Kirklees NHS Hospital Trust  

• CMBC: Conservation, Markets, Regeneration, Voice and 

Influence 

• Historic England 

• Industrial Museum 

• National Express 

• O and C Property Management Services 

• T J Walsh 

• The Piece Hall  

• West Yorkshire Police 

• Woolshops 

January 2020 

   

  

34



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 15 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

4. Community engagement  

Approach to engagement 

4.1 Engagement with the wider community on the evolving design took place through a public 

consultation that ran from Monday 13 January to Wednesday 12 February 2020. Four public 

events were held in Halifax during the consultation period, which are detailed in Table 3 below.  

Table 3. Details of events held across the consultation period 

Event  Date  Time Venue 

First pop-up event  Thursday 16 January 14:00-18:00 Halifax Bus Station 

Second pop-up event  Saturday 18 January 10:00-14:00 Halifax Bus Station 

First public drop-in event Tuesday 21 January 16:00-20:00 Halifax Town Hall 

Second public drop-in event Saturday 1 February 10:00-14:00 Halifax Borough Market  

    

4.2 Two styles of events were used to engage the public: small scale pop-up events to raise 

awareness and larger public drop-in events to display and discuss proposals in detail. The two 

pop-up events listed in Table 3 were hosted at the bus station and the two drop-in events 

provided attendees with the opportunity to view display boards with further information on the 

proposals and speak to members of the Application Team.  

4.3 Events were held at a range of times and dates, including during evenings and weekends, in 

order to give as many people as possible the opportunity to attend. The first pop-up event was 

held during the evening peak period in order to meet as many weekday commuters as possible. 

The second pop-up event was held on a weekend day in order to meet weekend commuters 

and leisure users.  

4.4 After the final public drop-in event, the display boards were exhibited at Halifax Central Library 

for the remainder of the consultation period. At this exhibition, attendees were able to review 

the information and either provide their feedback on hard copy feedback forms or take away a 

leaflet with details of the online survey (a copy of the leaflet is provided in Appendix B). 

Publicising the consultation  

4.5 The consultation period, including details of the public drop-in events, was publicised using a 

variety of different channels in order to promote wide participation. The publicity methods used 

are in Sections 4.6 to 4.13 of this document.  

4.6 A press release was issued by WYCA on 8 January 2020 and a copy of this release is included 

in Appendix C. The release was published on the news pages of the WYCA, CMBC and 

Calderdale Next Chapter websites. Articles about the consultation were published by various 

digital and print news outlets, including the Halifax Courier, the Huddersfield Examiner, the 

Public Sector Executive and the Telegraph and Argus. A full list of media outlets that published 

details of the consultation and/or the redevelopment can be found in Table 4. 

35



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 16 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

 

 

Table 4. Media coverage summary  

Organisation Date of article 

Telegraph & Argus 08/01/20 

Halifax Courier 08/01/20 

Halifax Courier (print)  09/01/20 

Public Sector Executive 09/01/20 

Transport Network 09/01/20 

Examiner Live 09/01/20 

Halifax North and East 14/01/20 

Examiner Live 14/01/20 

Disability Partnership Calderdale website 15/01/20 

Halifax Courier (print) 06/02/20 

Halifax Courier 11/02/20 

  

4.7 Flyers and posters advertising the consultation and events and providing information about the 

project and how to get involved in the consultation were displayed at a number of local venues 

across the centre of Halifax. A list of these venues is included in Appendix D.  

4.8 Flyers and posters were also displayed on a number of buses that serve the routes in and 

around Halifax, including 1,000 flyers on Arriva/Yorkshire Tiger services and 1,900 flyers on 

First Bus services. A copy of the flyer can be found in Appendix B. Posters were also displayed 

at 231 local bus stops on the route of bus services to and from Halifax bus station, and a list of 

these bus stops can be found in Appendix E. A copy of the poster can be seen in Appendix 

F. 

Digital promotion  

4.9 A consultation webpage2 was set up on WYCA’s Your Voice website. This webpage contained 

details of the consultation and associated events and provided digital copies of all information 

available at the public drop-in events, including the seven information boards and a link to 

complete the digital version of the survey.  

4.10 The webpage also offered users the opportunity to post questions throughout the consultation 

period. The responses were published on the page, allowing all users to read through the Q&As. 

 
2 https://www.yourvoice.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/hbs  

36

https://www.yourvoice.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/hbs


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 17 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

In addition, members of the public were able to receive email updates on the project by 

registering their interest on WYCA’s Your Voice website. 

4.11 An email providing details of the consultation, associated events and how to get involved was 

sent to stakeholders and a range of local organisations and interest groups in and around 

Halifax on the consultation’s launch date. A list of organisations that received this email can be 

found in Appendix G.  

4.12 WYCA, CMBC and First Bus shared details of the proposals and how to get involved in the 

public consultation period on their Facebook and Twitter feeds. Example posts from this 

publicity is available in Appendix H.  

4.13 Details of the consultation and information on how to provide feedback were included in a 

number of e-newsletters in and around Calderdale, details of which are provided in Table 5. 

Table 5. Overview of newsletters that included Halifax Bus Station consultation articles 

Newsletter Date/s  

CMBC weekly staff newsletter, sent to over 2,000 members of staff 

10/01/20 

17/01/20 

24/01/20 

31/01/20 

07/02/20 

CMBC Calderdale Next Chapter Newsletter, sent to over 2,000 people 13/01/20 

WYCA Your Voice Newsletter, sent to 384 people  13/01/20 

WYCA Consultation and Engagement Newsletter, sent to 956 people 13/01/20 

Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust weekly staff newsletter 16/01/20 

MetroMessenger email, sent to approximately 4,000 people 24/01/20 

CMBC e-bulletin, sent to 100 Calderdale schools and posted on the Services for 

Schools intranet  
31/01/20 

  

The pop-up events  

4.14 As outlined in Sections 4.1 and 4.2 of this document, two pop-up events were held at Halifax 

Bus Station on 16 and 18 January 2020. The events were held at the beginning of the 

consultation period in order to raise awareness of the proposals and advertise the two public 

drop-in events.  

4.15 These events were held directly outside the bus station Travel Centre and involved members 

of the Application Team distributing flyers, talking to passers-by about the proposals and 

displaying some visuals of how the new bus station might look. People were also able to leave 

feedback on the proposals if they felt they had enough information. A photo of the set-up of the 

pop-up events is shown in Figure 2.  

 

37



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 18 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2. Set up of pop-up information events at Halifax Bus Station 

 

The drop-in events  

4.16 The public drop-in events were well attended, with 58 attendees at the event on 21 January in 

Halifax Town Hall and approximately 215 at the event at Halifax Borough Market on 1 February. 

Photos taken at each of the events can be found in Figures 3 to 5. 

4.17 While efforts were made to record the number of attendees accurately with a clicker, this was 

not always possible and proved particularly challenging at the Borough Market given the layout 

of the venue and the high number of attendees; hence the true number of attendees at this 

event may have been slightly higher than was recorded.  

Figure 3. Public drop-in event at Halifax Town Hall 

38



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 19 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

 

Figure 4. Public drop-in event at Halifax Borough Market 

 

Figure 5. Public drop-in event at Halifax Borough Market 

39



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 20 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

4.18 Attendees were given the option to sign-in at each of the events with their name and postcode. 

The maps in Figures 6 and 7 display the geographical spread of the attendees who signed-in 

and provided their postcodes. Attendees were also given the option to provide an email address 

when they signed-in if they wished to receive project updates. As would be expected, the 

majority of the attendees were from Halifax or nearby towns, but attendees also came from 

places further afield, such as Rochdale and Sheffield. 

 

 

Figure 6. Full map of postcodes of attendees from both drop-in events  

40



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 21 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

 

Figure 7. Zoomed-in map of postcodes of attendees from both drop-in events (omitting Rochdale 

and Sheffield) 

41



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 22 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

4.19 At each event, seven boards with information on the proposals were displayed, along with an 

A1 printout of the proposed design and A3 visuals showing how the bus station may look. The 

boards, shown in Appendix I, were also available to view online on WYCA’s Your Voice project 

webpage (see Section 4.9 of this document) and are summarised below: 

• overview of Halifax Bus Station; 

• role of Halifax Bus Station;  

• design of the new bus station, including highlighting clear changes;  

• benefits the new bus station will offer; 

• context of developments within Calderdale;  

• timeline of key milestones and next steps; and 

• visuals of the proposals.  

4.20 Members of the Application Team attended both events and were available to answer any 

questions and advise attendees on where to find further information on the proposals and other 

related projects being undertaken within Calderdale.  

4.21 Hard copies of the feedback form were available at both events and people were able to fill 

these out in person or take them home with a freepost envelope.  

Static library exhibition 

4.22 As outlined in Section 4.4 of this document, after the final drop-in event on 1 February the 

information boards were moved to the Halifax Central Library, where they formed a static 

unmanned exhibition. The exhibition was available to view until the consultation closed on 12 

42



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 23 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

February and copies of the paper feedback form were available so that people could complete 

and drop into the response form box provided (as shown in Figure 8).  

Figure 8. The unmanned public exhibition in Halifax Central Library  

 

  

43



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 24 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

5. Feedback and analysis  

5.1 This section outlines the feedback on the proposals received during stakeholder (Sections 5.2 

to 5.5) and community (Sections 5.6 to 5.32) engagement, including Application Team 

responses to suggestions, key themes and questions where applicable.  

Stakeholder engagement 

5.2 Table 6 provides a summary of the feedback received from all stakeholder meetings and 

workshops by stakeholder and by meeting, as well as responses to suggestions received 

through this engagement. The meeting references refer to the meetings listed in Table 1 of this 

document. 

Table 6. Stakeholder feedback and responses  

Key points from feedback Application Team response 
Meeting 

reference 

Bus operators   

Overall support was expressed for the scheme 

and the proposed layout of the new bus station, 

with the potential operational benefits for both 

bus operators and bus users being recognised.  

Concerns were raised about the loss of bus 

operator staff parking and layover provision and 

the need for signalised or controlled access and 

egress onto Winding Road was emphasised. 

There is no formal parking provision for bus 

operators within the existing bus station site 

and this will remain the case within the new 

bus station. 

Three additional layover bays have been 

incorporated into the design. 

The Winding Road junction will be signalised 

to allow for bus access and egress. 

BO1 

Bus operators raised concerns and suggestions 

regarding the A629 Phase 2 project.  

Halifax bus station related concerns were the 

capacity, design and operation of layover bays, 

and the shared mess for drivers from different 

operators. 

Suggestions included: 

• the vehicle exit route could be widened to 

allow for passage in the event of vehicle 

blockage; 

• provide more layover within the bus station 

like at Huddersfield (the operators requested 

10 bays); 

• include a yellow box and/or bus only 

triggered traffic lights at Winding Road 

entrance; 

Concerns regarding the A629 Phase 2 project 

are outside the scope of the bus station 

redevelopment but have been shared with 

CMBC for consideration.  

The design was changed to incorporate lower 

kerbs to enable buses to pass stationary or 

blocked vehicles. A swept path analysis has 

been carried out, which demonstrates that the 

detailed design of the vehicle emergency exit 

route is now satisfactory. The widened area of 

hard standing at the exit also allows a bus to 

pass another if one breaks down here. At a 

later stage, a full-scale bus test will also be 

undertaken. 

Three additional layover bays have been 

incorporated into the design. 

BO2 

44



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 25 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Key points from feedback Application Team response 
Meeting 

reference 

• provide raising gates to deter pedestrians 

from entering the bus operating area at the 

entrance or exit; and  

• provide private bus operator 

accommodation. 

The Winding Road junction will include ‘keep 

clear’ road markings to allow for bus access 

and egress. In addition, the bus entrance and 

exit routes will both be controlled by traffic 

signals. 

Although raising gates are not currently 

incorporated into the design, the need for 

them will be reviewed on a pedestrian safety 

basis at a later design stage.  

The current arrangement of separate mess 

provision for First Group and Arriva will be 

maintained in the new bus station.  

The preferred layout for coaches was agreed 

and National Express highlighted that the 

design accommodates their vehicles’ disabled 

access lift by providing enough space around 

the side and a level curb.  

No suggestions needed addressing. BO3 

The additional layover bays and layout was well 

received.  

A number of further suggestions were given, 

including:  

• traffic signal priority at the bus entrance and 

exit; 

• provision of bus operator accommodation on 

site during construction; and  

• passenger facilities, including toilets and 

travel centre. 

• change the first coach stand to a set-down 

only bus stand so it is easier to then go to 

the layover bays. 

The Winding Road junction will be signalised 

to allow for bus access and egress. The 

possibility of installing technology to detect 

and prioritise buses at this junction will be 

considered in the detailed design phase. 

The First Group building will remain accessible 

during construction, and temporary 

accommodation will be provided for Arriva 

operational staff.  

Additional passenger facilities, including toilets 

and a travel centre, are incorporated into the 

design.  

During construction, appropriate facilities will 

be provided for passengers as far as possible; 

details of what these will include and whether 

temporary toilets will be provided are currently 

under consideration and will be confirmed in 

due course.  

The design of and requirements for coach 

stands will be considered as the detailed 

design progresses.  

BO4 

45



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 26 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Key points from feedback Application Team response 
Meeting 

reference 

Historic England   

Suggestion to retain façade and change the 

mezzanine proposals.  

The proposals were changed so that the 

façade was retained, and the mezzanine was 

discounted from the design. 

HE1 

CMBC   

Concerns were raised about the impact that the 

construction of a mezzanine in the chapel 

building would have on its aesthetic. 

The proposals were changed so that the 

mezzanine was discounted from the design. CC1 

Feedback that was addressed at the meeting 

included; bus station heating, electric bus 

accommodation, cycle parking, air quality, 

sustainability and meeting the needs of the local 

Sixth Form Centre.  

Suggestions made at the included:  

• consider improving the Woolpack link to 

Woolshops as part of the proposals; 

• consider Sustainable Urban Drainage, which 

could link to the electric ‘HEAT’ network, 

which CMBC is delivering; and 

• continually engage the CMBC Planning team 

and meet the team delivering the ‘Streets 

Ahead’ programme in Halifax. 

Currently improvements to Woolpack are 

outside the scope of this project; however, 

they are being considered for other sources of 

funding by CMBC.  

It was acknowledged that drainage and runoff 

on the bus apron is likely to require separate 

surface runoff containment and treatment, 

which will be factored into the design. 

Sustainable technology will be used as far as 

practicable and affordable within the design. 

At present, it is not thought economically 

viable to utilise a future district heating 

network, but solar panels and other 

sustainable measures have been incorporated 

into the design. 

The design team is continuing to engage with 

the CMBC Planning team, and will liaise with 

the ‘Streets Ahead’ programme.  

CC2 

Accessibility improvements for disabled bus 

users and the design’s energy efficiency and 

future proofing features were discussed.  

Concern was raised over the potential for future 

coin machines for toilet turnstiles to be broken 

into, as has been seen with some public 

facilities in Calderdale. 

A suggestion was made to encourage bus 

operators to invest in cleaner electric or Ultra 

Low Emission Buses for the town. 

The toilets and other such ancillary 

accommodation will be placed in areas with 

high levels of natural surveillance and 

members of staff, therefore deterring any such 

break-ins.  

The need for electric buses is being 

addressed by the West Yorkshire Bus 

Alliance, which is looking at cleaner low 

emission vehicle fleets.  

CC3 

46



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 27 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Key points from feedback Application Team response 
Meeting 

reference 

The proposals were welcomed, and comments 

were made on specific elements, including the 

need for enhanced cycle infrastructure, good 

wayfinding and communications at the 

construction stage.  

The project will deliver enhanced cycle 

infrastructure with new cycle parking and 

improved wayfinding. A signage strategy for 

routes from the bus station to other 

destinations in Halifax will be developed as 

part of the detailed design and a 

comprehensive construction communications 

plan will be developed at a later stage. 

CC4 

The proposals were well received, and 

councillors were keen to stay up to date with 

proposals and details of the consultation period. 

Details of the consultation programme were 

shared with all ward councillors and council 

leaders following the meeting.  
CC5 

Suggestions from this meeting included: 

• reverse the bus layover island so buses go 

into bays from the entrance; and  

• consider introducing a cycle ‘hub’ at the bus 

station. 

More details of proposals on the public highway 

were requested by CMBC. 

Buses need to set down passengers before 

entering the layover, and reversing the layover 

will lead to greater conflict between buses 

entering the bus station and buses reversing 

into the layover bays. Therefore, the 

suggestion of reversing the bus layover island 

has not been implemented. 

Cycle parking will be provided as part of the 

project and further detail of the provision will 

be shared at a later design stage; however, 

the design currently incorporates space for 12 

bicycle stands. 

 

CC6 

WYCA   

The possibility of providing electric bus 

accommodation was addressed at the meeting. 

Other suggestions included: 

• deliver more cycle parking and coach 

provision; 

• promote the station to local students; and 

• engage bus operators that don’t currently 

serve Halifax bus station. 

Ducting for electric bus charging will be 

provided as part of the project.  

Cycle parking will be provided as part of the 

project and further detail of the provision will 

be shared at a later design stage; however, 

the design currently incorporates space for 12 

bicycle stands. 

National Express have been consulted on the 

proposed coach stands (meeting BO3) and 

have confirmed that they are happy with the 

number and layout of the stands within the 

current proposals. However, a decision 

regarding the number of coach stands 

required will be considered further as the 

detailed design progresses 

CA1 

47



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 28 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Key points from feedback Application Team response 
Meeting 

reference 

Promotion of the new bus station will be 

undertaken by WYCA and CMBC and will 

include targeting local students. WYCA will 

also engage new bus operators as 

appropriate. 

CMBC and WYCA   

The bus station design was well received. There 

was interest in including a Cycle Hub in the 

proposals; however, this is already being 

addressed by the A629 Halifax Town Centre 

project.  

Suggestions made at this meeting included: 

• provision of Wi-Fi in the new bus station; 

• consider enhanced cycle infrastructure 

provision, including electric bike charging; 

and 

• consider including a green/living wall. 

The design team will liaise with the A629 

Phase 2 project team to ensure appropriate 

cycle facilities are provided in Halifax town 

centre. 

Public Wi-Fi is available in the current bus 

station and will continue to be available at the 

new bus station. 

Cycle parking will be provided at the new bus 

station. Consideration is also being given to 

providing the ability to charge electric bicycle 

batteries at the bus station, subject to any 

comments from the police. 

A green roof is proposed for the new bus 

station, subject to detailed design and cost 

considerations.  

CACC1 

Halifax Town Board meeting   

48



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 29 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Key points from feedback Application Team response 
Meeting 

reference 

The proposals were well received by the Board. 

Questions answered at the meeting regarded; 

emergency access to the bus station, bus-rail 

connectivity and engagement approach. 

Suggestions made at the meeting included:  

• liaise with the Public Health Consultant at 

CMBC regarding handling potential human 

remains at the bus station site; 

• consider the provision of disabled parking 

with level access for the bus station at Wade 

Street or nearby; and 

• consider opportunities for connecting the bus 

station to Calderdale Tourism, such as 

incorporating public art within the facility, 

creating an ‘Instagram Wall’ and account for 

the bus station and boards which explain the 

history of the site and its features. 

It is understood that the risk of encountering 

human remains is limited, as the burial 

grounds that were historically present have 

been removed. An archaeological desk-based 

assessment has been undertaken to minimise 

risks and mitigation measures will be agreed 

with County Archaeologist.  

The existing disabled parking on Wade Street 

is planned to be retained. This parking area 

will provide step-free access for users.  

During the next design stage, the design team 
will engage the Tourism and Visitor Economy 
Officer at CMBC to discuss tourism-related 
suggestions.  

HTB1 

Calderdale Cycle Forum   

The proposals were well received by the Forum. 

Questions focused on drop-off and pick-up 

facilities, emergency service access, bus-rail 

connectivity, and consultation activity. 

 

Suggestions made at this meeting included: 

• provide a high amount of cycle parking that 

is secure, with electrical ducting; 

• join up the bus station to the cycle network 

through signposting, map illustrations and 

information channels; 

• accommodate electric scooters in response 

to changes in legislation concerning the use 

of e-scooters on the highway; and  

• provide cycle facilities such as air pumps 

and lockers. 

The amount of cycle parking will be confirmed 

at a later stage; however, the design currently 

incorporates space for 12 bicycle stands.  

There is no current provision proposed for 

electric bike charging. However, consideration 

is being given to providing the ability to charge 

electric bicycle batteries at the bus station, 

subject to any comments from the police. The 

potential for lockers that could be used by 

cyclists is also being explored. 

The design team will liaise with the A629 

Phase 2 project team to ensure appropriate 

cycle facilities are provided in Halifax town 

centre, including joining the bus station to the 

wider bus network. 

There are currently no plans to provide 

scooter hire or wheelchair hire at the bus 

station. Locally, this is already offered at the 

Age UK shop within 100m of the bus station.  

CCF1 

   

49



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 30 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Stakeholder engagement  

5.3 Table 7 provides a summary of the suggestions received from the accessibility and stakeholder 

workshops, as well as responses from the Application Team.  

5.4 A summary of the feedback received at the stakeholder workshop, which was circulated to all 

those invited to it, is included in Appendix J. Positive feedback given at the workshop focused 

on improvements to public safety, improved interchange and the desire lines to the listed 

buildings. Questions that were addressed at the workshop itself included those relating to: 

• temporary arrangements during construction; 

• impact on bus services and routes; 

• services and facilities provided by the new bus station; and 

• pedestrian routes.  

5.5 A summary of the feedback received at the accessibility workshop, which was circulated to all 

those invited to it, is included in Appendix K. Positive feedback focused on improvements to 

safety and security, use of the listed buildings, toilet provision, and site levels. Questions that 

were addressed at the workshop itself included those relating to: 

• renewable energy generation; 

• electric bus provision; and  

• drop-off facilities. 

 
Table 7. Workshop feedback and responses  

Key points from feedback Application Team response 

Stakeholder workshop 

Suggestions made at the workshop included:  
 

• engage Calderdale Royal Hospital staff and 

patients, Halifax youth groups and continue 

engagement with the CMBC Conservation 

Team and Historic England; 

• make Woolpack a more attractive route to 

minimise anti-social behaviour; 

• introduce a travel information Real Time 

Information (RTI) display at the Trinity Sixth 

Form Centre; 

• segregate the proposed pedestrian crossing 

on Wade Street and reduce vehicular 

movements; 

• consider the different types of mini-buses, 

especially types with doors behind the wheel, 

as part of the design;  

• consider new external signage to link users to 

key town centre attractions; and 

As suggested, engagement was carried out with 

Calderdale Royal Hospital staff and patients, with 

an article in the staff newsletter promoting the 

consultation and distribution of consultation 

leaflets and posters at the hospital. Engagement 

is ongoing with a range of teams at CMBC and 

Historic England. 

Currently improvements to Woolpack are outside 

the scope of the project; however, this is being 

considered for other sources of funding by 

CMBC.  

Installing RTI at Trinity Sixth Form Centre is 

outside the scope of the bus station 

redevelopment, but WYCA will consider engaging 

with the Centre to understand whether RTI 

screens could be installed there. 

50



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 31 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Key points from feedback Application Team response 

• reduce the size of Arriva accommodation and 

provide staff toilets to avoid having to take 

cash into the public toilets. 

A raised table crossing of Wade Street is 

proposed outside the main Syon Chapel entrance 

to the new bus station. This will ensure traffic can 

only move slowly and may deter some traffic 

movements. 

Every effort is being made to accommodate all 

type of bus that are currently in service (including 

optare buses with the doors behind the front axle) 

with sufficient space for wheelchair ramps and 

manoeuvring. 

A signage strategy for routes from the bus station 

to other destinations in Halifax will be developed 

as part of the detailed design. 

The design team has worked closely with Arriva 

to agree their accommodation provision in the 

new bus station. 

Accessibility workshop  

Existing bus station 

Some feedback was given about the existing bus 

station, which has been interpreted as providing 

design guidance for the new one: 

• avoid doors operated by push buttons; and  

• provide drop-off facilities next to a kerb or 

level pavement to avoid cobbles. 

All auto doors will be sensor activated (i.e. they 

will not rely on push buttons). 

Cobbles will be removed from the proposed drop-

off area subject to agreement with CMBC. Drop 

kerbs will be located appropriately at each bay or 

a continuous drop kerb will be provided. 

Safety and security 

• close the building at night to deter people from 

sleeping there; 

• have roaming staff available outside of peak 

times and during busy times to make 

vulnerable users feel more secure and to 

provide assistance when needed;  

• train staff in how to help people with 

accessibility issues; 

• use non-slip flooring; 

• include a ‘safe space’ refuge area or quiet 

room for people with learning difficulties, 

severe anxiety or disabilities; 

• any barriers around stands need to be full 

boards not just gates (to avoid guide 

dogs/sight canes going under them and 

causing people to walk into to them); and  

The bus station will be open and staffed when 

bus services are running, and the building will be 

closed at all other times. Appropriate staff 

deployment and training, including accessibility 

training, will be considered before the new bus 

station opens to the public. 

The materials used for the flooring will be 

decided at the detailed design stage and using 

non-slip materials will be considered.  

Quiet space to assist the public is being provided 
within the travel centre.  
  
Barrier design will be developed at detailed 

design stage, and this feedback will be 

considered going forwards. WYCA will continue 

to engage with affected groups when progressing 

51



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 32 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Key points from feedback Application Team response 

• use beacon lights that come on in event of 

fire/emergency and encourage people 

towards exits to make the alarm visual as well 

as audible.  

the design, to ensure that their requirements are 

suitably captured. 

Appropriate fire and emergency measures will be 

provided, with consideration given to all potential 

bus station users. 

Environment and sustainability 

• use hedgerows to maximise biodiversity with 

minimal maintenance year-round; 

• use berry trees like the ones at Sainsbury’s. 

Various types of appropriate planting will be 

provided at the new bus station. The exact nature 

of this is not yet defined. 

Signage 

• keep signage like what is planned for the new 

rail station to avoid confusion; 

• include visuals on important signage; 

• consider colour contrast, large size, eye level 

(including for wheelchair users), using tactile 

and braille signage, and making them audible.  

• RTI displays should also have an audio 

option, as well as options for other languages. 

All signage requirements will be decided at the 

detailed design stage and the feedback received 

at this workshop will be considered as part of that 

process.  

No audio displays are currently proposed, but the 

precise nature of audio announcements will be 

reviewed at detailed design stage and will be in 

line with best practice across WYCA bus stations. 

 

Wayfinding 

• provide wayfinding lines/tactile paving from 

the surrounding public realm through the bus 

station itself, including consistent paving on 

the main concourse and at stands to help 

visually impaired users find the doors; 

• tactile flooring should be used on road and 

step edges, and tactile guidance on floor and 

stand references; 

• provide an audio button for information on bus 

stands and bus times, and make these easy 

to locate; 

• link audible messaging to an induction loop 

and provide near frequency radio tags to 

make sounds depending on how close to a 

bus stand you are and can be linked to 

induction loops; 

• to minimise distress for autistic users, 

unnecessary announcements unrelated to bus 

travel and safety should be avoided;  

• use Bluetooth beacons to aid wayfinding like 

at Manchester Airport; 

Tactile paving will be included at appropriate 

locations both inside and outside of the bus 

station. Appropriate materials for flooring and 

other surfaces will be specified in the documents 

submitted with the planning application and will 

be cognisant of the feedback supplied at this 

workshop.  

The concourse palette will be predominantly 

glazed with stone clad panels between stands 

and to the ancillary accommodation. Tiled floors 

will include a wayfinding line and contrasting tiles 

around fixed hazards and to assist in the 

differentiation of horizontal and vertical surfaces. 

Reflective surfaces will be designed sensitively, 

and large panels of glass will include patterns or 

markings so that they can be easily detected. 

No audio button is currently proposed, and the 

precise nature of audio announcements and any 

use of additional wayfinding technology, including 

an induction loop and use of the SignLive app, 

will be reviewed at detailed design stage and will 

52



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 33 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Key points from feedback Application Team response 

• avoid using glass and metal surfaces that 

reflect light and if glass surfaces are 

proposed, ensure that they are patterned to 

prevent the visually impaired and/or guide 

dogs walking into them; and 

• link to the SignLive app, which provides sign 

language interpretation on demand. Other 

options for providing this interpretation, and 

translation into other languages, could be 

explored (e.g. a Skype or conference call 

hotline). 

be in line with best practice across WYCA bus 

stations.  

The bus station will be open and staffed when 

bus services are running. The building will be 

closed at other times.  

 

Toilets 

• provide a Changing Places facility; 

• careful consideration of the design is required; 

Square Chapel is a good example of 

accessible toilet design and there should be a 

‘flow’ within the toilet; 

• the toilet should be easy to find; 

• no charging for toilets; and  

• consider the use of radar keys.  

Subject to funding, a Changing Places facility has 

been incorporated into the design and will be free 

to use.  

The design of the accessible toilet will be 

cognisant of these suggestions, with a focus on 

ensuring it is as easy to use as possible. The 

accessible toilet will also be free to use. 

The accessible toilets will be free and accessed 

by a radar key or by speaking to a member of 

staff.  

Site levels 

• a levelling lift, as at Dean Clough, would be 

very useful. 

The main bus station entrances will be step-free 

and wheelchair accessible and the concourse will 

be near level, meaning it will be easier to enter 

and leave the bus station. 

Connectivity and interchange 

• provide a shuttle bus to the rail station, which 

should be linked in with the A629 Phase 2 

project; 

• provide a town centre shuttle bus that goes 

around the landmarks in the town; 

• scooter hire/wheelchair hire would be 

beneficial at the bus station;  

• explore options to change the existing cobbles 

to retain the shape but make them flatter for 

the drop off point;  

• bike facilities including a hub, e-bikes for 

Halifax and cycle changing facilities;  

Unfortunately, there is no funding available to 

provide a shuttle bus between the rail station and 

the bus station. As part of the town centre bus 

loop that is planned to be introduced by the A629 

Halifax Town Centre project, there will be a 

number of bus services travelling from the rail 

station to the bus station. See 

www.calderdalenextchapter.co.uk for more 

information. 

There are currently no plans to provide scooter 

hire or wheelchair hire at the bus station. Locally, 

this is already offered at the Age UK shop within 

100m of the bus station.  

The detailed design of the drop off point should 

result in improvements to accessibility for the 

53

http://www.calderdalenextchapter.co.uk/


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 34 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Key points from feedback Application Team response 

• ramp all entrances (not just stairs) and any 

ramps need to accommodate people who may 

be pushing a wheelchair.  

• provide measures to stop delays for buses 

leaving the station onto Winding Road at very 

busy, especially at peak times; 

• bus stand design needs to accommodate the 

space needed for a wheelchair user to get 

onto the bus using a ramp and kerbs need to 

be designed to ensure ramps can be used to 

board/dismount buses; 

• provide level drop kerbs at road edges and 

walkways; 

• people struggle carrying shopping from 

Sainsbury’s and wheelchair users find it hard 

to access the C68 bus service; 

• provide a link to the Maurice Jagger 

Community Centre, as a number of people 

with accessibility requirements and the elderly 

will spend time there; and  

• provide interactive information points that are 

accessible to people with impaired vision and 

for users with reading difficulties.  

drop-off facilities. Cobbles will be removed from 

the proposed drop-off area subject to agreement 

with CMBC. Drop kerbs will be located 

appropriately at each bay or a continuous drop 

kerb will be provided. 

Improvements to cycle infrastructure in Halifax 

are being addressed as part of the A629 Halifax 

Town Centre project and other sources of funding 

are being considered for new cycling facilities by 

CMBC. The current design includes 12 bike 

stands. 

The main bus station entrances will be step-free 

and wheelchair accessible, and the concourse 

will be near level, meaning it will be easier to 

enter and leave the bus station.  

The bus station vehicle entrance and exit will be 

traffic signal controlled to minimise delays.  

The bus stand design has taken into 

consideration wheelchair user requirements. In 

particular, the bus boarding area is designed to 

accommodate all bus types (including optare 

buses with the doors behind the front axle) with 

sufficient space for wheelchair ramps and 

manoeuvring. 

Level drop kerbs at road edge and walkways will 

be provided.  

There is potential to work with Sainsbury’s to 

improve signage and ease of use. This will be 

explored at the detailed design stage.  

To improve connectivity with the Maurice Jagger 

Centre a new eastern side entrance will be 

providing, connecting the bus station with 

Winding Road.  

The nature of information points will be 

addressed at the detailed design stage and will 

be cognisant of the feedback supplied at this 

workshop.  

Comfort and ease of use 
The types of seating included in the bus station 

will be confirmed at detailed design stage. There 

54



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 35 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Key points from feedback Application Team response 

• provide more casual seating with appropriate 

height and some with arm rests throughout 

station, including seating with spaces for 

wheelchair users; 

• ensure pavements are broad and flat; 

• have an area where dogs can have access to 

water; 

• automatic doors should be programmed to 

open and close at the same times or 

frequencies, so people know what to expect; 

and  

• avoid excessively bright lighting and consider 

the use of diffused lighting. 

will be a focus on providing more comfortable 

seating than that in the current bus station, and 

the needs of wheelchair users will be considered 

(including as part of ongoing engagement with 

accessibility groups). 

Pavements around the station will be made more 

accessible, with dropped kerbs where 

appropriate. 

Automatic doors will be appropriately 

programmed according to location and use, and 

lighting will be designed to avoid excessive glare. 

 
 

Engagement and consultation 

• provide a preview event for those with 

accessibility requirements when the bus 

station is built; 

• need to continue engagement throughout the 

pre-construction period (and during 

construction) to enable details to be 

discussed; and  

• have a model of the proposed bus station at 

consultation events for those who are visually 

impaired to able to visualise the plans.  

Accessibility groups will continue to be engaged 

throughout project and during project delivery to 

ensure that the design meets their requirements. 

If feasible, this will include a preview event when 

the bus station is built.  

Other 

• consider the acoustics of the building for the 

hearing impaired and consider measures to 

muffle the sound such as panels or plants; 

and 

• as well as on signage, consider the use of 

contrasting colours for barriers, doorframes, 

bins and furniture. 

The design of the bus station draws on best 

practice from bus stations across the country. 

The nature and frequency of announcements, 

and subsequent impacts on acoustics in the 

building, will be considered in line with strategies 

adopted at other WYCA bus stations.  

All floor surfaces will be designed with 

contrasting colours around fixed hazards (seating 

etc) and interfaces with horizontal / vertical 

surfaces with the appropriate LRV differences. 

 
Community engagement 

5.6 This section provides an overview of the main findings and themes arising from feedback 

received during the public consultation period.  

5.7 The public consultation received 237 responses and the proposals for the new bus station were 

rated by 217 of the respondents, with 133 respondents (61%) rating the proposals as ‘good’ or 

‘very good’. Safety, travel information and ticket sales, ease of access and interchange and 

55



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 36 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

cleanliness were the qualities or facilities seen to be a priority for the new bus station, with over 

85% of respondents rating them as ‘important’ or ‘very important’.  

Methodology 

5.8 Responses to the public consultation were received online, via email, and as hard copy 

response forms. To consolidate the responses and identify key themes in feedback, a coding 

spreadsheet was set up.  

5.9 Correlating with the response form questions (see Appendix K), the spreadsheet included 

categories relating to the existing bus station, the proposals and any further suggestions the 

respondents may have had. A unique code was assigned to each response to enable cross-

referencing and to provide greater transparency in case of queries.  

5.10 Many responses included comments on a number of different themes. The themes that were 

identified for both the existing bus station and the proposals were:  

• Ease of access and interchange;  

• Accessibility; 

• Bus services; 

• Comfort; 

• Safety and security; 

• General (expression of positive and negative sentiments); and 

• Other. 

5.11 For the existing bus station category, the additional theme of lack of/poor facilities was identified 

and in the proposals category the additional theme of cost/funding/spending alternatives was 

identified. A number of comments were then further categorised into sub comments within each 

of the themes. This is set out in Tables 8 and 9.  

5.12 A number of suggestions for the new bus station were put forward though the consultation 

responses, and these were separated into three categories: 

• Specific facilities;  

• Connectivity (to bus station, rail station and town centre); and 

• Sustainability.  

5.13 Good and bad examples from other bus stations were also provided by respondents and these 

were put into good and bad example categories.  

Respondents  

5.14 237 responses were received through the following channels:  

• 175 online surveys; 

• 50 paper surveys; and 

• 12 emails (including 11 via the YourVoice website and 1 sent directly to Application Team). 

5.15 Demographic data about respondents and their use of the bus station can be found in 

Appendix M. 92% (217) of respondents shared information about their method of travel to the 

bus station, with 76% of these (166) saying they usually travelled to the bus station by bus. Of 

those respondents who shared information about their usage of the bus station (220 

respondents): 

56



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 37 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

• 22% used it 5 or more days a week; 

• 19% used it 3 or 4 days a week; 

• 18% used it at least once a week; and 

• 9% used it at least once a fortnight.  

5.16 Of those who chose to answer the relevant question (216 respondents), respondents were 54% 

male and 44% female; 2% preferred not to say.  

5.17 Of those that responded to the question about their age range (211 respondents), less than 1% 

were 15 or under, 10% were 16-24, 6% were 25-29, 15% were 30-39, 14% were 40-49, 17% 

were 50-59, 22% were 60-69, 13% were 70-79, and 2% were 80 or over. Cognisant of the fact 

that younger demographics are the least represented in the responses received to date, future 

engagement on the project will seek to target these age groups through engagement with 

schools and additional social media promotion on platforms such as Instagram, YouTube and 

Snapchat. These platforms have a higher proportion of users aged 16-29, which will help to 

reach this underrepresented group. 

5.18 Of those that responded to the relevant question (213 respondents), 25% of respondents said 

their day-to-day activities were limited either a lot or a little by a health problem or disability that 

has or is expected to last at least 12 months.  

5.19 Social media, the internet and via poster or flyer were the top three ways in which people heard 

about the consultation.  

Overall attitudes  

5.20 Respondents were asked to rate how important different qualities and facilities in a bus station 

were to them (see Appendix N for full responses to this question). Safety and security was 

considered the top priority, with 91% of respondents rating it ‘important’ or ‘very important’. This 

was closely followed by cleanliness (rated by 90% of respondents as ‘important’ or ‘very 

important’), travel information and ticket sales (rated by 88% of respondents as ‘important’ or 

‘very important’), ease of access and interchange (rated by 85% of respondents as ‘important’ 

or ‘very important’) and toilets (rated by 84% of respondents as ‘important’ or ‘very important’). 

Existing bus station 

5.21 Respondents were also asked to rate the qualities and facilities of the existing bus station (see 

Appendix O for full responses to this question). Satisfaction for each of the qualities and 

facilities was very low, with satisfaction ratings ranging from a minimum of 11% to a maximum 

of 42%.  

5.22 Less than 50% of people were satisfied with any of the qualities and facilities currently in place; 

across all of the existing facilities and qualities, on average 24% of people were satisfied. 

Seating, comfort and toilets were seen as the top three worst qualities and facilities of the 

existing bus station, with 68%, 66% and 53% of respondents saying they were ‘unsatisfied’ or 

‘very unsatisfied’ with them respectively.  

5.23 73 respondents made 122 comments on the existing bus station. Figure 9 displays the 

distribution of these comments across each of the themes. Table 8 provides an overview of the 

frequency and type of comments made within each of the themes.  

57



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 38 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Figure 9. Distribution of comments about the existing bus station across the seven identified 

themes 

 

 
Table 8. Comments on existing bus station  

Theme 

Total number of 

responses with 

comments on theme 

Common types of comment within theme  

Comfort 29 
• 25 of these comments related to poor temperature within the 

existing bus station and the often exposed/draughty conditions 

Lack of/poor 

facilities 
23 

• 9 comments related to lack of information, including about 

timetables, cancellations and delays 

• 8 comments referenced lack of or poor seating provision 

• 7 comments related to poor toilet facilities 

• Lack of café/retail provision was covered in 5 comments 

Safety and 

security 
18 

• A general lack of safety and security at the bus station was 

covered by 10 comments, with two of these comments referring to 

the bus station feeling particularly unsafe at night  

• 6 comments covered anti-social behaviour and the lack of 

security 

• Other comments related to security of the toilets and/or were 

positive about the existing security in place at the bus station 

24%

21%

19%

15%

13%

6%
2%

Comments on existing bus station

Comfort

General/Other

Lack of/ poor facilities

Safety and security

Ease of access and
interchange

Bus Services

Accessibility

58



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 39 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Theme 

Total number of 

responses with 

comments on theme 

Common types of comment within theme  

Ease of 

access and 

interchange  

16 

• 11 of these comments related to the poor layout of the bus 

station, which was described as confusing and dangerous  

• 4 comments related to the lack of rail connectivity or the distance 

between the bus and rail stations  

Bus services 7 

• All 7 comments referenced unreliable, poor or inefficient bus 

services 

• 3 comments also referenced the need for cheaper fares 

• Comments also mentioned bad or rude drivers, the need for more 

buses and improved connectivity and routes, and that more bus 

services need to use the bus station 

Accessibility 

(disability 

and mobility) 

3 

• These comments all focused on the difficulty that people with 

mobility issues and/or disabled people face when using the 

existing station and the issue of people surging to buses on 

arrival, blocking people’s ability to disembark, leaving less mobile 

people to wait to get on the bus after everyone else 

General 26 

• These comments were either generally negative about the bus 

station (14 comments), using words such as ‘terrible’, ‘bad and 

‘depressing’, or generally positive about the bus station (12 

comments), highlighting features that people were pleased with, 

including the design and the bus station’s look and layout.  

   

Proposals 

5.24 217 respondents rated the proposals for the new bus station and the results are shown in 

Figure 10. Of these 217 respondents, 61% rated the proposals as either ‘good’ or ‘very good’, 

and only 12% of respondents rated the proposals ‘very poor’ or ‘poor’.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

59



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 40 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Figure 10. Respondents’ satisfaction with proposals 

 

 

5.25 162 respondents provided a total of 270 comments on different elements of the proposals. As 

outlined in Sections 5.10 and 5.11 of this document, these comments focussed on a number of 

key themes. Figure 11 displays the frequency of comments occurring within each of these 

themes.  

Figure 11. Distribution of comments about the proposed bus station across the nine identified 

themes 

6%

37%

24%

21%

5%

7%

Satisfaction with the proposals

I don't know

Very good

Good

OK

Poor

Very poor

60



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 41 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

5.26 A summary of the frequency and type of comments within each of the themes is included in 

Table 9.  

Table 9. Comments on proposals and responses 

Theme 

Total 

number of 

responses 

with 

comments 

on theme 

Common types of comment within 

theme  
Responses to comments  

Ease of 

access and 

interchange 

54 • Of these comments, 29 

referenced the lack of bus-rail 

interchange, with the majority of 

these noting disappointment that 

the bus station is not moving 

nearer to or outside of the railway 

station or noting the need for 

improved connectivity between 

the bus and rail station. 

 

• 16 comments provided positive 

feedback on the improved 

interchange and access, 

including the single concourse, 

There are many benefits to 

locating the new bus station on the 

existing site: it is central to many 

key attractions in Halifax town 

entre, including the new 6th form 

college; it can be served by all bus 

routes into Halifax; and it is owned 

by WYCA, so it can be delivered 

within the funding deadline. 

Interchange between bus and rail 

will be improved by providing real-

time information for rail services 

within the bus station. As part of 

CMBC's A629 Halifax Town Centre 

project, a bus-rail interchange will 

23%

20%

11%

9%

9%

9%

8%

7%

4%

Comments on proposals

General (positive)

Ease of access and
interchange

Cost/ funding/
alternative spend

Other

Safety and security

General (negative)

Comfort

Bus Services

Accessibility

61



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 42 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Theme 

Total 

number of 

responses 

with 

comments 

on theme 

Common types of comment within 

theme  
Responses to comments  

access to taxis and multiple entry 

improvements. 

 

• 5 comments regarded the 

increased amount of information 

to be made available, including 

rail information. 

be introduced near the rail station, 

where buses will stop and travel 

directly to the bus station as part 

of the town centre 'bus box' (bus 

route loop around the town 

centre). See 

www.calderdalenextchapter.co.uk/

projects for more information. 

Cost / 

funding / 

alternative 

spend  

30 • 12 comments suggested that 

money should be spent on other 

CMBC services. 

 

• 11 comments suggested that the 

project was a waste of money or 

unnecessary. 

 

• 7 comments stated the project 

was too expensive overall. 

The project was included in the 

successful West Yorkshire bid to 

the Department for Transport’s 

Transforming Cities Fund and 

must be used for this purpose. It is 

not funded by CMBC. The project 

will deliver an improved bus 

station, which is more accessible 

and comfortable, with improved 

capacity and efficiency. This 

means it will be able to handle 

more buses and more passengers, 

encouraging more people to travel 

sustainably across the region. 

Safety and 

security  

24 • 15 comments noted the 

improvement to safety and 

security that the proposals would 

deliver, particularly segregating 

buses and passengers. 

 

• 4 comments noted that security 

needs to improve but did not 

indicate whether this was 

regarding the existing bus station 

or whether it was in addition to 

the proposed improvements. 

A single passenger concourse will 

allow for a clear visibility of all 

passenger areas by staff and 

monitored CCTV during the bus 

station’s opening hours. Security 

staff will be employed at the bus 

station during its opening hours. 

 

In addition, separated bus and 

pedestrian movements will reduce 

hazards: 

• Automatic doors to bus stands 
and main entrances 

• Fences to encourage the use of 
safe routes 

 

62

http://www.calderdalenextchapter.co.uk/projects
http://www.calderdalenextchapter.co.uk/projects


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 43 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Theme 

Total 

number of 

responses 

with 

comments 

on theme 

Common types of comment within 

theme  
Responses to comments  

Toilet charges will also be used to 
deter anti-social behaviour. 

Other 25 • 8 comments regarded 

improvements and suggestions 

outside of the scope of the bus 

station project, such as town 

centre and bus route 

improvements. 

 

• Other comments in this category 

regarded the need for energy 

efficiency and future proofing for 

electric buses (4 comments) and 

concerns regarding construction 

disruption and timescales (3 

comments). 

Comments received that fall out of 

the scope of the project but are 

relevant to CMBC or WYCA will be 

shared with the relevant teams.  

It is difficult to predict the exact 

type and location of electric charge 

points that may be required so 

future proofing will only include 

ducting for electric bus charging.  

WYCA are working with CMBC’s 

Highways and Network 

Management teams to develop 

plans for temporary bus station 

accommodation, bus user facilities 

and on-street bus stop provision to 

be put in place during the 

construction period of the new bus 

station at Halifax. A 

comprehensive construction 

communications plan will be 

developed at a later stage. 

Comfort  22 • 12 comments referenced the 

benefits of the bus station being 

covered or enclosed. 

 

• 10 comments referenced the 

anticipated improvement in 

temperature. 

 

• Comments also referenced the 

need for additional seating and 

other facilities, the detail of which 

is included in Sections 5.28 - 5.31 

of this document. 

The types of seating included in 

the bus station will be confirmed at 

detailed design stage. There will 

be a focus on providing more 

comfortable seating than that in 

the current bus station. Our aim is 

to provide an improvement in 

terms of the quality and quantum 

of waiting space. 

63



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 44 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Theme 

Total 

number of 

responses 

with 

comments 

on theme 

Common types of comment within 

theme  
Responses to comments  

Bus services

  

19 • 7 comments suggested that 

money needs to be invested in 

the bus network, routes and 

fares. 

 

• 6 comments expressed concern 

that the proposals would not 

improve bus tardiness and 

quality. 

 

• 3 comments also suggested that 

all Halifax bus services should be 

using the bus station. 

Improvements to the bus network, 

routes, fares and service reliability 

are outside the scope of the bus 

station redevelopment.  

Accessibility

  

12 • 6 comments regarded the 

improvements that the proposals 

make for accessibility, particularly 

the level access improvements. 

 

• Other comments shared general 

concerns about the enclosed 

concourse leading to a reduction 

in passenger waiting space and 

having a potential negative 

impact on passengers with 

mental health problems or autism 

because it could be loud and 

crowded. 

 

• Several comments also referred 

to the need for signage and 

displays, which is included in 

more detail in Sections 5.28 - 

5.31 of this document. 

It is not anticipated that the 

enclosed concourse will lead to a 

reduction in waiting space. Though 

the exact details of the waiting 

space will be confirmed at detailed 

design stage, our aim is to provide 

an improvement in terms of the 

quality and quantum of waiting 

space. 

 

The design of the bus station 

draws on best practice from bus 

stations across the country. The 

nature and frequency of 

announcements, and subsequent 

impacts on acoustics in the 

building, will be considered in line 

with strategies adopted at other 

WYCA bus stations.  

Better signage and information will 

be provided at the new bus 

station. In particular, RTI will be 

provided at each bus stand and at 

central locations within the station. 

Signage requirements, including a 

signage strategy for routes from 

64



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 45 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Theme 

Total 

number of 

responses 

with 

comments 

on theme 

Common types of comment within 

theme  
Responses to comments  

the bus station to other 

destinations in Halifax, will be 

developed as part of the detailed 

design. Feedback received 

through this consultation will be 

considered as part of this process. 

General 

(positive) 

61 These comments were generally 

positive about the proposals, 

including that they look modern, 

dynamic and will be a great 

improvement on the current 

situation.  

No response required. 

General 

(negative) 

  

   23 These comments were generally 

negative about the proposals, 

including that they don’t fit in with the 

surrounding heritage or with Halifax 

generally, and that they look too 

much like other bus stations. 

No response required. 

    

Comparisons 

5.27 18 respondents (8% of total respondents) provided a total of 21 comments in relation to other 

bus stations and facilities. These comments have been divided into good and poor examples, 

which are described in Tables 10 and 11 below. These examples have been referenced during 

design development and have provided a guide for a number of design features. 

Table 10. Examples of good bus station features 

Bus station(s) Good examples  

Keighley Bus Station Platform could be levelled out using their base layout. 

Huddersfield and Brighouse Bus 

Stations 
Provides easier taxi access. 

Huddersfield and Bradford Bus 

Stations 
Provides an enclosed safe concourse. 

Huddersfield Bus Station 

• Security and safety from lighting, visibility of helpful security 

staff. 

• Build a car park on top. 

65



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 46 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Bus station(s) Good examples  

• Minimise cold draughts through the station so that 

passengers can be more comfortable whilst waiting for buses. 

• Level ground in the waiting and seating areas. 

• Office open for longer, with continuous hours. 

• User friendly. 

• Well arranged, including addressing queuing issues by buses 

disembarking before moving to pick up points. 

Leeds and Bradford Bus Station 
General references to these being good examples of modern 

bus stations. 

Bristol and Bath Bus Stations Integrated into a state-of-the-art legibility and signage strategy. 

 

Table 11. Examples of bad bus station features 

Bus station(s) Bad examples 

Bradford Bus Station 
The site is too small and the camber of the area too awkward to 

be satisfactory. 

Castleford Bus Station May be more functional but it looks horrible/brutal. 

Huddersfield Bus Station The automated door at one entrance is useless on windy days. 

Rochdale Bus Station 
There is a lack of queuing arrangements so it’s like a stampede 

when a bus arrives. 

Leeds Bus Station 
Buses there are frequently delayed due to the busy roads around 

the bus station. 

Bradford Bus Station 
Glass is reflective so at night it is extremely difficult to see if there 

is a bus at a stop. 

  

Suggestions  

5.28 A number of suggestions were made via the consultation responses. In particular, respondents 

made 183 suggestions regarding connectivity, sustainability and other facilities, with Table 12 

displaying the most popular suggestions (those made by 5 or more respondents). 

Table 12. Popular suggestions 

Facility 
Number of 

suggestions 

Percentage 

of overall 

respondents  

WYCA response 

Retail unit 

The majority of responses 

focused on café services 

23 10% 

The bus station design includes space 

for a retail unit with a seating area to 

suit businesses such as cafés. 

66



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 47 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Facility 
Number of 

suggestions 

Percentage 

of overall 

respondents  

WYCA response 

Seats 12 5% 

The types of seating included in the bus 

station will be confirmed at detailed 

design stage. There will be a focus on 

providing more comfortable seating 

than that in the current bus station. Our 

aim is to provide an improvement in 

terms of the quality and quantum of 

waiting space. 

RTI displays 12 5% 

RTI will be provided at each bus stand 

and at central locations within the 

station. 

Free toilets 12 5% 

Toilets will be subject to a small charge, 

as research suggests that this deters 

anti-social behaviour and therefore 

allows better quality toilets. Income 

from the toilets will be used to maintain 

the bus station facilities. 

 

The accessible and Changing Places 

toilets will be free to use. 

Security 

particularly staff working all 

hours 

12 5% 

A single passenger concourse will allow 

for a clear visibility of all passenger 

areas by staff and monitored CCTV 

during the bus station’s opening hours. 

Security staff will be employed at the 

bus station during its opening hours. 

Better toilets 11 5% 

The toilets will be significantly improved 

as part of the design. They will be 

indoors and part of the central 

concourse building so easier to access.  

67



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 48 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Facility 
Number of 

suggestions 

Percentage 

of overall 

respondents  

WYCA response 

General design 

including the appearance 

of the building to blend with 

the surrounding area, 

allowing for buses going in 

same direction to depart 

from the same bay, using 

natural construction 

materials and moving the 

customer service desk to 

the entrance 
12 5% 

The project aims to deliver a modern, 

fit-for-purpose facility that complements 

the surrounding heritage, public realm 

and urban fabric of Halifax town centre. 

 

Where possible, buses going in the 

same direction will depart from the 

same bay. This will depend in part on 

the capacity of each bay. 

 

Construction materials will be 

confirmed at detailed design stage, but 

are expected to include natural 

materials such as stone and timber.  

 

The customer service desk has been 

placed in the centre of the concourse to 

enable customer service staff to have 

good visibility of all areas of the bus 

station. Its central location will also 

mean that it is easy to find and access, 

regardless of which entrance used. 

Information centre / 

information hub, 

including staff  

10 4% 

A travel centre will be provided as part 

of the project, and this will be staffed 

throughout the bus station’s opening 

hours.  

Energy generation 

Solar panels and heat 

pump 

7 3% 

Solar panels are included as part of the 

design. However, no heat pump is 

currently proposed. 

68



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 49 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Facility 
Number of 

suggestions 

Percentage 

of overall 

respondents  

WYCA response 

Rail station integration 

Moving the bus station, 

improving the journey 

between the two sites and 

providing a shuttle/bus 

services to serve between 

them 

6 3% 

There are many benefits to locating the 

new bus station on the existing site: it is 

central to many key attractions in 

Halifax town centre, including the new 

6th form college; it can be served by all 

bus routes into Halifax; and it is owned 

by WYCA, so it can be delivered within 

the funding deadline. 

 

Unfortunately, there is no funding 

available to provide a shuttle bus 

between the rail station and the bus 

station. However, as part of the town 

centre bus loop that is planned to be 

introduced by the A629 Halifax Town 

Centre project, there will be a number 

of bus services travelling from the rail 

station to the bus station. See 

www.calderdalenextchapter.co.uk for 

more information. 

Electric bus 

infrastructure 
6 3% 

Ducting for electric bus charging will be 

provided as part of the project.  

Greenery 

Existing retained and new 

added 

6 3% 

Various types of appropriate planting 

will be provided at the new bus station. 

The exact nature of this is not yet 

defined. 

Secure cycle parking 6 3% 

Cycle parking will be provided as part 

of the project and further detail of the 

provision will be shared at a later 

design stage; however, the design 

currently incorporates space for 12 

bicycle stands. 

Heating and air 

conditioning 

Particularly around 

automatic doors  

5 2% 

Heating and air conditioning will be 

provided for service, retail and café 

areas and toilets. Although no heating 

will be provided on the main concourse, 

it will nevertheless represent an 

improvement to the temperature of the 

current bus station (which is completely 

exposed). 

69

http://www.calderdalenextchapter.co.uk/


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 50 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Facility 
Number of 

suggestions 

Percentage 

of overall 

respondents  

WYCA response 

Better signage (including 

for people with visual 

impairments) 

5 2% 

Better signage and information will be 

provided at the new bus station. In 

particular, RTI will be provided at each 

bus stand and at central locations 

within the station. Signage 

requirements, including a signage 

strategy for routes from the bus station 

to other destinations in Halifax, will be 

developed as part of the detailed 

design. Feedback received through this 

consultation will be considered as part 

of this process. 

Changing Places toilet 5 2% 

Subject to funding, a Changing Places 

facility has been incorporated into the 

design.  

Accessible toilets 5 2% 
Accessible toilets are included as part 

of the design.  

    

5.29 Connectivity related suggestions that received fewer than 5 suggestions included: two lanes 

exiting the station; improved pedestrian routes; and feeder mini buses to bring some 

passengers from the top half of town. 

5.30 Sustainability related suggestions that received fewer than 5 suggestions included: free buses 

to encourage public transport usage and using green construction materials.  

5.31 Other facilities that received fewer than 5 suggestions were: bus operator staff for information; 

e-bike rental service; visual distractions/integrated art; a prayer room; recycling and bins; 

improved lighting; luggage lockers; e-ticket machines; a Christmas tree; and a rail timetable.  

Questions  

5.32 Feedback received within the paper and digital survey responses also included a number of 

questions. Details of these questions and responses from the Application Team are included in 

Appendix P along with other questions that were received during the consultation period via 

email and the Q&A tool on the Your Voice webpage.  

 

  

70



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 51 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

6. Conclusion and next steps  

Conclusion 

6.1 The majority of feedback received through stakeholder and community engagement was 

supportive of the concept of redeveloping the bus station and of the proposed design. Many of 

those engaged felt that the current bus station is not fit for purpose and either requested or 

expressed support for features or qualities that were included in the proposals consulted on, 

such as improved toilets, CCTV and other security measures, better quality and availability of 

bus information and a new enclosed passenger waiting area that provides protection from the 

elements.  

6.2 In addition, a number of consultees raised questions about or made suggestions for features of 

the bus station due to be considered at the detailed design stage. Examples include the nature 

and design of signage in and around the bus station, the type and style of seating provided, 

cycle facilities such as electric bicycle battery charging points and lockers and the potential for 

raising gates to improve pedestrian safety. This feedback will be retained and considered as 

part of the detailed design process. 

6.3 Feedback was also received about matters falling outside the scope of this project. The majority 

of this feedback related to improvements consultees felt should be made to the efficiency, 

frequency and quality of existing bus services that serve Halifax and the surrounding areas.   

6.4 Feedback received from stakeholder and community engagement has resulted in a number of 

key changes to the proposed design. These changes include: 

• Operational improvements for buses, including widening the exit and incorporating lower 

kerbs to enable buses to pass stationary or blocked vehicles, the provision of three 

additional layover bays and signal controls on the bus entrance and exits on Winding Road; 

• Retention of the façade of the listed building and discounting the mezzanine from the 

design; 

• Inclusion of real time information in response to CMBC member suggestions; 

• Relocation of the newsagent in response to the tenant’s suggestion; 

• Subject to funding, a green roof will be incorporated into the design; and  

• Subject to funding, a Changing Places facility has been incorporated into the design and 

will be free to use. The design of the accessible toilet will also be in line with the feedback 

received and it will also be free to use. 

Next steps 

6.5 In advance of construction, temporary arrangements for the operation of the bus station during 

construction will be confirmed and communicated clearly to the public and all other interested 

parties in order to minimise the impact of any disruption. Temporary arrangements will include 

using existing town centre bus stops or, where this is not possible, provision of temporary bus 

stops near the bus station. Works will also be coordinated with the A629 Halifax Town Centre 

project and it is intended that Market Street will remain open until after the Bus Station 

redevelopment is complete. 

71



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 52 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

6.6 If the planning application is to be approved, further engagement and communication with 

stakeholders will be undertaken to determine the final details of the design and to confirm plans 

for the operation of the bus station and associated bus services during construction.  

6.7 The project’s webpage (https://www.yourvoice.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/hbs) will continue to be 

updated as the project progresses.  

72

https://www.yourvoice.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/hbs


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 53 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix A  - Organisations invited to the 

stakeholder and accessibility workshops 

Invites to the Stakeholder workshop on 15 January 2020 were sent to representatives of the 

following organisations: 
 

• Arriva / Yorkshire Tiger 

• Broad Street Plaza 

• Bus station tenants- bus companies 

• Calderdale College 

• Calderdale Licencing  

• Calderdale Royal Hospital  

• Central Library and Archive Reference Group 

• Covea Insurance  

• Dean Clough 

• Environment Agency 

• Eureka! Nursery 

• Eureka! The National Children’s Museum  

• FC Halifax Town 

• First Bus (Yorkshire & Greater Manchester) 

• Halifax Antiquarian Society 

• Halifax Borough Market 

• Halifax Business Improvement District (BID) 

• Halifax Chamber of Commerce (Mid Yorkshire Chamber of Commerce) 

• Halifax Civic Trust 

• Halifax Minster 

• Halifax Swimming Pool/ North Bridge Leisure Centre 

• Halifax Town Development Board 

• Halifax Town Hall / Visit Calderdale 

• Harveys of Halifax 

• Historic England 

• Industrial museum  

• Leeds Beckett University Business Centre 

• Lloyds Banking Group 

• National Express  

• Nestle 

• Network Rail 

• New Sixth Form College (due to open on Northgate House site in 2020) 

• Northern Rail  

• Piece Hall 

• Rastrick High School and Trinity Academy  

• RSA (Northgate House tenants) 

• RSPCA 

• Safer, Cleaner, Greener 

• Sainsbury's  

• Square Chapel Centre for the Arts  

• T.J Walsh / Halifax Bus Company  

• TLC 

73



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 54 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

• Transdev  

• UK Youth Parliament and Youth Council 

• Victoria Theatre 

• West Yorkshire Bus Alliance  

• West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

• West Yorkshire Police 

• Westgate Arcade Shopping Centre 

• Woolshops Shopping Centre 

• WYCA Education Transport Team 

• Yelloway Coaches 

• Yorkshire Ambulance Service  

• Yorkshire Heritage Bus 
 

Invites to the Accessibility Workshop on 19 December 2019 were sent to representatives of the 

following organisations: 

• ACDAF (Accessible Calderdale Disability Accessibility Forum)  

• Age UK Calderdale  

• All Age Disability Services 

• Calderdale Autism Services (CMBC) 

• Calderdale Clinical Commissioning Group 

• Calderdale Forum 50 Plus 

• Calderdale Learning Disabilities Partnership Board 

• Calderdale Self-Advocacy Network  

• Community Learning Disability Team (CMBC)  

• Community Transport Calderdale  

• Guide Dogs  

• Halifax Society for the Blind 

• Kirklees All Age Disability Service 

• Kirklees Visual Impairment Network  

• South Pennine Community Transport  

74



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 55 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix B  - Public consultation leaflet

 

75



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 56 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

76



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 57 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

  

77



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 58 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix C  - Press release issued by WYCA 

on 8 January 2020 

Have your say on plans for new £15.4 million bus station in Halifax 

The redeveloped bus station will be an important transport hub and gateway into 
Halifax town centre, making changing between transport modes simple and 
improving connectivity with near level walking routes to key destinations across the 
town centre, such as Dean Clough, The Piece Hall and the new Halifax Sixth Form 
College. 
 
People are being asked to comment on plans for a new bus station in Halifax, which 
is due to be completed by 2023. 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority and CMBC’s £15.4 million scheme aims to 
deliver a modern, fit for purpose facility that complements the surrounding heritage, 
public realm and urban fabric of Halifax town centre. 

Improving accessibility and safety, proposals include a level and fully enclosed 
passenger concourse with improved facilities that ensure the separation of 
passengers and buses. The concourse would include opportunities for shops and 
cafés, real-time information for buses and nearby train services and charging points 
for electric buses and cycles. 

The redeveloped bus station will be an important transport hub and gateway into 
Halifax town centre, making changing between transport modes simple and 
improving connectivity with near level walking routes to key destinations across the 
town centre, such as Dean Clough, The Piece Hall and the new Halifax Sixth Form 
College. 

From Monday 13 January to Wednesday 12 February, people will be able to 
see the plans and feedback their views online via our Your Voice website. 

There will be two drop-in sessions where people can see the plans, meet the project 
team, ask questions and provide feedback. The details of the sessions are: 

• Tuesday 21 January at Halifax Town Hall from 4pm to 8pm. 
• Saturday 1 February at Halifax Borough Market from 10am to 2pm. 

Following the public drop-in events, people will also have the opportunity to review 
the exhibition boards at Halifax Central Library from Sunday 2 to Wednesday 12 
February 2020. 

78

http://www.yourvoice.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/hbs
http://www.yourvoice.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/hbs


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 59 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Plans for a new Halifax Bus Station were submitted as part of a West Yorkshire 
package to the Department for Transport’s (DfT) competitive Transforming Cities 
Fund bidding process. A funding decision is expected from the DfT in March 2020, 
with all projects needing to be completed by March 2023. 

The Combined Authority plans to use public and stakeholder feedback to help shape 
plans and benchmark user satisfaction with the bus station. The next step for the 
project, which can only progress if the Transforming Cities Fund bid is successful, 
would be to submit a full planning application in March 2020. Subject to plans being 
approved, the Combined Authority intend to start construction of the scheme in 2021. 

Cllr Kim Groves, Chair of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority Transport 
Committee said: “Good services and high-quality facilities that attract more people 
to want to use local buses are key to us accomplishing the Combined Authority’s 
economic and environmental goals by reducing congestion and the CO2 emissions it 
causes. 

“A new bus station in Halifax would help to achieve this as well as providing huge 
support for local job creation. It would underpin new and expanded local businesses, 
learning opportunities, the development of commercial units and housing 
construction. 

“The proposals for the bus station are being considered by the DfT as part of the 
Transforming Cities Fund process with a decision expected in spring of 2020. If our 
bid is successful and the scheme can go ahead, we would have just two years to 
deliver this major scheme, which is why we have carried out development work and 
now want to ensure local people’s views are taking into account as part of the tight 
timescale.”  
   
Cllr Jane Scullion, CMBC’s Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Resources, 
said:  “Good connectivity and effective public transport solutions are essential in 
allowing more people to travel into town and cities quickly and affordably.  The 
Halifax bus station redevelopment will complement other Calderdale Next Chapter 
projects including the transformation of Northgate, just next door, featuring a brand 
new sixth form centre, high quality office space and retail units.   
  
“I would encourage people to get involved and have their say either online or at the 
events, to ensure we can deliver a bus station that meets the needs of existing and 
future passengers.”   

Find out more on our Your Voice website. 

79

http://www.yourvoice.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/hbs


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 60 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix D  - Venues displaying flyers and 

posters advertising the consultation 

• 50+ Centre (Borough Market) 

• Bradford bus station 

• Brighouse bus station  

• Bus station pop-up events 

• Customer First  

• Elland Library (temporary location on Southgate) 

• First buses 

• Halifax bus station 

• Halifax Central Library and Archives 

• Huddersfield bus station 

• Iceland (town centre) 

• Job Centre Plus 

• North Bridge Leisure Centre 

• Orange Box 

• Sainsbury's (town centre) 

• Square Chapel 

• Tesco (town centre) 

• Town Hall 

• Train station information centre 

• Trinity Sixth Form Centre 

• Visitor Centre (Piece Hall) 

• Wilko (town centre) 

80



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 61 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix E  - Bus stops displaying posters 

advertising the consultation  

Street name Town  Number of bus stops 
located on street 
displaying posters 

A Leeds Road Bradford Moor 2 

Acre Street Occupation Road Lindley 1 

Southgate Elland 2 

Backhold Lane Exley 1 

Bankfoot Mytholm Close Hebden Bridge 1 

Bolton Brow  Sowerby Bridge 2 

Boothtown Road Rawson Street North Boothtown 1 

Bradford Road  Thornbury 2 

Bradford Road New St Stanningley 2 

Bradford Road Peckover Dr Bradford Moor 1 

Bradford Road Ruskin Street Pudsey 2 

Burnley Rd  Willow Field 1 

Burnley Road  Friendly 5 

Burnley Road Luddenden Foot 4 

Burnley Road  Mytholmroyd 3 

Burnley Road Trimmingham Lane Pye Nest 1 

Burnley Road Waterloo Terrace Willow Field 2 

Calderdale Royal Hospital Salterhebble 1 

Calderdale Way Elland 2 

Castleford Lane Mill Lane Normanton 1 

Castleford Road  Normanton 3 

Chapel Street Cenotaph Queensbury 1 

Church Stile Ph Sowerby 1 

81



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 62 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Street name Town  Number of bus stops 
located on street 
displaying posters 

Commercial Street Halifax Town Centre 2 

Dawsons Corner Farsley 1 

Dawsons Corner Pudsey 1 

Doncaster Road  Belle Vue 3 

Eastwood Halifax Road Todmorden - Eastwood 2 

Edgerton Road Luther Place Edgerton 1 

Elland Riorges Link Elland Lane Elland 2 

G1 Eastgate Leeds City Centre 1 

G3 Little Horton Lane Bradford City Centre 1 

George Street Halifax Town Centre 4 

Great Horton Rd Westcroft Rd Great Horton 4 

Great Horton Road Bartle Fold Horton 5 

Great Horton Road  Horton Bank Top 2 

Great Horton Road Old Road Horton Bank 1 

H11 Hall Ings Bradford City Centre 1 

H3 The Headrow Leeds City Centre 2 

Halifax Road  Hebden Bridge 5 

Halifax Road Birkby Rd Lindley 2 

Halifax Road  Todmorden 13 

Halifax Road  Edgerton 2 

Halifax Road Roper Lane Queensbury 1 

Halifax Road Stoney Lane Charlestown 1 

Halifax Road Windy Bank Lane Shibden Head 1 

Henconner Lane Stanningley Road Bramley 1 

Highgate Road  Clayton Heights 4 

Huddersfield Road Ainley Top 2 

Huddersfield Road  Brighouse 2 

Huddersfield Road Dryclough Lane Skircoat 5 

82



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 63 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Street name Town  Number of bus stops 
located on street 
displaying posters 

Huddersfield Road Exley Bank Salterhebble 2 

Jepson Lane  Elland 3 

King Cross King Cross 12 

King Edward Street Halifax Town Centre 3 

King Street Church Lane Hebden Bridge 1 

Leeds Road Sharp Lane Robin Hood 1 

Lidget Street  Lindley 2 

Manchester Road Bowling Old Lane Broomfields 4 

Manchester Road Broadway Avenue Marshfields 1 

Manchester Road  Bankfoot 9 

Manchester Road Rooley Lane Truncliffe 1 

Market Street Halifax Town Centre 4 

N2 Market Place Normanton 1 

New Hey Road Acre Street Marsh 3 

New North Road Castlegate Huddersfield 1 

New North Road Highfields Road Edgerton 1 

Odsal Top Truncliffe 1 

Ovenden Road  Ovenden 2 

Pye Nest Road Dorchester Drive Pye Nest 1 

Rochdale Road Green Lane Pye Nest 3 

Rochdale Road Lambert Street West Vale 1 

Roils Head Road Terminus Norton Tower 1 

Rooley Heights Sowerby 1 

Rooley Lane  Bowling 2 

Royal Infirmary Acre Street Lindley 1 

83



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 64 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Street name Town  Number of bus stops 
located on street 
displaying posters 

Sand Bed Bridge Eastwood 1 

Sand Beds Station Road Queensbury 1 

Scarlet Heights Park Lane Queensbury 1 

School Lane School Crescent Illingworth 1 

Skircoat Road  Skircoat 3 

South Street Goulbourne Street Keighley 1 

Sowerby Bridge Sowerby Bridge 2 

Stainland Road Rochdale Road West Vale 1 

Stanningley Bottom Pudsey 1 

Stanningley Road Baptist Way Stanningley 3 

Stanningley Road Baptist Way Swinnow 1 

Stanningley Road  Bramley 7 

Stocks Lane St Peters Avenue Sowerby 1 

The Dusty Miller Ph Mytholmroyd 1 

The Dusty Miller Ph Mytholmroyd 1 

Thornbury Barracks Pudsey 1 

Thornbury Barracks Thonbury 1 

Thorncliffe Street Brian Street Lindley 1 

Todmorden Bus Station Todmorden Town Centre 2 

Town Street  Stanningley 3 

Trinity Street  Huddersfield 2 

Victoria Road Burley Street Elland 1 

W12 Wellington Bridge Street Leeds City Centre 1 

Wakefield Road Angel Row Rothwell Haigh 1 

Wakefield Road  Normanton 5 

Wakefield Road Wood Lane Rothwell 1 

West End Fleet Lane Queensbury 1 

84



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 65 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Street name Town  Number of bus stops 
located on street 
displaying posters 

Westbourne Road  Marsh 4 

Wharf Street Sowerby Bridge 4 

   

 

  

85



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 66 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix F  - Poster used to publicise public 

consultation 

86



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 67 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 
  

87



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 68 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix G  - Organisations emailed about the 

consultation  

• Calderdale Cyclist Touring Club 

• Calderdale Green Party 

• City Connect  

• Copley Business Park 

• Corus Hotels (The Imperial Crown Hotel) 

• Halifax Bus Station 

• Halifax Imperial Wheelers 

• Halifax Rambling & Social Club 

• Living Streets 

• Lowfield Business Park 

• Oakapple developers 

• Orange Box Young People’s Centre 

• Pedalsport Cycling Club 

• Purple Flag 

• Sustrans 

• The Tandem Club-West Yorkshire Group 

• The Tandem Club-West Yorkshire Group 

• WYCA Employment and skills officer 

• WYCA Equalities officer 

• WYCA Head of Assets 

• WYCA Head of Business Support 

• WYCA Head of Communications and Engagement 

• WYCA Head of Customer Services 

• WYCA Head of Economic Policy 

• WYCA Head of Employment and Skills 

• WYCA Head of Finance 

• WYCA Head of HR 

• WYCA Head of ICT Services 

• WYCA Head of Internal Audit 

• WYCA Head of Legal and Governance Services 

• WYCA Head of Mobility Services 

• WYCA Head of Portfolio Management and Appraisal 

• WYCA Head of Procurement  

• WYCA Head of Research & Intelligence 

• WYCA Head of Trade and Investment 

• WYCA Head of Transport Implementation 

• WYCA Head of Transport Policy 

• WYCA Property officer 

• WYCA Transport and highways officer 

88



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 69 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix H  - Examples of social media posts 

shared on WYCA and CMBC’s Facebook and 

Twitter feeds 

 

89



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 70 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

  

90



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 71 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

91



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 72 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix I  - Exhibition boards 

92



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 73 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

  
 

93



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 74 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

  

94



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 75 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

  

95



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 76 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

  

96



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 77 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

  

97



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 78 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

  

98



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 79 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

  

99



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 80 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix J  - Stakeholder workshop summary 

report 

Purpose 

The aim of this workshop was to present developing proposals for the new Halifax bus station, getting 

early feedback from stakeholders to inform the bus station’s detailed design. This document 

summarises the questions raised and feedback and suggestions provided by workshop attendees.  

Questions 

Attendee question  Application Team response 

Where will the temporary stops be 
during construction? 

 There is currently a dedicated team consisting of the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) network manager, the 
CMBC (CMBC) network manager and CMBC as the local 
highways authority working on the plan for temporary stops 
during construction. A key aim will be to minimise disruption, 
and it is expected that this will include some buses continuing 
to operate out of the bus station.  

Will bus services increase as part 
of this project?  

 Bus operators run commercial bus services, and the Combined 
Authority tenders for other services that would not be run 
commercially. The project makes bus travel more attractive and 
provides additional capacity at the bus station to allow 
operators to run more services in the future. 

Will the new bus station 
accommodate coaches? 

 Yes. There are two coach stands proposed and WYCA will 
work with coach operators to accommodate them.  

Is there an opportunity for 
commercial services between the 
two hospital sites? 

 Improving bus routes to the hospitals in not part of this project, 
however there are ongoing discussions between WYCA, the 
bus operators and the NHS Trust regarding routes. Following 
the meeting, a member of the project team introduced the two 
NHS Trust staff to representatives from Arriva/Yorkshire Tiger 
and T J Walsh.  

The entrance at Northgate will 
continue to be the main 
passenger entrance. Woolshops 
have recently undertaken a 
wayfinding consultation and an 
issue that has been identified is 
the lack of signage from the bus 
station to key attractions, such as 
Woolshops, in the town centre. 
Are there plans to address this? 

 Town centre signage is not a part of this project, however the 
new bus station will include signage at the entrance/exit.  

Furthermore, the Halifax Business Improvement District (BID), 
CMBC and the Halifax Town Board are developing a signage 
strategy for Halifax town centre, which will consider this.  

100



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 81 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Attendee question  Application Team response 

Will there be a taxi rank?   The taxi rank area on Wade Street will be improved, providing a 
taxi drop-off facility, which will drop passengers off as close to 
the bus station as possible.  

How will vehicular hazards on 
Wade Street be removed for 
pedestrians travelling to and from 
Woolpack? 

 Wade Street will need to be accessible for loading vehicles and 
services; however, there will be no parking permitted on the 
street, which will be enforced by CMBC.  

The detailed design of the Wade Street pedestrian crossing 
with consider user safety and the crossing will be demarcated 
from the highway.  

   

Feedback  

• New bus station will be a huge improvement for public safety.  

• New bus station will provide an improved interchange.  

• The desire lines to the listed buildings work well and the current visuals represent this better 

than the drawing.  

Suggestions  

Engagement 

• Carry out consultation at the Calderdale Royal Hospital with staff and patients.  

• Engage Halifax youth groups. 

• Conservation Team and Historic England interested in what work will be done around the front 

of the Drivers Accommodation Building and would like to see more detail around this 

particular corner as the design progresses.  

Proposals 

• Woolpack needs to be a more attractive route. There is currently a lot of anti-social behaviour 

here and lots of vehicular movements.  

• Introduce a travel information real time display at the Trinity Sixth Form Centre.  

• Segregation of the pedestrian crossing on Wade Street, either through raised bollards or a 

raised table, to encourage pedestrian use and to stop cars parking there. 

• Different types of mini-buses were noted, especially types with doors behind the wheel, to be 

considered as part of the design.  

• Suggestion to consider new external signage to link users to key town centre attractions, 

coordinating with the efforts of the BID and Halifax Town Board, however town centre signage 

is not a part of this project. 

• Arriva accommodation looks too large for what they will need. Would like the option to have 

their own staff toilets to avoid having to take cash into the public toilets. 

101



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 82 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Other 

Attendees were given the opportunity to take away leaflets for their organisations. Leaflets were 

distributed to:  

• CMBC Voice and Influence Team 

• NHS Trust 

• Industrial Museum 

• Woolshops 

• Halifax Borough Market 

102



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 83 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix K  - Accessibility workshop summary 

report 

Purpose 

The aim of this workshop was to present developing proposals for the new Halifax bus station, getting 

early feedback from accessibility groups to inform the bus station’s detailed design. This document 

summarises the key points raised by workshop attendees. It is split into sections that broadly follow 

the themes in the feedback. 

Issues with existing bus station 

• Toilets are unsuitable and difficult to access. 

• The route from Northgate House is too hilly and the slope of the site itself makes it difficult to 

navigate 

• It is cold, draughty and uncomfortable. 

• It is difficult to interchange with the train station – buses and trains are not coordinated. 

• It is unsafe and scary, especially at night. In addition, there are blind spots and the layout 

makes it difficult to manage and react to incidents. 

• The Travel Centre’s automatic door button doesn’t work. Generally, doors operated by push 

buttons should be avoided.  

• It is awkward to use the drop off area because of the cobbles and the fact it can get very busy. 

There is a need to be able to park next to a kerb or level pavement.  

• Finding the entrance and locating the correct bus stand is a real struggle for the visually 

impaired without a guide dog, in part because the steps and Winding Road entrance are at 

very strange angles.  

• Diagonal crossing (between buses) is not good for the visually impaired, and it is also very 

hard to know how far to go down the concourse as the tactile markers are not consistent 

across stands. 

• The area between bus and stand is too narrow (especially at busy times), which makes 

getting on and off buses very challenging for wheelchair users and the visually impaired.  

• The gates around stands are very dangerous for the visually impaired as sight canes and 

dogs can go under them, causing people to walk into the gates. 

• The ATM located at Stand A is not in a helpful place as it causes people to stand waiting and 

block the bus stand for those with accessibility issues.  

• There are a lot of railings, which can make the journey difficult for wheelchair users.  

• It is difficult to access the bus station because of the number of road crossings. 

Safety and security 

• Safety measures need to be considered from an accessibility perspective. 

• The security measures planned for the new bus station are a great improvement – especially 

in terms of the good visibility provided by the shape of the concourse and the fact that the 

building is entirely enclosed. Automatic doors will also contribute to improved safety. 

103



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 84 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

• Roaming staff would be a good way of enabling vulnerable users to feel more secure during 

busy times. It is also important to have staff available in case someone needs assistance. 

This will be particularly important outside of peak hours as a number of people with 

accessibility requirements try to use the bus station as early as possible to avoid these times.  

• Staff should be trained in how to help people with accessibility issues (it was noted that those 

at Blackpool bus station are excellent). 

• Use non-slip flooring. 

• Include a ‘safe space’, refuge area or quiet room for people with learning difficulties/severe 

anxiety or disabilities (but this would need to be monitored so it is not abused). 

• Close the building at night to deter people from sleeping there. 

• Issue highlighted at Huddersfield bus station: security barriers installed at bays create limited 

turning space, meaning that wheelchair users cannot get onto buses. 

• Any barriers around stands need to be full boards not just gates (to avoid guide dogs/sight 

canes going under them and causing people to walk into to them). 

• Use beacon lights that come on in event of fire/emergency and encourage people towards 

exits (fire alarms have to be visual as well as audible). 

Environment and sustainability 

• Hedgerows and more green space would be good for wildlife.  

• It was noted that the Sainsburys car park is a bird watching spot due to its berry trees and that 

this type of foliage would be good in the bus station.  

• Desire for solar panels – it was noted that these were planned, as well as a green roof and 

green walls. 

• Desire for charging points for electric buses – it was noted that the infrastructure was being 

put in place to enable this. 

Signage 

• Keep signage similar to what is planned for the new rail station to avoid confusion.  

• Include visuals on important signage, including signage for bus routes and bus destinations if 

possible. As part of this, ask local people how they recognise routes, because many worry 

whether they are getting on the right bus. 

• Signage should be large with appropriate colour contrast. Consider best colours for both the 

visually impaired and those with dementia and use one consistent colour for queueing areas 

and another consistent colour for walking areas. Avoid monochromatic colour schemes. 

• Signage should be at eye level, including for wheelchair users (or additional eye level 

additional signs should be added). 

• Where possible, signs should also be in Braille (but it was noted that it should be 

communicated clearly if this is the case). However, it was also noted that repeated usage is 

the best way someone with accessibility requirements will get used to the bus station and that 

other types of signs (e.g. audible) can often be a better alternative to Braille. 

• Any Real Time Information (RTI) displays should have an audio option, as well as options for 

other languages. 

Wayfinding 

• Avoid diagonal crossings and acute angles in pathways. 

104



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 85 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

• The route through the Zion Chapel is a lovely idea. 

• Need to consider ease of getting from one stand to another. 

• Need for wayfinding lines from the surrounding public realm through the bus station itself – 

potentially in the form of tactile and/or high contrast paving. This is needed both on the main 

concourse and at stands to help visually impaired users find the doors. Any tactile markers 

need to be located at consistent points across all stands (as at Huddersfield station). 

• Tactile flooring should be used on road and step edges. 

• Need to be able to easily find out what stand you’re at, potentially through tactile guidance on 

the floor and tactile stand references (not necessarily Braille). Noted an audio button can be 

helpful, but it can be difficult to find the button. 

• Some people prefer talking/audible stands but noted that they need to be robust and well 

maintained if they are to be effective. They are a particularly useful way of advising when bus 

doors are opening and what bus is arriving when. 

• Audible messaging should be linked to an induction loop. Near frequency radio tags would 

also be useful – these make sounds depending on how close to a bus stand you are and can 

be linked to induction loops. 

• Announcements need to be loud and clear, but too many can be distressing for those with 

autism. As a result, unnecessary announcements unrelated to bus travel and safety should be 

avoided. 

• Potential to use Bluetooth beacons to aid wayfinding – Manchester Airport cited as a good 

example of this. This would also be useful during temporary works. There may be potential to 

do a pilot study with ‘Beacons on Buildings’ (Microsoft). 

• Avoid using glass and metal surfaces that reflect light. If glass surfaces are proposed, ensure 

that they are patterned to prevent the visually impaired and/or guide dogs walking into them. 

• It would be good to link to the SignLive app, which provides sign language interpretation on 

demand. Other options for providing this interpretation, and translation into other languages, 

could be explored (e.g. a Skype or conference call hotline). 

Toilets 

• Desire for an accessible changing facility in the new bus station – you can never have too 

many in the town centre. 

• Toilets will be in a more central location, which will be better. 

• Need for a Changing Places toilet as there are none near the bus station. 

• Design of toilets needs to be carefully considered – Square Chapel is a particularly good 

example of accessible toilet design. 

• There should be a ‘flow’ within the toilet – potentially moving right around the room from toilet 

to sink to hand dryer. A problem is that accessible toilets are not designed in a routine way 

and this can make them hard to navigate for visually impaired users. 

• The toilet should be easy to find, and there should be an accessible toilet as well as general 

public toilets. 

• No charging for toilets. 

• Consider use of radar keys. 

105



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 86 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Commercial opportunities 

• Several people like the newsagents in the current bus station and are glad that it is being kept 

in the new design. 

• Would be nice to have external seating for a café.  

• Accessible technology companies may be interested in developing and supplying some of 

their services.  

Site levels 

• The new design is better as there is less need to walk up steep hills. The series of gradual 

gradients proposed to tackle the existing challenging site levels was appreciated. 

• Rochdale bus station a good example of coping with gradient changes. 

• A levelling lift, as at Dean Clough, would be very useful. However, it would be better if any lift 

was slightly further away from steps and bigger than the Dean Clough one. 

Connectivity and interchange 

• It would be good to have a shuttle bus to the rail station, which should be linked in with the 

A629 Phase 2 project. There was also a desire for a town centre shuttle bus that goes around 

the landmarks in the town.  

• Scooter hire/wheelchair hire would be beneficial at the bus station. It was noted that Age UK 

do this in the Woolshops already.  

• Any options to change the existing cobbles to retain the shape but make them flatter for the 

drop off point would be good.  

• The current drop-off area is badly situated and, combined with the slope of the site, makes it 

difficult to change onto a bus. It was noted that in the new bus station the drop off area would 

be next to the Zion Chapel and have a direct route into the building. 

• A bike hub would be good in the town centre, and it was noted that E-bikes are a good option 

for Halifax. Related to this, it would be useful to have cycle changing facilities at or near the 

bus station.  

• All entrances should be ramped (not just stairs). Any ramps need to accommodate people 

who may be pushing a wheelchair.  

• Winding Road is very busy, especially at peak times, and this may affect the flow of buses 

leaving the bus station. 

• Bus stand design needs to accommodate the space needed for a wheelchair user to get onto 

the bus using a ramp. Kerbs need to be designed to ensure ramps can be used to 

board/dismount buses. 

• Level drop kerbs at road edges and walkways. 

• People struggle carrying shopping from Sainsbury’s and wheel chair users find it hard to 

access the C68 bus service. There is potential to work with Sainsbury’s to improve signage 

and ease of use.  

• It would be good to have a link to the Maurice Jagger Community Centre, as a number of 

people with accessibility requirements and the elderly will spend time there.  

• Interactive information points to be accessible to people with impaired vision and for users 

with reading difficulties.  

106



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 87 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Comfort and ease of use 

• New design looks light and airy. In particular, improved heating and reduced draught will be 

welcome. 

• Would like more casual seating, not just at stands. Seating with spaces for wheelchair users 

would also be a good addition. When choosing seating, consider the appropriate height and 

include at least some with arm rests. 

• As far as possible, ensure pavements are broad and flat. 

• Focus on potential new bus station users who are unsure what to do – make it as easy as 

possible for them to get around. 

• It would be good to have an area where dogs can have access to water.  

• It was noted that people with learning difficulties feel much calmer at Huddersfield bus station 

as the little seating areas next each stop mean they can relax knowing they are at the right 

stop. 

• Automatic doors should be programmed to open and close at the same times/frequencies, so 

people know what to expect.  

• Avoid excessively bright lighting and consider the use of diffused lighting. 

Engagement and communication 

• Communication should not just sell the new build, but also explain it so that people can easily 

understand the changes and what that means for them. Any communication should be across 

a range of channels and in a range of formats. 

• Desire to test the bus station out when it is built-- suggested preview event for those with 

accessibility requirements to allow them to familiarise themselves with the site ahead of public 

use. 

• Need to continue engagement throughout the pre-construction period (and during 

construction) to enable details to be discussed. 

• It would be helpful to have a model of the proposed bus station at consultation events for 

those who are visually impaired to able to visualise the plans. It would also be good to have a 

microphone and audio loop for speakers at future consultation events. 

Other  

• Consider the acoustics of the building for the hearing impaired. Can anything be done to 

muffle the sound, like panels or plants? 

• As well as on signage, consider the use of contrasting colours for barriers, doorframes, bins 

and furniture. 

• Healthy Minds should be consulted. 

• Need to be aware of people with hidden disabilities. 

 

107



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 88 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix L  - Consultation survey questions 

Halifax Bus Station Questionnaire  

Section A: Your Views 

1. How important are each of the following facilities or qualities to you in a 
bus station? (Please put a tick in the column that best represents how important 
you feel each one is). 
 

 

2. How satisfied are you with the following at the existing Halifax Bus Station? 
(Please put a tick in the column that best represents how satisfied you are with 
each one). 

 
Very 

unimportant 
Unimportant 

Neither 
important or 
unimportant 

Important 
Very 

important 

Safety and security      

Travel information 
and ticket sales 

     

Ease of access 
and interchange  

     

Comfort      

Seating      

Toilets      

Appearance and 
quality of the 
building  

     

Cleanliness      

Retail units      

 
Very 

unsatisfied 
Unsatisfied Neutral Satisfied 

Very 
satisfied 

Safety and security      

Travel information 
and ticket sales 

     

Ease of access and 
interchange  

     

Comfort      

Seating      

Toilets      

108



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 89 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Please use the space below if you wish to provide any comments on the 
facilities mentioned in the previous question. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. How do you rate our proposals to redevelop Halifax Bus Station? (Please 
put a tick in the box that applies to you). 
 

Very good  

Good  

OK  

Poor   

Very poor  

I don’t know   

 
Please explain your answer. 

 
4. Please use the space below to provide us with any additional comments or 

suggestions you would like us to consider at this stage. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Appearance and 
quality of the building  

     

Cleanliness      

Retail units      

109



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 90 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section B: About you 
 

1. How often do you travel via Halifax Bus Station? (Please put a tick in the box 
that applies to you). 

 

5 or more days a week  

3 or 4 days a week  

1 or 2 days a week  

At least once a fortnight  

At least once a month  

Less frequently  

 
2. How do you usually travel to the bus station? (Please tick all boxes that apply 

to you). 
 

Bus   

Train  

Car  

Walk   

Cycle  

Other (please state)  

 
3. How did you hear about this engagement? (Please tick all boxes that apply to 

you). 
 

From your Local Ward Councillor  

Newspaper / news / radio  

Social media  

Internet  

Real time displays at bus stops  

Email   

Poster / flyer  

110



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 91 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

From family / friends / colleagues  

Other (please state)  

 
4. Do you identify as…? (Please put a tick in the box that applies to you). 

 

Male  

Female  

Other  

Prefer not to say  

 

111



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 92 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

5. What is your age group? (Please put a tick in the box that applies to you). 
 

15 or under   

16-24  

25-29  

30-39  

40-49  

50-59  

60-69  

70-79  

80 or over  

Prefer not to say  

 
6. Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or 

disability which has lasted, or is expected to last at least 12 months? 
(Please put a tick in the box that applies to you). 
 

No  

Yes, limited a little  

Yes, limited a lot  

Prefer not to say  

 
7. What is your postcode? 

 
 
 
 
Future Contact 
We would like to keep in touch with you regarding the outcome of this engagement and 
the future of the Halifax Bus Station Redevelopment. If you would like to be added to our 
mailing list for this project, please tick to confirm that you have read and understood our 
privacy statement (found at the back of this survey) then provide your name and either 
email or postal address below. 
 
Please tick this box to confirm that you have read and understood our privacy notice 
which can be found at the back of this survey:  

 

Name:  

Email:  

Address line 1:  

Address line 2:  

Town / City:  

Postcode: 

Thank you for taking the time to participate in this survey.  
Please return this survey to a member of staff or via post to: 

 

112



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 93 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

Freepost CONSULTATION TEAM (WYCA) 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority's Privacy Policy  
For the purposes of the Data Protection Act (2018) and the General Data Protection Regulations 

(GDPR), the ‘controller’ of the personal data which you provide in the attached form is the West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority (“the Combined Authority”, “we”, “us”) of Wellington House, 40-50 

Wellington St, Leeds LS1 2DE (Tel: 0113 251 7272).  

 

The Combined Authority is registered with the Information Commissioner’s Office with registration 

number ZA051694.  

The Combined Authority is collecting this data and will process it for the purpose of understanding and 

identifying information that is relevant to the development of the Halifax Bus Station Redevelopment.  

 

All questions about your personal data are optional, however, we have asked for this information as we 

recognise that the needs of different customer groups can vary, and we are committed to improving 

transport services for all customers within the region. Other data provided voluntarily will be used to 

target information specific to the subject.  

 

The Combined Authority will share your information with the Borough Council of Calderdale (registered 

with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) with registration number Z7465567) and AECOM 

Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited (ICO registration number Z8781017).  

 

There may be other circumstances in which we may share or use certain information about you, which 

are:  

if we have a legal obligation to do so or if we are required or requested to do so by a competent authority 

such as the police or a court;  

if we need to use or disclose your information to obtain legal advice or in connection with legal 

proceedings;  

if we need to share your information to protect your vital interests if you are unable to give us consent 

or it is unreasonable for us to ask for your consent in the circumstances (e.g. if you are injured).  

We will retain your information for the duration of the consultation phase of the project in accordance 

with our information retention policy and on the expiration of such period we will safely delete it.  

 

Information provided to the Combined Authority will be processed on the basis of consent. As a data 

subject you have a number of rights under the DPA. These include the right to withdraw your consent 

and access the information which we hold about you. In some cases you may have a right to have your 

personal data rectified, erased or restricted, and to object to certain use of your data. For further 

information, please visit www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/footer/privacy-notice-and-cookie-policy. 

 

If you wish to contact us about this privacy statement or to make a request, please use the following 

details:  

 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority Wellington House  

113

http://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/footer/privacy-notice-and-cookie-policy


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 94 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

40-50 Wellington Street  

Leeds, LS1 2DE  

E-Mail: Rebecca.BrookesDPO@westyorks-ca.gov.uk  

Tel: 0113 251 7272  

 

If you are unsatisfied with the manner in which we collect or handle your personal data you have a right 

to make a complaint to the Information Commissioner’s Office. Information about how to make 

complaints can be found on the ICO’s website at https://ico.org.uk  

 

114

mailto:Rebecca.BrookesDPO@westyorks-ca.gov.uk
https://ico.org.uk/


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 95 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix M  - Demographic data and details of 

respondents’ use of Halifax Bus Station  

 

 

Question answered by 220 of 237 respondents  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question answered by 217 of 237 respondents (some respondents selected multiple options) 

 

48

41 39

20 20

52

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

5 or more
days a week

3 or 4 days a
week

1 or 2 days a
week

at least once
a fortnight

Atleast once
a month

less
frequently

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

en
ts

Frequency of travel via Halifax Bus Station

How often do you travel via Halifax Bus Station?

166

19 23

71

6

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

bus car train walk other

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

en
ts

Method of transport to Halifax Bus Station

How do you usually travel to the bus station?

115



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 96 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

  

116



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 97 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

Question answered by 220 of 237 respondents (some respondents selected multiple options) 

 

Question answered by 216 of 237 respondents 

 

12

62

99 96

18

79

92

42 38

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

en
ts

Method heard about consultation

How did you hear about this engagement?

116

96

4

Do you identify as?

Male Female Prefer not to say

117



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 98 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

  

118



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 99 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

 

Question answered by 211 of 237 respondents 

 

Question answered by 213 of 237 respondents

1

21

13

32
29

35

47

28

5

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

15 or
under

16-24 25-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 80 or
over

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

en
ts

Age group

What is your age group?

149

39

15 10

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

No Yes, limited a little Yes limited a lot Prefer not to say

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

en
ts

Impacted by disability which has or is expected to last 12 months or more

Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a 
health problem or disability which has lasted, or is 

expected to last at least 12 months? 

119



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 100 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix N  - Full break down of respondents; views on the importance 

of different facilities and qualities within a bus station 

 

 
Very 

unimportant 
Unimportant 

Neither 

important or 

unimportant 

Important 
Very 

important 

Number who 

answered the 

question 

Safety and security 5% 0% 3% 19% 72% 221 

Travel information 

and ticket sales 

6% 2% 4% 42% 46% 217 

Ease of access and 

interchange  

5% 2% 7% 27% 58% 221 

Comfort 6% 2% 13% 38% 40% 221 

Seating 5% 5% 9% 38% 44% 221 

Toilets 5% 2% 9% 32% 52% 220 

Appearance and 

quality of the building  

5% 5% 18% 37% 34% 220 

Cleanliness 5% 1% 4% 38% 52% 220 

Retail units 13% 18% 33% 26% 11% 217 

120



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 101 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix O - Full break down of respondents; satisfaction with different 

facilities or qualities of the existing bus station  

 Very unsatisfied Unsatisfied Neutral Satisfied Very satisfied 

Number who 

answered the 

question 

Safety and security 17% 27% 29% 22% 6% 218 

Travel information and 

ticket sales 

8% 17% 32% 35% 7% 216 

Ease of access and 

interchange  

21% 22% 25% 27% 6% 216 

Comfort 31% 35% 22% 9% 2% 215 

Seating 33% 35% 17% 12% 3% 219 

Toilets 26% 27% 29% 13% 4% 215 

Appearance and 

quality of the building  

23% 25% 30% 17% 5% 217 

Cleanliness 19% 14% 40% 24% 3% 215 

Retail units 18% 22% 43% 14% 3% 218 

121



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 102 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Appendix P - Questions received via response 

forms, email or the Q&A tool on the Your Voice 

webpage 

Questions from consultation responses 

Topic Question Response 

Funding 

Who is funding this development? Why 

can’t the money be spent on other 

investment? 

The project was included in the 

successful West Yorkshire bid to the 

Department for Transport’s Transforming 

Cities Fund and must be used for this 

purpose. It is not funded by CMBC. The 

fund aims to improve productivity and 

spread prosperity through investment in 

public and sustainable transport in some 

of the largest English city regions.  

Bus station 

facilities - 

CCTV and 

security  

What provision is in place in terms of 

CCTV and security and will they be in 

operation 24 hours a day?  

A single passenger concourse will allow 

for a clear visibility of all passenger areas 

by staff and monitored CCTV during the 

bus station’s opening hours. Security 

staff will also be employed at the bus 

station during its opening hours. 

Bus station 

facilities - 

toilets  

Will toilets be open 24 hours a day? 

Will the toilets cost 20p?  

High quality toilets will be provided within 

the new bus station and will be 

accessible during the bus station’s 

opening hours. These will be accessible 

through a coin operated turnstile & 

access entry system, similar to those in 

Leeds and Castleford bus stations. This 

system will help to deter antisocial 

behaviour within the toilets and generate 

an income which will be used to maintain 

the bus station facilities. An accessible 

toilet and Changing Places facility, which 

will both be free of charge, will also be 

provided in the new bus station.  

122



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 103 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Topic Question Response 

Bus station 

facilities - 

information  

Where will information boards be 

displayed? 

 

Will there will be a customer service 

office? 

RTI will be provided at each bus stand 

and at central locations within the station.  

There will be customer service desk in 

the central concourse. 

Bus station 

facilities - bus 

bays 

Will there be sufficient bus bays in the 

new station? 

Yes. There will be two additional bus 

bays and three additional layover bays as 

part of the project. 

Bus station 

facilities - 

acoustics  

Acoustics are an issue in closed bus 

stations - has this been considered? 

The design of the bus station draws on 

best practice from bus stations across the 

country. The nature and frequency of 

announcements, and subsequent 

impacts on acoustics in the building, will 

be considered in line with strategies 

adopted at other WYCA bus stations.  

Green design 

The proposals say they will be 

appropriate for electrical vehicles but not 

how. Is there provision for electric 

charging points? 

 

Will there be scope for using green 

technologies in the build such as heat 

pumps and solar panels? 

Ducting for electric bus charging will be 

provided as part of the project.  

 

Solar panels are included as part of the 

design, but heat pumps are not.  

Energy 

efficiency 

How far is energy-efficiency incorporated 

into this design in view of this new 21st 

century building in changing climate 

conditions? 

The project includes: 

• The use of environmentally friendly 
building materials; 

• Reduced energy use by introducing 
efficiency measures, including LED 
lights and energy saving glazing; 

• Reduced waste; 

• Recycling; 

• Local energy generation through solar 
panels; and 

• Clean energy opportunities through 
the provision of ducting for charge 
points for electric buses and bikes. 

123



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 104 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Topic Question Response 

Construction 

disruption and 

arrangements 

As the new bus station will be built on the 

same site as the existing station, how will 

construction be achieved without causing 

major disruption to bus travel? 

 

Will the bus station be closed during 

construction? And if so where will people 

get buses from during this time?  

WYCA are currently working with 

CMBC’s Highways and Network 

Management teams to develop plans for 

temporary bus station accommodation, 

bus user facilities and on-street bus stop 

provision to be put in place during the 

construction period of the new bus 

station at Halifax. These temporary work 

plans will be further coordinated and 

finalised with input from bus operator 

partners once funding is secured.  

 

This will also be supported by a 

comprehensive communication strategy 

which will keep bus users, local 

stakeholders and members of public 

informed of the temporary arrangements 

and changes to bus services during the 

works. 

Bus services 

What is being done to improve bus 

services? 

 

Will all buses will be accessed from the 

bus station? 

Improvements to the bus network, routes, 

fares and service reliability are outside 

the scope of the bus station 

redevelopment. In addition, WYCA 

cannot oblige all bus services to travel via 

the bus station. 

Town centre 

stops and 

routes 

Will there be feeder mini buses to bring 

some passengers from the top half of 

town? 

 

Will all bus routes start/finish at the new 

bus station? At present buses for N. 

Halifax leave from King Edward Street? 

 

Will there still be bus stops near Borough 

Market after Market Street 

pedestrianism?  

Feeder mini buses, additional bus 

services and changes to bus routes and 

services are outside the scope of this 

project. It is not the case that all Halifax 

bus routes will start/finish at the bus 

station and alighting for the Borough 

Market will be provided on King Edward 

Street after Market Street is 

pedestrianised as part of CMBC's A629 

Halifax Town Centre project. 

124



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 105 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Topic Question Response 

Link to railway 

station 

Why is there no link with the railway 

station? 

 

How is the new bus station going to be 

linked to rail station? 

Interchange between bus and rail will be 

improved by providing real-time 

information for rail services within the bus 

station. As part of CMBC's A629 Halifax 

Town Centre project, a bus-rail 

interchange will be introduced near the 

rail station, where buses will stop and 

travel directly to the bus station as part of 

the town centre 'bus box' (bus route loop 

around the town centre). See 

www.calderdalenextchapter.co.uk/project

s for more information.  

Railway 

station 

consultation 

Is this consultation and redevelopment 

completely separate from the 

consultation on improving the train 

station approach? 

Yes. Information on any planned 

consultation for the Halifax Rail Station 

improvement project will be available on 

CMBC’s Next Chapter website.  

 

Questions from Your Voice and emails (up to consultation close) 

Question Answer 

Will you be able to provide a Sign Language 
Interpreter for the deaf community in Calderdale 
at Albany Arcade, Halifax Borough Market on 
Saturday 1 February at between 10 am and 2 
pm? It is because that it will give us the chance to 
ask you some questions about improving the new 
bus station and its service. 
 

Thank you for your enquiry. We are currently 
trying to book an interpreter for this event and will 
let you know when this is confirmed. [A Sign 
Language Interpreter was organised for the 
respondent, who attended the Halifax Borough 
Market drop-in event.  

The railway station (due to also be improved) is 
not mentioned. This is the key bit of 'connectivity' 
missing from the bus station proposals. Surely 
the WY team has some plans to overcome the 
severe dislocation between the two main 
transport modes? What are the plans to rectify 
this dislocation? 

Interchange between bus and rail will be 
improved by providing real-time information for 
rail services within the bus station. As part of 
CMBC's A629 Halifax Town Centre project, a 
bus-rail interchange will be introduced near the 
rail station, where buses will stop and travel 
directly to the bus station as part of the town 
centre 'bus box' (bus route loop around the town 
centre). See 
www.calderdalenextchapter.co.uk/projects for 
more information.   

125

http://www.calderdalenextchapter.co.uk/projects
http://www.calderdalenextchapter.co.uk/projects


Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 106 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Thanks for pointing out that there are proposals 
for improving connections by bus, as part of the 
Town Centre project. This does not bring the two 
stations together, of course, and I suspect bus 
services, although diverted near the rail station 
by the new loop, will be infrequent.  
 
I will probably continue with the ten-minute slog 
between the stations, the first part of which, at 
least, looks like being made safer and more 
pleasant by the Eastern Gateway/ Piece Gardens 
plans. I could not see a pedestrian movement 
plan in the TC project document, although there 
is one for cycling, which is positive.  
 
One of the issues with walking between the two 
stations is the very busy (with shopping and Post 
Office traffic) T junction of Gaol Lane, with no 
safe pedestrian provision. Is anyone developing 
proposals to improve this pedestrian connection? 

There will be frequent buses serving the rail 
station and continuing onto the bus station, via 
the proposed bus stops on Alfred Street East 
(adjacent to the Hughes Corporation building) 
and Horton Street, as buses re-route to follow the 
bus loop. However, the number of buses 
travelling from the bus station to the rail station 
are expected to be lower given the anti-clockwise 
routing pattern which buses will take around the 
town centre. West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
will continue to work with bus operators to 
maximise the bi-directional connectivity of the two 
stations. 
 
The Halifax Bus Station project will introduce the 
following connectivity improvements between the 
two stations:  
 
• The project will deliver a new pedestrian 
entrance through the Sion Chapel that will 
connect to an improved level pedestrian route via 
Woolpack to the Woolshops, allowing access 
through the Piece Hall and onto the rail station, 
via the Eastern Gateway. 
• The public realm from the entrance to Wade 
Street and the bus station will also be improved, 
which will improve the Wade Street/Winding 
Road route between the bus station and rail 
station. 
• New signage to the rail station will be 
introduced at the bus station. 
• Connectivity between rail and bus will be further 
complemented by the provision of real time rail 
information displays within the redeveloped bus 
station.  

The A629 Halifax Town Centre project will 
introduce the following connectivity 
improvements between the two stations:  
• The Market Street/Horton Street route will be 
improved by the pedestrianisation of Market 
Street. 
• Past the point of the entrance to the Woolshops 
car park, an enforced bus gate will be introduced 
on Charles Street between the junctions of 
Causeway and King Street. This means that the 
number of vehicles passing through Winding 
Road/Smithy Street outside of Gaol Street will be 
reduced to town centre access, with through 
traffic taking a separate route.  

126



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 107 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Having a new bus station is purely a vanity 
project. A refurbished and safer bus station, 
which would be much cheaper (approx £10m 
less!) should be the way forward and focus 
spending money on improving bus services and 
corridors to the North and East of the Borough. 
Why is a nice terminal being pursued when the 
important thing is better journeys to and from it? I 
can only assume this is to reduce liabilities to the 
Combined Authority as the owner and not to 
actually offer better public transport to residents. 
If we can’t get this right there is no need for an 
improved bus station as bus patronage will 
continue to decline and no-one will be using the 
new bus station. Providing a visualisation of the 
bus station from Horton Street/Broad Street, 
where 95% of users will access it from would be 
much more useful than imagery from Jail 
Lane/Sainsbury's side. 
  

The Combined Authority is working with bus 
operators with the aim of improving all elements 
of the bus journey. Key objectives of this project 
are to make travel by bus more attractive, 
improve customer safety and security, and to 
allow access for all. The existing bus station does 
not meet modern standards, does not provide a 
welcoming environment, and can make it difficult 
for some members of the public to travel by bus. 

Not really a question- more of an observation- 
Quickly looking through the initial proposals for 
consultation- I have no idea where the scheme is 
proposed- perhaps a simple site plan would of 
achieved a great deal rather than the expensive 
3D modelling to Woo the customers. One also 
assumes the new development will be linked 
somehow to the railway station- Transport Hub! 
or would this not be common sense! 
  

The proposed new bus station would be built on 
the site of the existing bus station. CMBC is 
seeking to improve the link between the bus and 
rail stations as a part of their A629 Phase 2 (town 
centre) project. Architects now use 3D models 
routinely as part of their design process, and the 
images presented have not been commissioned 
separately. 

The bus companies are all in private ownership 
and legislation was passed a few years ago to 
actively prevent bus ownership from coming back 
under local government control. Will taxpayer 
funds be used simply to create a benefit for 
private companies to enjoy? I'm concerned to 
ensure that the bus station does not become a 
white elephant and that there will still be sufficient 
public transport services once it is complete to 
make it a worthwhile development for the area. 
For instance, if the private bus company does not 
wish to run a particular route or makes it so 
infrequent as to be fairly useless in practice, does 
the council have any leverage in this respect? 
Bus services have just been cut from my local 
bus timetable, and it's difficult to see how this 
squares with the "predicted growth in travel" (can 
you cite the source please?) mentioned in your 
proposal. NB "Travel" is not necessarily the same 
as "public transport". Finally, given that there are 
so many empty retail outlets all around Halifax, is 
it either necessary or advisable to create further 
retail space in the proposed bus station?  

The West Yorkshire Transport Strategy sets out a 
number of actions to that seek to grow bus 
patronage over the coming years. There are 
many developments taking place in Halifax, such 
as the new 6th form college adjacent to the bus 
station, that are likely to increase bus use. It is 
hoped that the new bus station will help to grow 
patronage across Halifax by creating a more 
attractive environment for passengers. More 
passengers travelling will make services more 
commercially viable which we hope will lead to 
additional services and enhanced frequencies. 
 
Whilst we appreciate your concerns regarding the 
retail spaces, our property advisors have 
confirmed that we are providing an attractive 
opportunity for newsagent and café.  

127



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 108 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

Will this new bas station be a closed building or 
open hall? Will this have a prayer room? 

The new bus station will be a fully enclosed 
concourse building which will feature automatic 
doors at the entrances and at each of the bus 
stands, similar to other bus stations in West 
Yorkshire such as Castleford Bus Station.  
 
The proposed Halifax bus station design does not 
currently include a prayer room. However, this 
suggestion will be considered by the design 
team.  

As others have mentioned. A clearer idea of how 
the Bus Station is supposed to look in 
conjunction with other nearby buildings would be 
better than the 3D model which looking at is hard 
to visualise. Could there be at least names of 
buildings and nearby roads. My other concerns is 
why there is the need for more retail businesses. 
There are already far too many empty shops in 
the town and Market. The Market in particular is 
now looking in a sorry state with the amount of 
empty stalls in it.  

Thank you for your comments which will be 
considered in the development of future 
visualisations.  
 
Whilst we appreciate your concerns regarding the 
retail spaces, our property advisors have 
confirmed that we are providing an attractive 
opportunity for newsagent and café.  

In relation to an earlier question asked by 
‘Straysider’ you have stated in response "As part 
of CMBC's A629 Halifax Town Centre project, a 
bus-rail interchange will be introduced near the 
rail station", is this bus rail interchange an actual 
interchange like the 5 stand facility that was 
previously proposed in 2016 and showcased at 
the public consultation event held on the 23rd 
May 2016 at the Halifax Minster into the ‘Halifax 
Town Centre project’. 
https://www.flickr.com/photos/146353097@N07/a
lbums/72157712775555882   

The rail-bus interchange which is proposed as 
part of the A629 Halifax town centre project will 
now be in the form of high quality on-street bus 
stops opposite Halifax Rail Station. A bespoke 
off-road rail bus interchange building was 
originally considered by CMBC during the early 
stages of the A629 Halifax town centre project 
but was ruled out in favour of on-street bus stop 
facilities. This was in light of feedback received 
from key stakeholders and bus operators.  

I am concerned as to how you arrived at the 
figure of 15,000 users for the bus station. I asked 
one of your representatives at the meeting at 
Halifax town hall but he was unable to give me an 
explanation as to how it is calculated and who is 
included in it. It seems very high to me and 
makes me wonder if it has been inflated to justify 
the high level of expenditure. Please let me have 
an explanation of the number and the contact 
details for the financial backers of the project to 
ensure they also investigate it. 

The number of reported daily users at Halifax bus 
station has not been inflated. It is based on 
typical observations and commissioned counts at 
the pedestrian entry points into Halifax bus 
station which have used standard industry data 
collection methods. It is worth noting that this 
represents a combination of both bus users and 
non-bus users (i.e. those only using the facilities 
within the bus station such as the Travel Centre, 
newsagent and toilets and not making an onward 
journey by bus). The proposal for the new bus 
station in Halifax is part of a competitive bid for 
Transforming Cities Funding from the 
Department for Transport who are currently 
reviewing all of the material and supporting data 
within the bid.   

How can we access the bus station safely  The pedestrian entry points into Halifax bus 
station will link onto busy, safe walking routes 
used by bus users, and which better connect with 

128



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 109 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

nearby places of interest within the town centre 
such as Wool Shops and Dean Clough. The 
proposed design includes four entrances: 1) a 
south west entrance onto Wade Street which 
faces in the direction of Market Street; 2) a new 
southern entrance through the Zion Chapel 
building which faces in the direction of Woolpack 
for onward journeys to Wool Shops and The 
Piece Hall; 3) a new eastern side entrance to 
provide connectivity with Winding Road and 
Sainsburys; and 4) a northern entrance which will 
feature a zebra crossing within the bus station 
site for connections to places to the north of the 
town centre such as Dean Clough.   

What provisions are in place for travel to Halifax 
should this development go in to the building 
stage?  

The Combined Authority are currently working 
with CMBC’s Highways and Network 
Management teams to develop plans for 
temporary bus station accommodation, bus user 
facilities and on-street bus stop provision to be 
put in place during the construction period of the 
new bus station at Halifax. These temporary work 
plans will be further coordinated and finalised 
with input from our bus operator partners once 
the necessary Transforming Cities funding from 
Government is secured. These will also be 
supported by a comprehensive communication 
strategy which will keep bus users, local 
stakeholders and members of public informed of 
the temporary arrangements and changes to bus 
services during the works.  

Why not redevelop the site for retail and use the 
Timeform/Ex-Dews garage site for a new bus 
station? That way extra retail and a bus station 
could be delivered for Halifax. 

Compared to the Transform/Ex Dews garage 
site, the current bus station location offers better 
convenience and connectivity for bus users to 
key places of interest within the town centre 
including the new Sixth Form College, Wool 
Shops, Piece Hall, Halifax Borough Market and 
Market Street. Opportunities and schemes which 
deliver further commercial and retail development 
across Halifax town centre are currently being 
explored by CMBC as part of the delivery of the 
Halifax Town Centre Delivery Plan. It is worth 
noting that as part of the conditions of the 
Government’s Transforming Cities Funding, 
which is being sought to fund the delivery of the 
Halifax bus station project, all projects within the 
bid need to be completed by March 2023. This 
deadline therefore precludes any opportunities 
for investigating alternative locations around 
Halifax town centre for a new bus station, and 
undertaking the necessary early scheme 
development and design work.   

Thank you for your reply to my question on bus 
station users. For clarification would a person 
who arrives on a bus and leaves the bus station 

Past surveys which have been undertaken at 
Halifax bus station to gauge daily usage are 
based on observed footfall movements, rather 

129



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 110 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

then departs on a bus later in the day be counted 
as one user or two users? Would a person who 
arrives on a bus and catches another bus without 
leaving the bus station even be counted as a 
user? I walk through the bus station on my way to 
Sainsbury's, would I be counted as a user both 
coming in and again going out and again when I 
return making a possible four users? It seems 
impossible to me for an accurate figure to be 
arrived at. Frankly I simply do not believe that a 
daily average of 15,000 individual people use the 
bus station. Many people use the bus stops 
around town which are much more convenient.  

than the movements of individual bus station 
users. These are typically collected over a 12-
hour period (07.00 – 19.00) at the entry points 
into Halifax bus station which record observed 
entry and exit movements. The Combined 
Authority supplements footfall counts with bus 
patronage data which is kindly supplied to us by 
our bus operator partners. Combined this data 
helps to give us with an estimate of total bus 
station usage across our bus stations. The 
supporting bus patronage data will also help us to 
capture bus-to-bus movements within bus 
stations which may not otherwise be captured 
through counts undertaken on the entry points.  

1. Will there be (free) toilets included within the 
new bus station. 2. Will SECURE Cycle parking 
be provided? 

High quality toilets will be provided within the new 
bus station. These will be accessible through a 
coin operated turnstile & access entry system, 
similar to those in Leeds and Castleford bus 
stations. This system will help to deter antisocial 
behaviour within the toilets and generate an 
income which will be used to maintain the bus 
station facilities. An accessible toilet and 
changing places facility which will both be free of 
charge will also be provided in the new bus 
station.  
 
Secure cycle parking will be provided in the new 
bus station.  

Will there be a warm cafe, seating, toilets etc, as 
there should be in a civilised country. Even the 
old bus station situated above what was the 
Odeon cinema had a good cafe that provided hot 
meals.   

Yes, the new bus station design will incorporate 
high quality welcoming facilities which will include 
toilets, a newsagent and café.  

Hello, I can’t find any information about improving 
the connection with the railway station. It seems 
like a missed opportunity to co-locate bus and rail 
so that people can connect from one to the other. 
Halifax is good at getting people from the station 
to the Piece Hall - what about between the bus 
and rail stations?  
 
Currently we see a lot of people getting taxis or 
being picked up on the railway station forecourt 
which seems like a lot of cars on the roads and a 
missed audience for bus companies. Thanks! 

The Halifax Bus Station project will introduce the 
following connectivity improvements to Halifax 
Rail Station:  
 
• The project will deliver a new pedestrian 
entrance through the Sion Chapel that will 
connect to an improved level pedestrian route via 
Woolpack to the Wool Shops, allowing access 
through the Piece Hall and onto the rail station, 
via the Eastern Gateway. 
• The public realm from the entrance to Wade 
Street and the bus station will also be improved, 
which will improve the Wade Street/Winding 
Road route between the bus station and rail 
station. 
• New signage to the rail station will be 
introduced at the bus station. 
• Connectivity between rail and bus will be further 
complemented by the provision of real time rail 

130



Halifax Bus Station redevelopment Statement of Community Involvement 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ERRO
R! 

UNKN
OWN 
DOCU
MENT 
PROP
ERTY 
NAME. 

 

 

March 2020 AECOMERROR! UNKNOWN 
DOCUMENT PROPERTY 

NAME. 

Page | 111 Error! Unknown document 
property name. 

 

information displays within the redeveloped bus 
station.  
 
The A629 Halifax Town Centre project which is 
being developed by CMBC will introduce the 
following connectivity improvements between the 
two stations:  
• As part of the bus loop proposals there will be 
frequent buses serving the rail station and 
continuing onto the bus station, via the proposed 
bus stops on Alfred Street East (adjacent to the 
Hughes Corporation building) and Horton Street, 
as buses re-route to follow the bus loop. 
However, the number of buses travelling from the 
bus station to the rail station are expected to be 
lower given the anti-clockwise routing pattern 
which buses will take around the town centre. 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority will continue 
to work with bus operators to maximise the bi-
directional connectivity of the two stations. 
• The Market Street/Horton Street route will be 
improved by the pedestrianisation of Market 
Street. 
• Past the point of the entrance to the Wool 
Shops car park, an enforced bus gate will be 
introduced on Charles Street between the 
junctions of Causeway and King Street. This 
means that the number of vehicles passing 
through Winding Road/Smithy Street outside of 
Gaol Street will be reduced to town centre 
access, with through traffic taking a separate 
route. 

Where exactly is the new bus station going to be The new bus station will be on the site of the 
existing bus station, which will include the 
existing entrance points as well as new entrances 
from Winding Road and Woolpack. 

I use the bus station frequently for work, as I 
travel from Mytholmroyd to Stainland every day. 
During the winter it is cold. Will the new bus 
station be heated in some way, hopefully using 
renewable enrgy sources?  

The project aims to deliver a transformational bus 
station which is fully enclosed, well-lit and more 
pleasant for bus station users to use compared to 
the existing bus station. The proposed Halifax 
bus station design by its nature will be self-
heated like our other bus stations and will 
incorporate certain features which maximise 
insulation within the building, such as high quality 
glazing and ventilation controls. 

 

131



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report to: Transport and Infrastructure Scrutiny Committee 

Date:   9 March 2023 

Subject:   Freight: Rail and Waterways 

Director: Dave Haskins, Transport Policy and Delivery (Interim) 

Author: Clare Linton, Policy Officer (Transport)  
Chris Moses, CityConnect Programme Co-ordinator 

 
 
1. Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 This report seeks to inform the committee of Combined Authority activity in 

respect of rail and waterways freight, arising from previous questions raised by 
Scrutiny Committee members. 

 
2. Information 
 

The Combined Authority’s work on freight so far: 

2.1 As part of WYCA’s Rail Strategy there has been an ongoing focus on rail freight. 
This includes a study commissioned to look at freight movements in the region 
and the potential for modal shift to rail. The forthcoming rail strategy, which will 
sit beneath Local Transport Plan 4, will set out the potential for rail freight modal 
shift in West Yorkshire.  

2.2 Officers have been active participants in the Transport for the North Freight and 
Logistics Working Group over recent years, to input into the work taking place 
at a pan-Northern level, including feeding into TfN’s Freight and Logistics 
Strategy. 

2.3 Initial scoping work is underway for our freight policy work, which will lead to a 
daughter document of the new local transport plan (LTP4) and will help support 
the delivery of the WY Climate and Environment Plan. This was taken to 
Transport Task Group in December 2022. The paper summarised how the 
strategy will help to accelerate decarbonisation of the freight and logistics 
sectors in West Yorkshire, alongside our work on hydrogen. Opportunities for 
last mile innovation and active travel for freight will also be explored as part of 
the Shared Transport and Active Travel Strategies. There will likely be a greater 
consideration and analysis of freight in the new LTP, particularly with the 
expected focus on quantified carbon reductions. 

133

Agenda Item 8



  

Challenges moving freight to rail and water 

2.4 There are a number of challenges associated with moving more freight to rail 
and water. These include, but are not limited to: 

• Making the economic case and attracting funding 
• For rail – capacity on the lines 
• Site identification for freight interchange – for both rail and water 
• Road freight costs are lower (road freight doesn’t pay for all the negative 

externalities associated with it (carbon emissions, air pollution, road safety, 
road maintenance etc.)) 

• Capability of waterway infrastructure (locks etc…) to deal with proposed 
volumes of freight to be transported (and to handle year on year increases) 

• Interest from freight operators 
 

How much freight is there in the region and what are the main routes? 
 

2.5 Data taken from the Freight Study Baseline report – conducted for the 
Rail Strategy: 

 
2.6 Data was produced in 2017 for the Leeds City Region and 10 districts which 

used commodity codes and industrial floorspace to estimate the volume of 
international imports and exports in tonnes. The estimates suggested that in 
2015 some 2.8 million tonnes of exports (1.1m tonnes being mainly 
manufactured goods) and 7.3 million tonnes of imports (1.4m tonnes in food and 
live animals, 1.8m in crude materials excluding fuel and 2.1m tonnes in 
manufactured goods) were made. 

 
2.7 The wider Yorkshire & Humberside region is home to 5.5 million people, some 

8.5% of the population of the UK, but generates 157 million tonnes of freight on 
road haulage, around 11% of the UK total, traffic. and 65 million sq ft of 
warehousing, 15% of total floorspace in England. 

 
2.8 A report by MDST suggested that the WYCA (Leeds City Region) accounted for 

130 million tonnes of freight lifted in 2014, of which 44 million tonnes (33%) 
stayed within the region, the balance being to and from the rest of the Yorkshire 
& Humberside region (22%) and the rest of GB (45%). 

 
2.9 Rail freight traffic data was obtained for a week in March 2022 across all the rail 

routes crossing to and from the WYCA area. 106 loaded trains operated to and 
from the WYCA area accounted for an estimated 81,000 tonnes of freight, the 
equivalent of 3,799 articulated HGV loads and associated trips, the latter will be 
higher when taking account of additional empty trips prior to collection of the 
load and following its delivery (around 30% of HGV mileage involves empty 
running). The image below shows the key rail freight routes in West Yorkshire: 

134



 
 
Background to Leeds Inland Port scheme and why it was cancelled – and 
if there is a possibility of continuing it, or other work on use of 
waterways to manage freight? 

 
2.10 The Leeds Inland Port scheme was originally proposed by the Canal and River 

Trust (CRT) in early 2018. It was intended that the scheme would deliver a new 
wharf facility at Stourton in Leeds to enable the transportation of non-perishable 
freight such as aggregates, timber, oil and steel from the Humber estuary into 
Leeds to support construction projects in and around the city centre such as 
Leeds South Bank regeneration and High Speed 2. 

 
2.11 The outputs, benefits and inclusive growth implications for the scheme at that 

point were set out as: 
 

• One new freight facility for the city of Leeds that would move 200,000 
tonnes of freight from road to water after year one, resulting in reduced 
road congestion 

• Reduce carbon emissions from road vehicles by 100 tonnes by the 
end of year three resulting in improved air quality for the Leeds City 
Region 

• Create up to 16 jobs, safeguard three jobs, and assist 25 businesses, 
thereby supporting economic growth in the region 

 
2.12 The total project delivery costs were estimated at £3.37 million of which the 

West Yorkshire Combined Authority contribution was proposed to be £3.17 
million (94% of total project costs) with £200,000 match funding from CRT. 

135



 
2.13 The project had a strong fit with the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) and 

Transport Strategy and would deliver against SEP priorities 1, 2, 3, and 4 to 
grow business, create better jobs and deliver infrastructure for growth. 
 

2.14 Approval was given at West Yorkshire Combined Authority in June 2018 for: 
• Work to commence on activity 3 (outline business case) 
• An indicative approval to the Combined Authority’s contribution of £3.17 

million, to be funded through over-programming against the Local Growth 
Fund 

 
2.15 During its development the scheme encountered problems/issues which 

ultimately resulted in funding for the scheme being withdrawn in late 2022. 
These included: 
 

• The scheme proposal had changed markedly from what was originally 
set out in the draft Full Business Case. The latest proposal was for a 
concrete batching plant which would require materials to be brought in 
by water and, crucially, by road as opposed to all being by water as was 
the aspiration. This could have had detrimental carbon impacts and 
potentially would not align with the Combined Authority’s Strategic 
Objectives. 

• As stated above, the indicative approval had a contribution from the CA 
of £3.17m from the Transport Fund, with a total project value of £3.37m, 
with the CRT meeting the £200k balance. The CRT confirmed latest 
costs for the proposed scheme at £4.35m. This remains greater than the 
original grant value of £3.17m, and with no other funding streams 
identified, a funding shortfall of around £1m remained. 

 
2.16 At the time of scheme/funding withdrawal, planning approval had not been 

granted. 
 

2.17 All development activity has been funded by CRT who still believe that an Inland 
Port in Leeds is feasible and would benefit the area and the freight industry. 
CRT continue to develop the scheme seeking alternative funding sources and 
are in ongoing dialogue with Leeds City Council planning department and 
industry colleagues/stakeholders. 

 
2.18 The Leeds Inland Port project was considered as part of the inflation review 

which took place in December 2022.  Working together with CRT, it was decided 
that this project would be pipelined for alternative funding .  During this time, 
CRT will also take the opportunity to review the scope and financial options for 
the project for the future.  

2.19 Information on the inflation review, which was approved at CA committee in 
December 2022, can be found here (Public Pack)Agenda Document for Transport 
Committee, 14/12/2022 14:00 (moderngov.co.uk) 

 
 
 

136

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwestyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fg1211%2FPublic%2520reports%2520pack%252014th-Dec-2022%252014.00%2520Transport%2520Committee.pdf%3FT%3D10&data=05%7C01%7C%7Cb88a679aeb414b5c52be08db19a27262%7C34e93bfcee664345a4fe805b67e480c0%7C0%7C0%7C638131957709460508%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=W11zSYxIjK5XXwcZZG%2BobKQMfS9D%2BfYNrRzGRmxbXTI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwestyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fg1211%2FPublic%2520reports%2520pack%252014th-Dec-2022%252014.00%2520Transport%2520Committee.pdf%3FT%3D10&data=05%7C01%7C%7Cb88a679aeb414b5c52be08db19a27262%7C34e93bfcee664345a4fe805b67e480c0%7C0%7C0%7C638131957709460508%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=W11zSYxIjK5XXwcZZG%2BobKQMfS9D%2BfYNrRzGRmxbXTI%3D&reserved=0


3.  Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications 
 
3.1 There are no climate emergency implications directly arising from this report. 
 
4. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
4.1 There are no inclusive growth implications directly arising from this report. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 
7. Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. 
 
8. External Consultees 
 
8.1 No external consultations have been undertaken. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 That the committee notes the report and provides any feedback and 

comments.   
 
10. Background Documents 
 

None. 
 
11. Appendices 
 

None. 

137



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report to: Transport and Infrastructure Scrutiny Committee 

Date:   9 March 2023 

Subject:   Affordable Housing 

Director: Liz Hunter, Director of Policing, Environment and Place 

Author: Rebecca Greenwood, Head of Housing 

 
 
1. Purpose of this Report 
 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on progress towards the 

Mayoral pledge to deliver 5000 sustainable and affordable homes. 
 
2. Information 
 

Background 
 

2.1 The Mayor has set a headline pledge to deliver 5000 affordable and sustainable 
homes. The pledge is delivered across several workstreams led by the Combined 
Authority, Local Authorities and our partners. It is important to note that the statutory 
duties regarding housing provision are the responsibility of Local Planning Authorities. 
Therefore the Combined Authority’s role is to support our Local Authority partners in 
delivering housing that meets the needs of people and communities in the region. 

 
2.2 The Combined Authority monitors the delivery of affordable housing on a biannual 

basis. As well as monitoring past delivery, this includes projecting the affordable 
housing supply pipeline where possible, however it is noted that pipeline supply is 
challenging to forecast, particularly in terms of S106 affordable housing delivery that 
is subject to planning conditions.   
 
Past delivery trends 

 
2.3 The Combined Authority has published the Leeds City Region Housing Annual 

Monitoring report in December each year which includes collecting data from each of 
the Local Authorities on the gross number of affordable homes delivered. The most 
recent report was published in December 2022. The chart below shows the delivery 
of affordable housing in West Yorkshire over the last five years. 

 

139

Agenda Item 9



 
 

 
 
 
2.4 West Yorkshire has experienced a gradual increase in the delivery of affordable 

homes in the region, with the exception of 2020/21 as a direct result of the Covid-19 
pandemic and subsequent lockdown periods leading to significant construction 
delays. Whilst delivery in 2021/22 shows affordable housing completions returning 
towards pre-pandemic levels, it also highlights that further work is required to 
increase affordable housing supply.  

 
Affordable housing pipeline 

 
2.5 The West Yorkshire Housing Partnership (WYHP) was established in October 2020. 

It was created to provide a single point of access for all social housing related policy 
and delivery in the devolved West Yorkshire region.  WYHP has 14 members – 12 
housing associations and two stock holding Local Authorities – Leeds and Kirklees. It 
is important to note that WYHP does not represent all Housing Associations that are 
active across the region. As an independent body, it is at the discretion of WYHP and 
individual organisations if they wish to join the partnership.   

 
2.6 The WYHP provide biannual updates on affordable housing supply and delivery. In 

addition, Homes England supply the Combined Authority with a biannual update on 
the number of affordable homes they expect to be delivered through their Strategic 
Partnership (SP) and Affordable Homes Programme (AHP) funds.  

 
2.7 As WYHP do not represent all developing Housing Associations in the region, it is not 

possible to provide the pipeline for organisations that are not members. In addition, 
Homes England only monitor the pipeline for homes that will be delivered using SP or 
AHP funding. This means that it is particularly challenging to predict Section 106 
affordable housing delivery as this is negotiated through the planning process based 
on viability. Therefore, the forecast could increase or decrease over the period.  

 
2.8 The figures are complex to monitor and partners are highlighting the current 

economic pressures they experiencing are a serious risk to delivery which have 
recently intensified in the context of inflation, supply chain and economic uncertainty. 

840

1,195
1,291

935

1,202

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Bradford Calderdale Kirklees Leeds Wakefield West Yorkshire

West Yorkshire Affordable Housing Delivery 2017/18 to 
2021/22

140



 
 
2.9 The next round of monitoring will be taking place in March giving an up-to-date 

projection for delivery against the Mayoral target.   
 

Risks to delivery 
 
2.10 The pipeline highlights the challenges associated with delivering the Mayoral housing 

pledge and the difficulty in providing accurate pipeline forecasts. This is perpetuated 
by significant delivery risks, particularly in the current economic climate and market 
volatility. The key risks for the Committee to take note of include; 

 
• Construction costs are rising both due to continuing supply issues and 

inflation leading some schemes, where viability was already a concern 
becoming increasingly challenging and unviable for developers to take 
forward. 
 

• Construction companies are unable to hold tender prices due to volatility in 
prices impacting on tendering processes and certainty of costs. 
 

• Rising interest rates impacting the cost of development borrowing. 
 

• Appetite and ability of public to purchase/secure mortgages. 
 

• Some evidence is beginning to show some developers/landowners are 
marketing sites for sale rather than developing.  
 

• Planning authorities are under-resourced which leads to some delays in 
decision making delaying decision making subsequently having an impact 
upon starts on site. 

 
• The 7% cap on social housing annual rent increases, which is significantly 

below current levels of inflation, mean that some providers may need to 
review their growth plans and this may impact their ability to raise finance to 
deliver the current projected funds. 

 
2.11 Whilst the risks highlighted are out of the Combined Authorities direct control, work is 

ongoing to mitigate risks where possible through continuous engagement with Local 
Authority partners and Homes England as well as with private partners such as the 
WYHP. In addition, Combined Authority programmes as described below are seeking 
to maximise affordable housing outputs where possible and provide technical advice 
across a range of pipeline sites to estimate costs and viability. Whilst this is ever 
changing in a turbulent market, this is helping to provide up to date figures where 
possible.  

 
Combined Authority Workstreams 
 

2.12 There are several Combined Authority workstreams seeking to assist partners in 
maintaining their affordable housing delivery pipelines and working with Local 
Authorities to maximise S106 contributions where it is viable to do so. An overview of 
these workstreams is provided below; 

 
 Housing Pipeline Revenue Fund (HPRF) 
 

Overview 

141



 
 
2.13 The Combined Authority secured £3.2m of revenue funding through the West 

Yorkshire Devolution Deal. The funding is to develop projects within the housing 
pipeline from concept to feasibility, preparing projects for investment and delivery. 
The programme was endorsed by the Investment Committee on 8th June 2021 and 
approved by the Combined Authority on 29th July 2022. 
  

2.14 There are four broad areas of work that are supported by the funding as follows; 
regional resource and capacity, technical advice and support, local resource building 
and programme management. A prioritisation exercise was carried out at the outset 
of the programme, although pipeline sites are subject to planning approvals, sites 
with a higher potential or commitment from partners to deliver affordable homes were 
given higher priority.  

 
 Progress to date 
 
2.15 The HPRF programme has provided direct support to Local Authorities to add much 

needed resource and capacity to develop pipeline sites. The programme has 
supported over 64 projects helping to progress sites that will deliver over 20,000 
homes of which at least 3,000 are expected to be affordable (however it is expected 
this will increase as sites move closer to delivery and planning conditions are 
agreed). 

 
2.16 The HPRF programme entered the final delivery quarter from January 2023 to March 

2023 when the programme will close. The programme spend to date is £2.2million 
with a further £1million allocated and committed through to March 2023. The 
programme is fully committed.   

 
2.17 When the programme comes to an end, an impact assessment and evaluation of the 

current programme will be carried out. This will inform the development of a future 
business case to build on the programme and continue to support and de-risk key 
pipeline sites, subject to the Combined Authority’s assurance process.   

 
 Brownfield Housing Fund 

 
Overview 
 

2.18 The Brownfield Housing Fund (BHF) is a £89m capital fund to support the 
development of new homes on Brownfield sites in West Yorkshire that have market 
failure, with homes to be started on site by March 2025.  The aim of the BHF 
programme is to boost the delivery of homes by bringing more brownfield land into 
development through easing the viability issues that many brownfield land projects 
face often due to high remediation and abnormal costs. 
 

2.19 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) set the high 
level objectives of the fund including ensuring that all projects represent good value 
for money, are Green Book compliant with a benefit cost ratio of 1.  Schemes also 
need to demonstrate market failure (i.e. they could not deliver without public sector 
intervention).  Assessment of any viability gaps, security and overage relating to each 
scheme are developed as part of the potential agreements with private sector 
developers delivering the schemes. Due diligence is also being carried out on each 
potential recipient of Combined Authority funding, as well as establishing the 
schemes’ sustainable, inclusive and/or affordable housing credentials.  

 
Progress to date 

142



 
 
2.20 An initial sift of the strategic housing pipeline was undertaken to identify projects that 

could demonstrate the ability to meet the criteria set by the Government and that 
were in investment ready position.  There were no projects that could meet the 
criteria from the strategic pipeline, therefore projects were identified through two calls 
for projects which stimulated the market and developers to bring forward project 
proposals.  Alongside meeting the requirements set by Government, the BHF 
programme seeks to maximise affordable housing contributions and project 
contributions to the regions net zero carbon ambitions wherever possible.  
 

2.21 The BHF programme is a live pipeline where project priority and ability to deliver is 
continuously reviewed. Current economic pressures and rising inflation costs are 
leading to some project delays and delivery uncertainty as promotors are revisiting 
cost estimates to revise business cases.  The risks outlined in section 2.10 of this 
report are also relevant to delivery of the BHF programme. 

 
2.22 Given the time-limited nature of the fund, priority is given to those projects that can 

demonstrate delivery of homes promptly and can successfully navigate the assurance 
process. Additional priority is given to those projects that are able to deliver affordable 
homes and several projects within the pipeline are being delivered by our Registered 
Provider partners. 
 
Homes England Strategic Place Partnership 

 
2.23 In recognition of the shared ambition to drive forward good quality housing growth, 

the West Yorkshire Devolution Deal set out a commitment to develop a Strategic 
Place Partnership (SPP) between the Combined Authority and Homes England to 
build and strengthen collaborative working across the region. Collectively, West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority and the Local Authority partners have demonstrated 
that West Yorkshire meets the criteria for establishing a Strategic Place Partnership 
with Homes England. This has been strengthened through our joint working including 
the development of the joint Strategic Housing Pipeline, driven by the application of 
the Housing Revenue Fund demonstrating the scale of opportunity for housing growth 
and regeneration across the region. 

 
2.24 Homes England, the Combined Authority and Local Authority partners have a shared 

ambitions to boost the delivery of affordable homes and this is recognised in strategic 
objective three of the SPP ‘Improve the supply of good quality and affordable homes 
providing greater choice and opportunity for people to access a home in West 
Yorkshire that meets their housing need.’ A delivery plan is being developed to 
underpin the SPP which will set out collective actions towards the objective. 

 
2.25 The SPP is proposed for approval at the Combined Authority meeting on 16th March 

2023 where the final version of the Partnership Business Plan will be shared. The 
SPP is then expected to be formally launched in May 2023.  

 
3.  Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications 
 
3.1. The activity to support the housing pledge seeks to maximise opportunities to deliver 

net zero carbon housing wherever possible. In some circumstances that is directly 
though exploring retrofit solutions to existing stock and in other circumstances that is 
through our revenue and capital programmes which prioritise projects that will have a 
low carbon impact. 

 
4. Inclusive Growth Implications 

143



 
 
4.1. The focus on affordable housing will support inclusive growth across the region. 

Supporting pipeline development and delivery through capital programmes will enable 
faster delivery of much needed new homes including a proportion of affordable and 
higher quality, better insulated homes with subsequently lower running costs for 
residents. Particularly in the context of the current cost of living crisis, ensuring 
housing is affordable is a key priority across the region and for our Local Authority 
partners.  

 
5. Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
5.1. Many of the most challenging housing market areas in the region are within the most 

deprived locations. A focus on delivering affordable and sustainable homes in the 
right places means that our investment and strategies are focussed on delivering 
outcomes to ensure good quality housing is available for all. To that extent, equality 
and diversity implications are embedded within the pledge delivery and integrated 
across the items outlined in this report to ensure fairer access to housing across the 
region.   

 
6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1. There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 
 
7. Legal Implications 
 
7.1. There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 
8. Staffing Implications 
 
8.1. The housing workstreams are led collectively between the Combined Authority, 

Homes England and the Strategic Place Officer Group. Local Authorities have each 
contributed officer time and commitment to developing the workstreams alongside the 
CA and Homes England which is key to ensuring the strategic outcomes and actions 
are embedded and supported across the region. Officer time and support is gratefully 
received. 

 
9. External Consultees 
 
9.1. No external consultations have been undertaken. 
 
10. Recommendations 
 
10.1 That the committee notes the report and provides any feedback and comments.   
 
11. Background Documents 
 

None.  
 
12. Appendices 

None 

144



 
 

Report to: Transport and Infrastructure Scrutiny Committee 

Date:   9 March 2023 

Subject:   Transport and Infrastructure Scrutiny Work Programme 2022/23 

Director: Melanie Corcoran, Chief Operating Officer 

Author: Hannah Scales, Scrutiny Support Officer 

 
 
1. Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 To note the final, summarised Transport and Infrastructure Scrutiny Work 

Programme for the 2022/23 municipal year. 
 

2. Information 
 

Transport and Infrastructure Scrutiny Work Programme 2022/23 
 
2.1 The Work Programme (Appendix 1) is set at the beginning of the year and 

considered at each meeting where it can be amended and changed as the 
year progresses. It outlines the work the Transport and Infrastructure Scrutiny 
Committee has agreed to undertake, investigate, and focus on in the 
municipal year (June 2022 – June 2023) within the resources, remit, and 
powers available.   

 
Referrals to scrutiny 

 
2.3 Under Scrutiny Standing Order 7, any Scrutiny Member, any Combined 

Authority Member, or any elected Member of a West Yorkshire council (or the 
City of York Council) may formally refer a matter to the Committee for 
consideration. The referral must be in writing to the Statutory Scrutiny Officer. 
The Committee must then consider and discuss the referral and respond to 
the referrer explaining whether it will consider the matter further and why.  

 
2.4 There are no formal referrals for this committee to consider.  
 

Key decisions and call in 
 
2.5 Scrutiny members may call in any decision of the Mayor, Combined Authority, 

a decision-making committee, and any key decisions taken by an officer (with 

145

Agenda Item 10



the exception of urgent decisions). Key decisions are defined as any decision 
incurring a financial cost or saving of £1 million or more, or a decision likely to 
have a significant effect on two or more wards.  

 
2.6 Decision-makers have two days to publish notice of a decision, at which point 

scrutiny members have five working days to call in the decision, delaying its 
implementation, and formally requiring the decision maker to reconsider.  

 
2.7 Any five members of a scrutiny Committee – including at least one member 

from two different constituent councils (West Yorkshire) – may call-in a 
decision by notifying the Statutory Scrutiny Officer in writing by 4.00 pm on the 
fifth working day following publication of a decision notice. The relevant 
scrutiny committee then has 14 days to scrutinise the decision and make 
recommendations. Further information is set out in Scrutiny Standing Order 
14.  

 
2.8 The latest key decisions and forward plans of key decisions are published and 

available for viewing on the key decisions section of the Combined Authority’s 
website.  

 
Membership  

 
2.8 There have been no changes in membership since the last meeting. 
 

Actions for Scrutiny Officers 
 
2.9 As outlined in Scrutiny Standing Order 17, scrutiny officers provide support to 

a scrutiny committee’s work programme and all scrutiny members in 
exercising their scrutiny duties and fulfilling their objectives.  

 
3.  Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications 
 
3.1 There are no climate emergency implications directly arising from this report. 
 
4. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
4.1 There are no inclusive growth implications directly arising from this report. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 
7. Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. 
 

146

https://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=186&RD=0
https://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=186&RD=0


8. External Consultees 
 
8.1 No external consultations have been undertaken. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 To note the Transport and Infrastructure Scrutiny Work Programme for 

2022/23. 
 
10. Background Documents 
 

Key Decision Forward Plans – 2022/23   
 
11. Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 – Joint Scrutiny Work Programme 2022/23 
 

147

https://westyorkshire.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=186&RD=0


This page is intentionally left blank



V4 Last updated: February 2023 

Page 1 of 5 

Scrutiny Work Programmes 2022/23 
 
Summary of main topics and meeting dates 
 
Committee Topic areas Meetings 

Corporate 

• Inflation, Budget and Gainshare 
• Assurance Framework 
• Staffing (incl recruitment & retention) 
• Accomodation and other corporate projects (incl ICS, 

Cyber Security, social value in procurement) 

• 23 September 2022 
• 18 November 2022 (Mayors Question Time) 
• 20 January 2023 
• 10 March 2023 

Transport & Infrastructure 

• Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) 
• Active Travel 
• Decarbonisation and Behaviour Change 
• Freight, Waterways & Rail 
• Consultation and Planning  

• 22 September 2022 
• 17 November 2022 
• 19 January 2023 (Mayors Question Time) 
• 9 March 2023 

Economy 
• The state of the region’s economy  
• Cost of Living crisis 
• Skills and the Adult Education Budget 

• 21 September 2022 
• 16 November 2022 
• 18 January 2023 
• 15 March 2023 (Mayors Question Time) 

All Committees • Mayors Pledges 
• Work Programme  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

149

A
genda Item

 10
A

ppendix 1



V4 Last updated: February 2023 

Page 2 of 5 

Corporate Scrutiny Committee 
 
Meetings Topics Attendees Objectives  

Inflation & Budgets Director of Corporate  Discuss the impact of inflation on strategy, projects and finances and 
what plans and measures are in place to mitigate the issue. 

23 September 2022 

Update – Social Value in 
Procurement 

Head of Procurement  Update (from March 2022 meeting): to better understand the principles, 
practice, and examples of social value in procurement and suppliers.  

18 November 2022 Mayor’s Question Time Mayor Tracy Brabin &  
Chief Executive 

Question the Mayor on matters pertaining to corporate scrutiny since 
her last attendance in November 2021.  
Expand on the discussion at the November 2022 Workshop.  Budget, Business 

Planning And Workforce 
2023/24 

Director of Corporate  
Director of Delivery Scrutinise the draft budget 2023/24, especially with regards to risk 

management, safeguards and ‘Plan Bs’ with regards to expected 
inflation and economic conditions.  

20 January 2023 

Update - Assurance 
Framework 

Head of Portfolio 
Management  

Consider changes to the Assurance Framework during its annual 
review, especially with regards to current economic pressures on 
capital projects.  

Budget and Business 
Planning 2023/24 

Director of Finance and 
Commercial / Chief 
Operating Officer 

Final budget agreed by Feb CA, including figures for previous 
years and future projections, alongside the business plans for 
2023/24 

10 March 2023 

Update – Integrated 
Corporate System 

Director of Finance and 
Commercial / Chief 
Operating Officer 

Update (from March 2022): on project development and progress 

Staff Survey 2022 
Results 

Director of Finance and 
Commercial / Chief 
Operating Officer 

Overview and headlines of staff survey results – as follow on 
from Jan 2023 meeting and December 2022 workshop. 

10 March 2023 
PRIVATE WORKSHOP 

Update – Cyber Security  Head of IT Update (from March 2022): on developments and progress since 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

150



V4 Last updated: February 2023 

Page 3 of 5 

Transport & Infrastructure Scrutiny Committee 
 
Meetings Topics Attendees Objectives  

22 September 2022 Update – Bus Service 
Improvement Plan  
 
(with focus on real time 
information) 

Director of Transport 
Operations and 
Passenger Experience 
& 
RTI System Manager 
---  
Dr Ben Hanson, Leeds 
University  

Monitor progress of Bus Service Improvement Plan (since November 
2021) with particular attention to Flexi Bus Scheme and Real Time 
Information systems.  

17 November 2022 Decarbonisation  Director of Transport 
Operations and 
Passenger Experience 
& Head of Transport 
Policy 
Poss: Delivery, Strategy 
officers 
--- 
Mott Macdonald report 
authors 

Understand and identify 
1. issues raised in the Mott Macdonald report and what has changed 

since, in terms of actions and strategies.  
2. CA’s direct purview/control and what can it influence indirectly.  
3. possible solutions, including strategic gaps in CA decarbonisation 

activity e.g. waterways and inland ports, rail freight, PLVs/e-bikes, 
motorbikes, etc.   

19 January 2023 Mayor’s Question Time Mayor Tracy Brabin &  
Chief Executive 

Question the Mayor on matters pertaining to transport and 
infrastructure scrutiny since her last attendance in January 2022.  

Transport Consultations  Interim Director, 
Transport Policy and 
Delivery  
 
Director Transport Ops 
and Passenger 
Experience 

Review consultation and planning processes and whether they 
sufficiently consider transport links and infrastructure, and whether they 
take into account the views of residents (especially on active travel) 

9 March 2023 

Transport in Planning  Interim Director, 
Transport Policy and 
Delivery 
 
Director Transport Ops 
and Passenger 
Experience 

Understand what methods are used to consult on transport schemes 
and whether current processes sufficiently consider the views of 
residents. 

151



V4 Last updated: February 2023 

Page 4 of 5 

Freight: Rail and 
Waterways 

Interim Director, 
Transport Policy and 
Delivery 
 
Director Transport Ops 
and Passenger 
Experience  

Update requested from January 2023 MQT on: 
• Background: What work has the CA done on freight? What are the 

main challenges to moving to rail and water freight? 
• Data: How much freight is there in the region and what are the 

main routes 
Background: to Leeds Inland Port scheme and why it was cancelled – 
and if there is a possibility of continuing it, or other work on use of 
waterways to manage freight. 

Affordable Housing Director Policing, 
Environment and Place 

Update on achievement of the Mayors Pledge on affordable housing 
since 2021. 

    
16 February 2023 
WORKSHOP 

Decarbonisation  Interim Director, 
Transport Policy and 
Delivery 
 
Director Transport Ops 
and Passenger 
Experience 

Follow up on issues raised and information requested at 17 November 
meeting   

 
 
 
 
 
  

152



V4 Last updated: February 2023 

Page 5 of 5 

Economy Scrutiny Committee 
 
Meetings Topics Attendees Objectives  

21 September 2022 Update – The state of the 
economy and cost of 
living crisis 

Head of Economic 
Policy 
Research & Intelligence 
  

Update on the state of the economy and cost of living crisis, with some 
attention to impact of Brexit, inflation, cost of living crisis, and skills.   

16 November 2022 Adult Education Budget 
(AEB) and Labour 
Market Assessment 
 

Head of Employment 
and Skills 
Research & Intelligence 
Head of Economic 
Policy 

Explore current labour conditions and how new powers and funding 
from the Adult Education Budget (AEB) meets the short term and long 
term needs – with particular focus on if AEB to FE providers has been 
well spent, what success looks like and how we compare to other 
regions.  

Economic Strategy 
 

Talk about economic strategy. 18 January 2023 

Business Spaces and 
Enterprise Zones 

Interim Director of 
Economic Services 

Business space/ enterprise zones – the current data on business land 
and availability plus research on enterprise zones. 
 
Key sectors, history and background on enterprise zone and its current 
status. 

15 March 2023 Mayor’s Question Time Mayor Tracy Brabin &  
Chief Executive 

Question the Mayor on matters pertaining to economy scrutiny since 
her last attendance in March 2022.  

 

153



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the last meeting held on 19 January 2023
	6 Transport and Planning
	7 Transport Consultations & EDI
	Item 7i - App 1 - Halifax Bus Station Case Study Summary CLEARED
	Appendix A
	Case Study- Halifax Bus Station
	The Scheme
	Engagement and Consultation Overview
	Public Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement


	Item 7ii - App 2 - Statement of Community Involvement CLEARED

	8 Freight: Rail and Waterways
	9 Affordable Housing
	10 Transport Scrutiny Work Programme
	Item 10i - App 1 - Scrutiny Work Programmes 2022-23


